INFORMATION TO USERS

This manuscript has been reproduced from the microfilm master. UMI films the text directly from the original or copy submitted. Thus, some thesis and dissertation copies are in typewriter face, while others may be from any type of computer printer.

The quality of this reproduction is dependent upon the quality of the copy submitted. Broken or indistinct print, colored or poor quality illustrations and photographs, print bleedthrough, substandard margins, and improper alignment can adversely affect reproduction.

In the unlikely event that the author did not send UMI a complete manuscript and there are missing pages, these will be noted. Also, if unauthorized copyright material had to be removed, a note will indicate the deletion.

Oversize materials (e.g., maps, drawings, charts) are reproduced by sectioning the original, beginning at the upper left-hand corner and continuing from left to right in equal sections with small overlaps.

ProQuest Information and Learning 300 North Zeeb Road, Ann Arbor, MI 48106-1346 USA 800-521-0600



University of Alberta

QUIESCENT HSV-1 GENOMES ARE INACCESSIBLE TO THE TRANSCRIPTION AND DNA REPLICATION MACHINERY

by

\bigcirc

REBECCA L. MINAKER

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science in Virology.

Department of Medical Microbiology and Immunology Edmonton, Alberta Spring 2005



Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: Our file Notre reterence ISBN:

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission.

AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.



Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manguant.

ABSTRACT

Athough HSV-1 replicates freely in most tissue culture cells, mutant viruses that are incapable of expressing immediate-early (IE) genes are retained by cells in a quiescent, non-replicating state. This repression can be reversed by the provision of the HSV-1 IE protein ICP0, and ICP0 mutant viruses are incapable of reactivating a quiescent genome. However, it has not previously been shown that productive infection of an ICP0 mutant occurs in cells that harbour the quiescent viral genome.

We found that an ICP0 mutant is capable of overcoming an antiviral response triggered by infection of a quiescent mutant virus; however, this productive superinfection does not lead to reactivation of the quiescent genome. These results confirm that quiescent genomes remain silent despite the presence of all the necessary transcription and replication machinery. This indicates that the quiescent viral genome is converted into an inaccessible state or is in an inaccessible place.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1 : Introduction	1
1.1 Overview of Herpesviruses	1
1.2 Introduction to herpes simplex viruses	2
1.2.1 Pathogenesis	2
1.2.2 Epidemiology	3
1.2.3 Clinical Manifestations and Immune Response	3
1.3 HSV-1 Virion	5
1.3.1 Envelope	5
1.3.2 Tegument	6
1.3.3 Capsid	6
1.3.4 Genome	7
1.4 HSV-1 Lytic infection	7
1.4.1 Attachment and Entry	8
1.4.2 IE gene expression	9
1.4.2.1 ICP47	10
1.4.2.2 ICP22	11
1.4.2.3 ICP27	13
1.4.2.4 ICP4	15
1.4.2.5 ICP0	17
1.4.2.5.1 Function of ICP0	
1.4.2.5.2 Phenotype of ICP0 mutants	22
1.4.3 E gene expression and DNA replication	24
1.4.4 L gene expression	26
1.4.5 Virion assembly and egress	27
1.5 HSV-1 Latent Infection	28
1.6 HSV-1 Quiescence	32

1.7 Intracellular Antiviral Responses	34
1.7.1 Interferon response	35
1.7.2 IFN-stimulated genes	36
1.7.3 IFN-independent response	38
1.8 Experimental Rational	41
Chapter 2 : Materials and Methods	47
2.1 Mammalian Cell Culture	47
2.2 Virus Strains and Growth Conditions	47
2.3 Amplification of Virus Stocks	49
2.4 Virus Titration	49
2.5 Virus Infection	50
2.6 Acid Glycine Wash	50
2.7 Western Analysis	50
2.8 Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay	51
2.8.1 Cell Monolayer	51
2.8.2 Cell Suspension	52
2.9 Northern Analysis	53
2.10 Southern Analysis	54
2.11 Probes	55
2.11.1 Template DNA	55
2.11.2 ³² P labeling	56
2.11.3 Hybridization	57
2.11.4 Oligonucleotide Probe	58
2.12 FACS Analysis	58
2.13 Microscope Analysis	58

2.14	Plasmids	_5
2.	14.1 Production of pTK-Red and pTK-Green	_ 5
2.	14.2 Amplification in <i>E. coli</i>	_ 5
2.15	Production of Fluorescent Recombinant viruses	_6
2.	15.1 Preparation of infectious viral DNA	6
2.	15.2 Co-transfection of U2OS cells	_ 6
2.	15.3 Plaque Purification	_ 6
Chap	oter 3 : Results	_6
3.1	Construction of fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains	_6
3.	1.1 Southern blot analysis	_ 6
3.	1.2 Transgene expression	6
3.2	ICP0 is a specific requirement for the reactivation of DNA	
replic	ation and gene expression of quiescent HSV-1	6
3.	2.1 Reactivation of the DsRed2 transgene	6
З.	2.2 Reactivation of viral DNA Replication	6
3.	2.3 Reactivation of the expression of the VP16 gene	_ 7
3.3 has a induc	The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red dissipates ar diminished effect on wild-type virus by four days post- tion	ıd 7
3.4 quies	ICP0 mutants are able to superinfect HEL cells harbouring cent KM110-Red genome	the 7
3.5	Replication of ICP0 mutants in HEL cells does not lead to	
reacti	vation of the quiescent KM110-Red genome	_7
3.	5.1 Viral DNA replication compartments	7
3.	5.2 DNA replication, gene expression, and production of progeny virus	_ e
	3.5.2.1 DNA replication	8
	3.5.2.2 Late gene expression	_ 8
	3.5.2.3 Production of infectious progeny	_ 8

3.5.3 Summary	86
3.6 FACS analysis of indirect IFA for U_s 11 or gC leads to an	
overestimate of the proportion of productively infected cells	86
Chapter 4 : Discussion	126
4.1 Summary of thesis results	. 126
4.2 Location of the quiescent genome	. 129
	400
4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132
4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132
4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome 4.4 Role of ICP0 in the prevention of and the reactivation from quiescence	132 132
 4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132 1 135 _ 135
 4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132 1 135 135 136
 4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	_ 132 _ 135 _ 135 _ 136
 4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132 135 135 136
 4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome	132 135 135 136 138 140

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1: Schematic diagrams of the ICP0 transcript and functional	
domains	43
	•
Figure 1.2: Poly-ubiquitin signal for proteasomal degradation.	45
Figure 3.1.1: Structure of the plasmids used to construct fluorescent	
	~~
recombinant HSV-1 strains.	89
Figure 3.1.2: Structure of fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains	91
Figure 0.1.0. Discusses of the machinetics many of the DNA from which and	
Figure 3.1.3: Diagram of the restriction map of the DINA from wt and	
recombinant strains.	93
Figure 3.1.4: Confirmation of the identity of wt and recombinant HSV-1	
	~ -
strains.	95
Figure 3.1.5: The fluorescent gene from the recombinant virus is expressed	d
during productive infection	97
Figure 3.2: ICP0 is a specific requirement for the reactivation of DNA	
replication and gene expression of quiescent HSV-1.	99
Figure 9.9.4. The estimation of the test to the Middle Ded distance t	
Figure 3.3.1: The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red dissipates by	
four days post-infection10)3

Figure 3.3.2: The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red inhibits KOS to a lesser extent 4 days post-induction than it does 1 day post-induction.____105

 Figure 3.4.1:
 ICP0 mutants are able to superinfect HEL cells harbouring the

 quiescent KM110-Red genome.
 107

Figure 3.4.2: Validation of using reactivation of KM110-Red by KOS for the quantification of cells harbouring the quiescent genome. _____109

Figure 3.5.1: n212 is able to form replication compartments in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome. _____111

Figure 3.5.2: n212 is able to replicate its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate replication from the quiescent KM110-Red genome. _____115

Figure 3.5.3: n212 is able to express late gene products from its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate the production of late gene products from the quiescent KM110-Red.______117

Figure 3.5.4: n212 is able to produce progeny from its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate the production of progeny from the quiescent KM110-Red genome. _____119

Figure 3.6.1: U_s11 leaks from infected cells to uninfected cells during preparation of samples for FACS analysis of indirect IFA. _____122

Figure	3.6.2:	At	high	MOI,	enough	n gC co	mes	in v	with	the	virion	to	give	а	
positive	signal f	for	FACS	anal	ysis of	indirec	t IFA.	·							_124

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

А	Adenine
С	Cytosine
C-	Carboxy
CBP	Creb binding protein
CENP	Centromeric proteins
ChIP	Chromatin immunoprecipitation assays
CK	Casein kinase
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA-PKcs	DNA-dependent protein kinase
ds	Double-stranded
Ds	Discosoma sp.
E	Early
EGPP	Enhanced green fluorescent protein
elF	Eukaryotic initiation factor
BR	Endoplasmic reticulum
FACS	Fluorescence-activated cell sorting
FISH	Fluorescent in situ hybridization
g	Glycoprotein
G	Guanine
GAS	Gamma-activated sequence
HAUSP	Herpesvirus associated ubiquitin specific protease
HCF	Host cell factor
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HDAC	Histone deacetylase
HECT	Homologous to the E6-AP carboxyl terminus
HEL	Human Embryonic Lung
HlgR	Herpesvirus immunoglobulin-like receptor
HMBA	Hexamethylene bisacetamide
hnRNP	Heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein
HMG1	High mobility group protein 1
HP1	Heterochromatin protein 1
HSV-1	Herpes simplex virus type 1
HSV-2	Herpes simplex virus type 2
Hve	Herpesvirus entry protein
ЮР	Infected cell protein
E	Immediate-early
IFA	Indirect-immunofluorescence assay
IFN	Interferon
IRFs	Interferon response factors

ISGs	Interferon stimulated genes
ISREs	IFN-stimulated regulatory elements
JAKs	Janus kinases
К	Lysine
kb	Kilo-base pair
L	Late
LATs	Latency associated transcripts
MHC	Major histocompatibility complex
MOI	Multiplicity of infection
mRNA	Messenger RNA
mt	Mutant
N-	Amino
ND10	Nuclear domain 10
NDV	New-Castle disease virus
NLS	Nuclear localization signal
NK	Natural killer cell
OAS	2'5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase
Oct-1	Octamer transcription factor 1
Ori	Origin of replication
PAA	Phosphonoacetic acid
PKR	Protein-kinase R
PML	Promyelocytic leukemia
RING	Really interesting new gene
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
RNAP II	RNA polymerase II
SS	Single-stranded
STATs	Signal transducers and activators of transcription
STD	Sexually transmitted disease
SUMO-1	Small ubiquitin-like protein
SV	Simian virus
Т	Thymidine
TAF	Transcription activating factor
TAP	Transporter associated with antigen processing
TBP	TATA-binding protein
ना	Transcription factor
ТК	Thymidine kinase
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor
TSA	Trichostatin A
UL	Unique long
Us	Unique short
USP	Ubiquitin specific protease
vhs	Virion-associated host shutoff protein
VP	Virion protein

VSV	Vesicular stomatitis	virus
wt	Wild-type	

CHAPTER 1 : INTRODUCTION

1.1 Overview of Herpesviruses

Herpesviridae is a family of large, DNA viruses affecting both animals and humans. All members of the herpesvirus family are capable of establishing a latent infection in their host and share the following structural characteristics: an envelope with glycoprotein spikes, amorphous tegument layer, and an icosahedral capsid encasing their linear, double-stranded DNA genome (Roizman & Pellett, 2001). To date, 9 herpesviruses capable of infecting humans have been identified. Diseases caused by these viruses can be as minor as an irritating skin lesion, or severe as encephalitis resulting in death.

The Herpesviridae family is subdivided into Alphaherpesvirinae, Betaherpesvirinae, and Gammaherpesvirinae (Roizman et al., 1973). These divisions are based on factors such as host range, growth rate, and the celltype where latency is established. The herpes simplex viruses type 1 and type 2 are members of the Alphaherpesvirinae subfamily. These viruses typically have a wide host range, destroy infected cells, spread rapidly in culture, and are able to establish latency in sensory ganglia (Roizman & Pellett, 2001). Betaherpesvirinae members, such as cytomegalovirus, generally have a restricted host range, grow slowly in culture without destroying infected cells, and establish latency in tissues such as kidney and secretory glands (Roizman & Pellett, 2001). Members of Gammaherpesvirinae, such as Epstein-Barr virus, often have specificity for either T or B lymphocytes, and establish latency in lymphoid tissue (Roizman & Pellett, 2001).

1.2 Introduction to herpes simplex viruses

As far back in history as ancient Greece, people have suffered from and documented herpes simplex virus infections (Wildly, 1973). The two herpes simplex viruses, type 1 (HSV-1) and type 2 (HSV-2), most commonly cause inflamed skin lesions. Their name, herpes, which means to creep or crawl, comes from the characteristic formation of these lesions (Beswick, 1962).

1.2.1 Pathogenesis

HSV is spread strictly from human-to-human (there is no animal reservoir) by contact with virus filled secretions. The virus can infect mucosal tissue or enter through breaks in the skin. HSV-1 infections primarily affect the upper body, especially mucosa of the lips, while HSV-2 primarily infects genital regions (Nahmias & Dowdle, 1968). In the primary infection, HSV infects epithelial cells and replicates. The progeny can then infect sensory neurons that innervate the innoculated tissue. Following innoculation and replication of HSV-1 on the mucosal tissue of the lips, the virus infects the trigeminal ganglion (Whitley, 2001). HSV-2 is transmitted through genital contact and after replicating in the genital regions, the virus colonizes the sacral ganglia (Whitley, 2001). HSV replicates in the sensory ganglia (Cook & Stevens, 1973) for a few days before establishing a latent state during which the viral genome resides in the nucleus of sensory neurons as a circular episome and no viral proteins are produced (Whitley, 2001). Conditions such as stress, hormonal imbalance, or exposure to ultraviolet light can cause the virus to reactivate, undergo lytic replication, and reinfect epithelial cells-leading to recurrent lesions containing infectious virus. HSV can be transmitted to a new host either from lesions or from asymptomatic shedding (Mertz et al., 1988, Wald et al., 2000).

1.2.2 Epidemiology

HSV is found throughout the world. Many factors, such as age, race, country, and socioeconomic status influence the prevalence of HSV-1 and HSV-2 infections (Whitley, 2001). The incidence of HSV-1 infection tends to increase linearly with age. Commonly, 40% of people are infected by the age of 15 with infection usually occurring during childhood. This number increases to 60-90% by age 70 (Smith & Robinson, 2002) with about 33% of people suffering from recurrent infections (Whitley, 2001). An important factor for the increased prevalence of HSV-1 infections in areas of lower socioeconomic status is that, because there is more crowding, there is an increased likelihood of coming in contact with the virus (Whitley, 2001).

The prevalence of HSV-2 infection shows a pattern typical for a sexually transmitted disease (STD). Before the age of 12 infection is negligible, but during sexually active years, the prevalence tends to increase and then plateau around the age of 40 (Smith & Robinson, 2002). Thirty years ago, rates of HSV-2 infection collected from STD clinics showed prevalence rates from 0.002% to 7.0% (Duenas *et al.*, 1972, Naib *et al.*, 1973). More recently, in the U.S., HSV-2 seroprevalence is about 22% overall (Fleming *et al.*, 1997). As expected of a STD, the more sexual partners, the greater chance of infection (Rawls *et al.*, 1976). HSV-2 infection can reach as high as 80% in populations with high-risk sexual behavior (Smith & Robinson, 2002).

1.2.3 Clinical Manifestations and Immune Response

The most common disease caused by HSV-1 is facial herpes labialis (or cold sores) affecting the mucosal tissue of the lips. Primary HSV-1 infection of this area is often asymptomatic; however, a variety of symptoms can also be experienced including vesicular or ulcer lesions, sore throat, fever and malaise

(Whitley, 2001). Recurrent cold sores are preceded by a painful, burning, itching sensation called a prodrome that is usually gone within 6 hrs (Spruance *et al.*, 1977). This sensation is likely caused by replication of the virus in sensory nerve endings and the epidermis (Huff *et al.*, 1981). Twenty-four to fourty-eight hrs after the prodrome, an average of 3-5 vesicles form along the borders of the lips. The vesicular fluid, between the epidermis and dermal layer, is full of virus, cell debris and inflammatory cells. After 48 hrs the lesions become pustular, then crust over. Within 8-10 days of disease onset, healing is usually complete with scarring occurring only in rare cases of very frequent recurrent infection (Whitley, 2001).

In contrast to the often asymptomatic, primary HSV-1 infection, the most severe symptoms are experienced during the primary HSV-2 infection. Vesicular, pustular and ulcer lesions develop on genital regions and last for an average of 3 weeks (Whitley, 2001). Women experience much more severe symptoms than men and have painful lesions that form bilaterally on the vulva and commonly on the cervix as well. Men develop an average of 6-10 vesicular lesions on the glans penis or penile shaft (Whitley, 2001). Other symptoms can include fever, malaise and dysuria. Recurrent genital herpes are preceded by a painful prodrome (Luby *et al.*, 1984), but the symptoms are less severe, and of a shorter duration than for a primary infection. Symptoms last for 7–10 days and, for women, generally involve irritation of the vulva, while men develop 3–5 vesicles on the penis (Adams *et al.*, 1976).

Although HSV primarily affects mucosal tissue, if the immune system has been sufficiently compromised, it is capable of infecting any tissue in the human body. Medical and dental personnel, with constant hand washing possibly leading to abrasions, are particularly prone to an HSV infection of the digits called herpetic whitlow (Rosato *et al.*, 1970). Severely immunocompromised individuals, such as transplant recipients, can develop severe progessive disease involving the respiratory or gastrointestinal tracts

(Montgomerie *et al.*, 1969). Babies infected *in utero* are at risk of disseminated infections involving multiple organs such as liver, adrenals or even the brain (Whitley, 2001). Encephalitis is a particularly devastating HSV infection: virus replication in the central nervous tissue often causes death. Luckily, this is a rare occurrence estimated to be 1 in 200,000 (Whitley, 2001).

The important host defenses against HSV include antibodies, macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, T cells, and lymphokine responses (Whitley, 2001). The antiviral effects of IFN will be discussed in detail in a later section. Antibodies to HSV appear 2-6 weeks post-infection and persist for life (Kohl *et al.*, 1982). A mixture of HSV-specific antibodies and complement, or a mixture of antibodies with monocytes, macrophages, or killer lymphocytes can lyse HSV-infected cells *in vitro* (Rouse, 1985), illustrating their roles in limiting HSV infection.

1.3 HSV-1 Virion

The HSV-1 virion is 150-200 nm in diameter (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) and consists of an envelope, tegument layer, capsid and genome.

1.3.1 Envelope

The HSV-1 lipid membrane envelope is acquired from a post-ER cytoplasmic compartment of the host cell (Skepper *et al.*, 2001, Whiteley *et al.*, 1999). The envelope contains at least 10 viral glycoproteins (gB, gC, gD, gE, gG, gH, gI, gK, gL, and gM) and at least two nonglycosylated intrinsic membrane proteins (U_L20 and U_S9) (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). The glycoproteins, which are involved in entry of the virus into the host cell, are

nonrandomly distributed and appear as spikes projecting from the virion envelope (Stannard *et al.*, 1987).

1.3.2 Tegument

Between the capsid and the envelope of HSV-1 is the often asymmetrical tegument layer that contains varying amounts of at least 20 different viral proteins (Subak-Sharpe & Dargan, 1998). Some of these proteins are important for the initiation of viral gene expression, for example, the transcription factor virion protein (VP) 16 (Campbell *et al.*, 1984). Others make the host cell environment more conducive to viral growth. Examples of these are ICP0, which will be discussed in detail, the virion-associated host shutoff protein (vhs) which degrades cellular and viral mRNAs (Kwong & Frenkel, 1987, Oroskar & Read, 1987), and U_s11, which is an RNA binding protein that inactivates protein-kinase R (PKR), preventing interferon (IFN) induced translational arrest (Cassady *et al.*, 1998).

1.3.3 Capsid

The approximately 125 nm diameter HSV-1 capsid (Steven & Spear, 1996) encases and protects the viral genome. The capsid shell is composed of 162 capsomeres which are arranged into T=16 icosahedral symmetry (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) with 12 pentons on the vertices, and 150 hexons on the edges and faces. The major structural protein of the pentons and hexons is VP5, with the outer tips of the hexons formed by VP26 (Steven & Spear, 1996). Triplexes, composed of one molecule of VP19C and two molecules of VP23, connect the capsomeres (Newcomb *et al.*, 1993).

1.3.4 Genome

The packaged HSV-1 genome is predominantly linear, double-stranded DNA (Kieff et al., 1971), however, its precise arrangement in the capsid is unclear. Early evidence indicated a toroid form (Furlong et al., 1972), but more recent experiments have failed to confirm this (Subak-Sharpe & Dargan, 1998). The HSV-1 genome is approximately 152 kbp in length, encodes at least 80 viral proteins (Roizman & Knipe, 2001), and has a G+C content of 68% (Kieff et al., 1971). The genome consists of covalently linked unique long (U₁) and unique short (U_s) segments each flanked by inverted repeats (Wadsworth et al., 1975), resulting in two copies of each of the genes located in the inverted repeat regions. The long and short segments can invert relative to each other, giving rise to 4 linear isomers, equal ratios of which can be found in any given population (Delius & Clements, 1976, Hayward et al., 1975). A common naming system for HSV genes and gene products is by their relative order from left to right in the U_1 or U_2 segments of the genome (e.g. U_L1 or U_s1). Other naming systems include infected cell protein (ICP) number, virion protein (VP) number, and molecular weight. Although many HSV proteins are referred to in the literature by more than one name, here, for simplicity's sake, only one will be mentioned.

1.4 HSV-1 Lytic infection

Lytic infection begins with attachment of the virus particle to cell surface receptors followed by fusion of the viral envelope to the cellular membrane. The tegument and nucleocapsid are released into the cytoplasm and transported to nuclear pores where the viral DNA enters. Viral gene expression then occurs in a temporally regulated program: immediate early (IE) to early (E) to late (L). Following viral DNA replication and L gene expression,

the viral genome is packaged into pre-assembled capsids. Through a series of envelopment and de-envelopment steps, the nucleocapsid exits the nucleus, acquires a tegument layer and envelope in the cytoplasm, and is released from the cell (Roizman & Knipe, 2001).

1.4.1 Attachment and Entry

In the first stage of entry, initiation of attachment, gC interacts with cell surface heparan sulfate moieties (Shieh et al., 1992); however, gC is not absolutely essential for entry (Heine et al., 1974). In the next stage of entry, stabilization of attachment, gD interacts with cellular receptors from three different families. A cellular receptor from the tumour necrosis family (TNF) is the herpesvirus entry (Hve) protein HveA (Montgomery et al., 1996). Receptors from the immunoglobulin familly include HveB (Warner et al., 1998), HveC (or nectin-1 α) (Geraghty et al., 1998), and herpesvirus immunoglobulinlike receptor HIgR (or nectin-2a) (Cocchi & al., 1998). 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate is a member of the third group of cellular receptor families (Shukla et al., 1999). For the third stage of entry it is widely accepted that the nucleocapsid enters the cell following fusion of the viral envelope to the host cell plasma membrane; however, the mechanism for fusion is unknown. Fusion of the membranes requires gD (Ligas & Johnson, 1988), gB (Sarmiento et al., 1979), and the gH/gL heterodimer (Forrester et al., 1992). The entire process of attaching, binding to co-receptors and penetrating the cell takes only minutes (Huang & Wagner, 1964). The nucleocapsid and tegument layer enter the cytoplasm and the nucleocapsid is transported to the nuclear pore by microtubules (Sodeik et al., 1997). Some tegument proteins, for e.g. VP16, are transported to the nucleus, while others, for e.g. vhs and $U_{s}11$, stav in the cytoplasm. Once at the nuclear membrane the nucleocapsid associates with nuclear pore complexes (Batterson et al., 1983) where the viral genome

is released into the nucleus while empty capsids remain associated with the nuclear pore (Batterson *et al.*, 1983).

The genome of HSV, as well as other DNA viruses, localizes to the periphery of nuclear domain 10 (ND10) structures, also known as promyelocytic leukemia (PML) bodies, following infection (Ishov & Maul, 1996, Maul *et al.*, 1996). There are 5-20 ND10 per nucleus, each about 0.5 μ m in diameter (Maul, 1998, Sternsdorf *et al.*, 1997a), and recent evidence indicates that the incoming viral genome may even recruit cellular ND10 proteins (Everett *et al.*, 2004b). PML is the major organizing component of ND10 (Ishov *et al.*, 1999, Zhong *et al.*, 2000). Other ND10 components recruited by PML include Daxx, Creb binding protein (CBP), and Sp100 (Negorev & Maul, 2001). It is still under debate as to whether ND10 are depositions of cellular factors that are helpful for viral gene expression (such as transactivating factors), or if they are part of an intranuclear defense mechanism that is protective against viral infection (Everett *et al.*, 2004b). The role of ND10 as a possible IFN-stimulated defense mechanism targeted by ICP0 will be discussed in later sections (1.4.2.5.1 and 1.7.2).

1.4.2 IE gene expression

IE gene transcription is thought to take place at the periphery of ND10 (Maul *et al.*, 1996) and maximum expression is seen 2-4 hrs post-infection for a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 10-20 (Honess & Roizman, 1974). The defining feature of IE genes is that their transcription does not require prior viral protein synthesis. Transcription of viral genes is mediated by host RNA polymerase II (RNAP II) (Alwine *et al.*, 1974, Constanzo *et al.*, 1977) in conjunction with viral proteins to enhance transcription of certain genes. The viral transcriptional activator VP16 stimulates the expression of the immediate early genes. In order to do this, VP16 associates with cellular proteins;

octamer transcription factor 1 (Oct-1), host cell factor (HCF), and the transcription factors TFII-B and TFII-D (Katan et al., 1990, Kristie & Sharp, 1990, Lin, 1991, Stern & Herr, 1991, Stringer et al., 1990, Xiao & Capone, 1990). Once in the cytoplasm, VP16 is released from the tequment and binds HCF (Katan et al., 1990, Kristie & Sharp, 1990, Xiao & Capone, 1990) which transports VP16 to the nucleus (La Boissiere et al., 1999, Triezenberg et al., 1988). The viral IE genes each have TAATGArATT sites within a few hundred base pairs upstream of the cap site (Gaffney et al., 1985, Mackem & Roizman, 1980, Mackem & Roizman, 1982). Oct-1 binds to this consensus sequence and, once bound, is able to recruit VP16/HCF. The bound Oct-1/VP16/HCF complex attracts and positions host RNAP II and, together with other cellular transcription factors, promotes IE gene transcription (Kristie et al., 1989, Kristie & Roizman, 1987, O'Hare & Gooding, 1988, Preston et al., 1988). VP16 transactivation requires the acidic carboxyl-terminal residues (Triezenberg et al., 1988) and is not critical for gene expression in rapidly dividing cells (Spector et al., 1991), but may be more important in resting cells.

Commonly, the 5 IE gene products (ICP47, ICP22, ICP27, ICP4 and ICP0) are referred to based on their infected-cell-protein (ICP) designation. In this system, proteins that were found in infected cells, but not uninfected cells were numbered based on their decreasing apparent molecular weight on denaturing gels (Honess & Roizman, 1973).

1.4.2.1 ICP47

ICP47 is a 12 kDa protein encoded by the α 47 gene (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) located in the unique short segment of the viral genome. A unique feature of ICP47 among the 5 IE gene products is that it does not have a gene regulatory function. Instead, ICP47 is involved in immune evasion which,

despite being nonessential for growth in rabbit and Vero cell lines (Longnecker & Roizman, 1986) is an important aspect of viral survival in natural infection. ICP47 is a cytoplasmic protein that colocalizes and interacts with TAP (transporter associated with antigen processing) (Fruh *et al.*, 1995, Hill *et al.*, 1995). The interaction of ICP47 with TAP prevents TAP from transporting proteasome degraded antigenic peptides from the cytoplasm to the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) lumen (Fruh *et al.*, 1995, Hill *et al.*, 1995). In the absence of peptides the class I molecules are retained in the ER: preventing cytotoxic T-lymphoctye recognition and lysis of infected cells (Fruh *et al.*, 1995, Hill *et al.*, 1995, York *et al.*, 1994).

Currently, ICP47 is being investigated as a mechanism to induce local immunosuppression, thereby preventing host rejection in response to transgenes or allografts (Radosevich *et al.*, 2003). A major obstacle confronting successful xenotransplantation is host rejection. Promising experiments have shown that expression of ICP47 leads to downregulation of porcine major histocompatibility complexes (MHC) and prevents proliferation of human T cells in response to pig kidney cells (Crew & Phanavanh, 2003).

1.4.2.2 ICP22

ICP22 is a 68 kDa protein encoded by the α 22 gene (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) located in the unique short segment of the viral genome. U_s1.5 is also encoded by the α 22 gene and has the same sequence as the 249 C-terminal amino acids of ICP22 (Carter & Roizman, 1995). ICP22 is a nuclear protein and has two independent nuclear localization signals (Stelz *et al.*, 2002). Early in infection, ICP22 is found in small, dense nuclear bodies (Jahedi *et al.*, 1999). Following the initiation of DNA replication, and phosphorylation of ICP22 by the U_L13 viral protein kinase (Leopardi *et al.*, 1997), ICP22 localizes to transcriptional complexes containing viral DNA, RNAP II, ICP4, and other factors

(Jahedi *et al.*, 1999, Leopardi *et al.*, 1997). Late in infection ICP22, along with the U_13 and U_14 gene products, relocalizes to small dense nuclear bodies (Markovitz & Roizman, 2000).

ICP22 is a multifunctional regulatory protein that is required for the efficient expression of ICP0 as well as a subset of true late genes including U_s11 , U_L41 , and U_L38 (Purves *et al.*, 1993, Sears *et al.*, 1985). In addition to this, ICP22 may act as a repressor of IE gene expression (Prod'hon *et al.*, 1996). Although ICP22 is non-essential for growth is cell-culture lines such as Vero cells (Post & Roizman, 1981), ICP22 deletion mutants replicate poorly in primary human fibroblasts, rabbit, and rodent cells (Sears *et al.*, 1985), and have attenuated virulence when inoculated intracerebrally into mice (Roizman & Knipe, 2001).

Post-translational modifications of ICP22 include nucleotydylation by casein kinase II (Blaho *et al.*, 1993, Mitchell *et al.*, 1997) and phosphorylation by the viral protein kinases U_L13 and U_s3 (Prod'hon *et al.*, 1996, Purves *et al.*, 1993, Purves & Roizman, 1992). The similar phenotype of ICP22 and U_L13 mutants indicates the importance of U_L13 phosphorylation on the action of ICP22 (Purves *et al.*, 1993).

The exact mechanism for ICP22 function is unclear. ICP22 is known to influence the ICP0 mRNA splicing pattern (Carter & Roizman, 1996) as well as to interact with cellular proteins such as p78 (Bruni & Roizman, 1998) and p60 (a cellular protein of unknown function that also interacts with ICP0) (Bruni *et al.*, 1999). The inefficient transcription of a subset of true late genes seen for ICP22 mutants may be due to a lack of an alternatively phosphorylated form of the C-terminal domain of RNAP II (Long *et al.*, 1999, Rice *et al.*, 1995, Rice *et al.*, 1994).

A further clue for the role of ICP22 in the efficient expression of late gene products is the requirement of ICP22 for the posttranslational modification and interaction of topoisomerase $I\alpha$ with a cdc2-U₁42 complex

(Advani *et al.*, 2003). ICP22 and U_L13 are required for the posttranslational modification and activation of cdc2, as well as the degradation of cylins A and B (Advani *et al.*, 2000a). The viral DNA polymerase processivity factor U_L42 replaces cyclin B as a binding partner of cdc2 (Advani *et al.*, 2001b). The cdc2-U_L42 complex is then able to recruit posttranslationally modified topoisomerase II α (Advani *et al.*, 2003). As ICP22 mutants are capable of viral DNA synthesis (Sears *et al.*, 1985), it appears that the topoisomerase is recruited for a function other than viral DNA synthesis. Advani and colleagues hypothesize that topoisomerase II α is required for untangling newly-synthesized, concatemeric viral DNA: allowing efficient transcription of late genes (Advani *et al.*, 2003).

1.4.2.3 ICP27

ICP27 is a 63 kDa multi-functional protein encoded by the U_L54 gene (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). The N-terminal region of ICP27 includes a nuclear localization signal (Mears *et al.*, 1995), as well as a leucine-rich nuclear export signal (Sandri-Goldin, 1998). Early times post-infection ICP27 is diffusely distributed in the nucleus, while at later times ICP27 is found in replication compartments (de Bruyn Kops *et al.*, 1998) and shuttling between the nucleus and the cytoplasm (Mears & Rice, 1998, Phelan & Clements, 1997, Sandri-Goldin, 1998, Soliman *et al.*, 1997).

ICP27 is an essential regulatory protein (McCarthy *et al.*, 1989) (Sacks *et al.*, 1985) with roles both in the activation and repression of viral gene expression. ICP27 deletion mutants have greatly decreased amounts of viral DNA, over-express E genes, have only low levels of leaky late proteins, and do not express true late gene products (McCarthy *et al.*, 1989, McMahan & Schaffer, 1990, Rice & Knipe, 1990). A subset of E genes require ICP27 for efficient expression (McGregor *et al.*, 1996, Samaniego *et al.*, 1995, Uprichard

& Knipe, 1996). The products of these E genes include viral DNA replication proteins, indicating that the reduced viral DNA synthesis seen for ICP27 mutants may result from insufficient expression of genes important for replication (Uprichard & Knipe, 1996).

There is evidence that ICP27 can regulate transcription (Jean *et al.*, 2001, Spencer *et al.*, 1997) and associate with RNA polymerase II complexes (Jenkins & Spencer, 2001, Zhou & Knipe, 2002). However, many of the effects of ICP27 on viral gene expression are at the post-transcriptional level. For example, ICP27 may enhance the expression of viral L genes with weak poly(A) signals by altering the specificity of polyadenylation machinery; stimulating 3'-end mRNA processing (McGregor *et al.*, 1996) (McLauchlan *et al.*, 1992, McLauchlan *et al.*, 1989, Sandri-Goldin & Mendoza, 1992). Also, ICP27 inhibition of host cell splicing occurs post-transcriptionally (Hardwicke & Sandri-Goldin, 1994, Hardy & Sandri-Goldin, 1994) at the level of spliceosome assembly (Lindberg & Kreivi, 2002).

Export of unspliced mRNA from the nucleus to the cytoplasm is generally very inefficient in human (and all metazoan) cells (Luo & Reed, 1999). As almost all of the transcripts expressed by HSV during lytic replication are intronless, it is important for the virus to have a mechanism of ensuring efficient export of its unspliced mRNA. The RNA binding properties of ICP27 (through an arginine-rich RGG box) (Ingram *et al.*, 1996, Mears & Rice, 1996, Sandri-Goldin, 1998) coupled with its ability to shuttle between the nucleus and cytoplasm (Mears & Rice, 1998, Phelan & Clements, 1997, Soliman *et al.*, 1997) are clear indicators of a role in the export of unspliced viral mRNAs; however, the exact mechanism is still unclear. The initial model for ICP27 mediated export of unspliced viral mRNAs was through the cellular adaptor CRM1 (Soliman & Silverstein, 2000), however CRM1 was subsequently reported to be unnecessary for ICP27-mediated export in *Xenopus laevis* oocytes (Koffa *et al.*, 2001), or for the activity of ICP27's leucine-rich NES

(Chen *et al.*, 2002). Another popular model is that ICP27 binds to and recruits Aly/REF (a component of the exon junction complex) to viral intronless mRNAs, thereby providing them with access to the TAP export pathway (Chen *et al.*, 2002, Koffa *et al.*, 2001). However, a deletion mutant incapable of the ICP27/REF interaction is not greatly inhibited on Vero cells (Lengyel *et al.*, 2002).

The interaction between ICP27 and a number of cellular proteins involved in splicing contributes to the ICP27-mediated inhibition of splicing, which may enhance export of viral transcripts. For example, ICP27 interacts with both SR proteins (essential splicing factors) and SRPK1 (a protein kinase) (Sciabica *et al.*, 2003). The interaction between ICP27 and SRPK1 is proposed to lead to the hypophosphorylation of the SR proteins thereby impairing their action in spliceosome assembly (Sciabica *et al.*, 2003). ICP27 also interacts with heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein (hnRNP) K, casein kinase 2 (CK2) (Wadd *et al.*, 1999), and p32 (Bryant *et al.*, 2000). In the presence of ICP27, a p32-hnRNPK-CK2 complex can form which, together, may be able to inhibit splicing (Bryant *et al.*, 2000). Another ICP27 interaction important for the inhibition of splicing is between ICP27 and spliceosome-associated protein 145 (SAP145), an essential splicing factor (Bryant *et al.*, 2001). ICP27 mutants that are unable to inhibit splicing have either reduced or no interaction between ICP27 and SAP145 (Bryant *et al.*, 2001).

1.4.2.4 ICP4

ICP4 is a 175 kDa protein encoded for by two copies of the α 4 gene (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) located in the inverted repeat region flanking the short segment of the genome. In infected cells ICP4 is nuclear localized and, at early times post-infection, is found diffuse throughout the nucleus (Knipe *et al.*, 1987). Recent evidence suggests that ICP4 is rapidly recruited to the viral

genome following entrance into the nucleus (Everett *et al.*, 2004b). Later on in infection ICP4 is redistributed to globular replication compartments, within which it has a somewhat diffuse distribution (de Bruyn Kops *et al.*, 1998). The redistribution of ICP4 to replication compartments is dependent upon viral DNA replication (Knipe *et al.*, 1987).

ICP4 is a major regulatory protein of HSV transcription and acts as both a transcriptional activator and a repressor. The ICP4-mediated transcriptional activation of the E and L genes (Watson & Clements, 1980) is absolutely required for viral growth (DeLuca et al., 1985, Dixon & Schaffer, 1980, Preston, 1979). Infection of Vero cells with an HSV-1 mutant for both copies of ICP4 leads to production of only ICP6, ICP0, ICP22, and ICP27 (DeLuca et al., 1985). The mechanism by which ICP4 activates transcription is not yet fully understood, however some essential elements have been identified. ICP4 is a site-specific DNA binding protein that binds to both consensus and nonconsensus sites (Kristie & Roizman, 1986, Michael & Roizman, 1989, Michael et al., 1988). In order to activate transcription, ICP4 must interact with DNA 3' to the start site (Gu & DeLuca, 1994). The regulatory region need contain only a TATA box and an initiator element for ICP4 to activate transcription (Carrozza & DeLuca, 1998). ICP4 helps the TATA binding protein (TBP)-containing general transcription factor (TFIID) bind to the promoter and the TATA box (Grondin & DeLuca, 2000). The interaction between ICP4 and TFIID requires transcription activating factor (TAF) 250, which interacts with the C-terminal region of ICP4 (Carrozza & DeLuca, 1996). Binding of TFIID to the promoter region with the help of ICP4 facilitates the formation of transcription pre-initiation complexes (Grondin & DeLuca, 2000). Formation of these higher-order DNA-protein complexes is further facilitated by high mobility group protein 1 (HMG1), possibly by the ability of this protein to bend DNA (Carrozza & DeLuca, 1998).

Similarly to its mechanism of activating expression of E and L genes, the mechanism by which ICP4 represses the expression of viral genes is not yet fully understood. Promoters that have ICP4 binding sites near the transcription start site are subject to transcriptional repression by ICP4 (Kuddus *et al.*, 1995). ICP4 binds to its own transcription start site (Muller, 1987), and therefore has a negative autoregulatory role on its own expression (Michael & Roizman, 1993, O'Hare & Hayward, 1985b). Binding of ICP4 to DNA regions near and 3' to the TATA box in the proper orientation allows the formation of a tripartite complex composed of ICP4, TBP, and TFIIB (Gu & DeLuca, 1994, Kuddus *et al.*, 1995). This interference with the formation of transcription initiation complexes inhibits transcription (Gu & DeLuca, 1994).

1.4.2.5 ICP0

ICP0 is a 110 kDa multi-functional protein encoded by the $\alpha 0$ gene (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) located in the inverted repeat region flanking the U_L segment of the viral genome, and is therefore present in two copies. ICP0 was difficult to identify using the ICP-system because its electrophoretic mobility varied when the composition of the denaturing gel was changed (Honess & Roizman, 1974).

1.4.2.5.1 Function of ICP0

Following infection, ICPO localizes to the nucleus. Initial ICPO accumulation is at ND10 but, as more accumulates, ICPO fills the nucleus (Everett & Maul, 1994, Maul & Everett, 1994, Maul *et al.*, 1993). ICPO is retained in the nucleus until viral DNA replication has begun (Lopez *et al.*, 2001), then moves to the cytoplasm (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 1997a, Lopez *et al.*, 2001, Van Sant *et al.*, 2001b). In HEL cells, translocation of ICPO to the

cytoplasm begins 3 hrs post-infection and is almost complete by 7-9 hrs (depending on MOI) (Van Sant *et al.*, 2001b). Translocation likely requires true late proteins as it does not occur when DNA synthesis is blocked (Van Sant *et al.*, 2001b). The binding of ICP0 to the cell cycle regulator cyclin D3 (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 1997b, Van Sant *et al.*, 2001b) is involved in export of ICP0 to the cytoplasm (Van Sant *et al.*, 1999, Van Sant *et al.*, 2001b) but the mechanism for this is unknown.

Unlike most HSV genes, ICP0 is spliced. Exons 1, 2 and 3 encode amino acids (aa) 1-19, 20-241, and 242-775 respectively (Hagglund & Roizman, 2004). The N-terminus contains a C_3HC_4 RING (really interesting new gene) finger zinc-binding motif (in exon 2) (Everett *et al.*, 1993, Everett *et al.*, 1995, Freemont *et al.*, 1991). The nuclear localization signal (NLS) maps to exon 3 (Everett, 1988). The C-terminal of ICP0 contains the ND10 localization and USP7 (also known as HAUSP or herpesvirus associated ubiquitin specific protease) binding domains (Everett, 1987, Everett, 1988) as well as a high-affinity self-interaction domain that allows the formation of dimers and oligomers (Ciufo *et al.*, 1994, Everett *et al.*, 1991a). See Figure 1.1 for a diagram of the ICP0 transcript and functional domains.

The function performed by ICP0 is likely regulated by posttranslational modifications (Advani *et al.*, 2001a): contributing to its multifunctionality. During the course of infection at least 6 different modified isoforms of ICP0 are seen (Ackermann *et al.*, 1984, Advani *et al.*, 2001a). ICP0 is nucleotidylylated by casein kinase II (Blaho *et al.*, 1993), and phosphorylated by both viral (U_L 13) (Ogle *et al.*, 1997) and cellular (cdc2) (Advani *et al.*, 2000b) protein kinases.

ICPO is a non-specific (often referred to as promiscuous) transactivator that can induce the expression of a subset of cellular genes (Hobbs & DeLuca, 1999) as well as all classes (IE, E and L) of viral promoters (Everett, 1984, Gelman & Silverstein, 1985, O'Hare & Hayward, 1985a, Quinlan & Knipe,

1985). Specific promoter sequences necessary for activation by ICP0 have not been identified (Everett *et al.*, 1991b). ICP0 and ICP4 interact with each other (Everett, 1988, Yao & Schaffer, 1994) and have a synergistic effect on the transactivation of gene expression (Everett *et al.*, 1991b). ICP0 does not bind directly to DNA (Everett *et al.*, 1991a) therefore the affect of ICP0 on transcription is likely to be indirect. It has been shown that if the RING finger is disrupted, the ability of ICP0 to transactivate gene expression is lost (Chen & Silverstein, 1992, Everett, 1987, Everett, 1988, Everett *et al.*, 1995, Lium & Silverstein, 1997).

ICP0 is an E3 ubiquitin ligase that, as mentioned earlier, contains a C_3HC_4 RING finger zinc-binding motif (Boutell *et al.*, 2002, Everett *et al.*, 1993, Everett et al., 1995, Freemont et al., 1991). RING finger proteins have been shown to be part of ubiquitin ligase complexes and are involved in the degradation of specific target proteins (Freemont, 2000). Proteins are targeted for 26S proteasomal degradation by the conjugation of ubiquitin chains (see Figure 1.2). Ubiquitin ligase complexes induce the accumulation of polyubiquitin chains through the action of an E1ubiquitin activating enzyme, an E2 ubiquitin conjugating enzyme, and an E3 ubiquitin ligase (reviewed in (Hershko & Ciechanover, 1998, Jackson et al., 2000)). E3 ubiguitin ligase enzymes promote the transfer of ubiquitin from E2 to the substrate protein (Jackson et al., 2000, Joazeiro et al., 1999, Lorick et al., 1999). There are two broad classes of E3 ubiquitin ligases. The first class contain a HECT (homologous to the E6-AP carboxyl terminus) related domain (Schwartz & Hochstrasser, 2003). The second, more abundant, class contain a RING finger domain (Schwartz & Hochstrasser, 2003). The importance of the RING finger domain for the activity of ICP0 is illustrated by the finding that RING finger mutants have a similar phenotype to ICP0 null mutants (Chen & Silverstein, 1992, Everett, 1989, Everett et al., 1999c, Hagglund & Roizman, 2003, Lium & Silverstein, 1997, Van Sant et al., 1999). ICP0 colocalizes with and induces

the accumulation of conjugated ubiquitin (Everett, 2000a, Parkinson & Everett, 2001) and promotes the degradation of cellular proteins (described below) (Everett *et al.*, 1999a, Everett *et al.*, 1998a, Lees-Miller *et al.*, 1996, Lomonte *et al.*, 2001, Parkinson & Everett, 2000, Parkinson *et al.*, 1999) in a RING finger domain dependent manner.

Inactivation of the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway inhibits ICP0-mediated stimulation of the lytic cycle (Everett *et al.*, 1998a). ICP0 has been shown to interact with proteasomes (Everett *et al.*, 1998a, Everett *et al.*, 1997) and to increase the interaction of cdc34 (an E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme) with proteasomes (Van Sant *et al.*, 2001a). Use of the proteasome inhibitor MG132 causes ICP0 to remain associated with proteasome subunits (Lopez *et al.*, 2001, Van Sant *et al.*, 2001a) and abrogates the ICP0 induced degradation of cellular proteins (Everett *et al.*, 1998a).

The interaction between ICP0 and USP7 (Everett *et al.*, 1999c, Everett *et al.*, 1997, Meredith *et al.*, 1995, Meredith *et al.*, 1994) may further enhance the degradation of targeted cellular proteins. USP7 is a novel member of the ubiquitin-specific protease family that localizes in or close to ND10 (Everett *et al.*, 1997). USP enzymes protect proteins from degradation by cleaving ubiquitin from the targeted protein (Wilkinson, 1995). It is hypothesized that sequestration of USP7 by ICP0 from newly ubiquitylated substrates may increase the efficiency of degradation (Hagglund & Roizman, 2004). Recently, it has been shown that the interaction between ICP0 and USP7 protects ICP0 from auto-ubiquitination and subsequent degradation (Canning *et al.*, 2004).

There is increasing evidence to support that an important role of ICP0 is to promote the proteasomal degradation of cellular proteins that may hinder viral infection. A prime example of this is the ICP0-mediated disruption of ND10 structures (Everett & Maul, 1994, Maul & Everett, 1994, Maul *et al.*, 1993). The disaggregation of ND10 following HSV infection is a result of the degradation of its main organizing protein PML (Ishov *et al.*, 1999, Zhong *et*

al., 2000). The antiviral affects of PML will be discussed in section 1.7.2. SUMO-1 (small ubiquitin-like protein) modification is important for the integrity of ND10 structures (Duprez et al., 1999, Kamitani et al., 1998, Muller et al., 1998, Sternsdorf *et al.*, 1997b), and both PML and Sp100 are covalently modified by SUMO-1 in ND10 (Chelbi-Alix & de The, 1999, Kamitani et al., 1998, Parkinson & Everett, 2000, Sternsdorf et al., 1997b). ICP0 promotes the degradation of SUMO-1 or PIC1 (a ubiquitin-homology family protein) conjugated isoforms of PML (Everett et al., 1998a) and Sp100 (Chelbi-Alix & de The, 1999, Parkinson & Everett, 2000). Other ND10 components targeted for degradation by ICPO are still being researched. As previously mentioned, ICP0 binds to USP7, a member of the ubiquitin-specific protease family associated with ND10 (Everett et al., 1997). It has been proposed that ICPO binding to USP7 allows USP7 to cleave SUMO-1 from PML: allowing for its subsequent ubiquitination and degradation (Everett et al., 1998a). ICPOmediated disruption of ND10 requires the RING finger domain (N-terminal) and the C-terminal ND10 localization sequence (Everett & Maul, 1994, Maul & Everett, 1994) and is proteasome-dependent (Everett et al., 1998a, Everett et al., 1995).

In addition to ND10 components, ICP0 mediates the degradation of other cellular proteins. ICP0 leads to the degradation of centromeric proteins CENP-C and CENP-A (Everett *et al.*, 1999a, Lomonte & Everett, 1999). Transfection of ICP0 can prevent progression from G1 to S phase and block cells at pseudo-prometaphase (an unusual stage of mitosis). The block in pseudo-prometaphase correlates with the degradation of CENP-C (an important component of kinetochores) and is induced by ICP0 in a proteasomal-dependent manner (Everett *et al.*, 1999a, Lomonte & Everett, 1999). The zinc finger of ICP0 binds to kinetochores and a mutation in the region required for binding USP7 also prevents ICP0 binding to kinetochores (Everett *et al.*, 1999a). ICP0 also causes degradation of the catalytic subunit
of DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PKcs) (Lees-Miller *et al.*, 1996, Parkinson *et al.*, 1999). This involves the proteasome pathway, but doesn't require ICP0 binding to USP7 (Parkinson *et al.*, 1999).

In addition to its previously described activities, the interaction between ICP0 and a number of cellular proteins indicates further roles for ICP0 during infection. ICP0 colocalizes and interacts with the class II histone deacetylase (HDAC) 4 (Lomonte *et al.*, 2004). ICP0 interacts with and may stabilize the cellular transcription-regulatory factor BMAL1 (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 2001). The interaction between ICP0 and elongation factor-1 δ (EF-1 δ) may alter translation efficiency of viral mRNAs (Kawaguchi *et al.*, 1997a). ICP0 interacts with and promotes ubiquitylation of p53 (a major oncoprotein) (Boutell & Everett, 2003); however, the relevance of this is unclear as p53 levels don't change with HSV-1 infection (Hobbs & DeLuca, 1999). ICP0 also interacts with p60, a protein of unknown function which, as mentioned previously, also interacts with ICP22 (Bruni *et al.*, 1999).

1.4.2.5.2 Phenotype of ICP0 mutants

Early studies of HSV-1 strains with both copies of ICP0 inactivated showed that although ICP0 mutants are able to replicate in tissue culture, their ability to do so is impaired compared to wild type virus (Sacks & Schaffer, 1987). Further examination by Stow and Stow (1986) revealed that this characteristic of ICP0 mutants is both MOI and cell-type dependent. For example, with a low MOI of ICP0 mutant the infectious virus yield from baby hamster kidney cells was far lower than wild type. The ICP0 mutant yield was reduced even further on other cell types such as Vero and human foetal lung cells. However, when the MOI of the ICP0 mutant was raised high enough, all three cell lines yielded similar numbers of infectious virus (Stow & Stow, 1986). On a permissive cell type for ICP0 mutants, human U2OS

osteosarcoma cells, the plating efficiency of ICP0 mutants is almost indistinguishable from wild type even at low MOI (Yao & Schaffer, 1995). Because ICP0 and latency associated transcripts (LATs, described in more detail in Section 1.5) occupy the same region of the viral genome, it was difficult to determine if the phenotype was due to the ICP0 or the LAT mutation. However, LAT-/ICP0⁺ mutant viruses are not inhibited at low MOI, and cells that express ICP0, complement ICP0 mutants: indicating that mutations in LATs are not responsible for the phenotype of ICP0 mutants (Cai & Schaffer, 1992).

Recently, Everett and colleagues undertook a detailed study of the fate of ICP0 mutants upon infection of a restrictive cell type. Using single-cellbased assays they found that infection of human fibroblast cells with a low MOI of an ICP0 mutant has outcomes that vary from quiescence, to stalled infection at an in-between stage, through to productive infection (Everett *et al.*, 2004a). As was seen in earlier studies, the probability of productive infection of an ICP0 mutant was found to be MOI dependent, and appears to have a threshold. An initial infectious dose above this threshold leads to replication of the mutant virus at levels comparable to wild type. However, below that threshold, the probability of a nonproductive infection is high (Everett *et al.*, 2004a).

Everett et al found that in cells where the ICP0 mutant is unable to complete the lytic cycle, the infection stalls at a variety of stages. In these cells there is a fairly high probability of expressing the IE genes, but the expression of E genes is random and incomplete (Everett *et al.*, 2004a). These findings are consistent with results from Cai et al, who examined the effects of the ICP0 mutation on growth in Vero cells. In this study, although the levels of IE gene products from the ICP0 mutant was not significantly lower than wild type, there were drastically reduced levels of E and L gene products (Cai & Schaffer, 1992). This demonstrates that activation of IE gene expression by

ICP0 may be somewhat redundant in the presence of VP16, however ICP0 is important for up-regulation of the E and L genes (Cai & Schaffer, 1992). These results may also indicate that, especially for low MOI of infection, the viral genome of ICP0 mutants is susceptible to a cellular repression mechanism that acts on the genome after the initial burst of IE gene expression has occurred (Everett *et al.*, 2004a). Everett describes the process of repressing the viral genome as a competition between a cellular repression mechanism and viral transcription activators. ICP0 gives an advantage to the virus by promoting the degradation of cellular proteins that may be involved in repressing the viral genome (Everett, 2000b).

Considering cellular repression of the viral genome, there are a number of possibilities that could explain the MOI dependency of the ICP0 mutant phenotype. One popular explanation is that, with high viral genome load, the cellular repression mechanism is titrated out. Another explanation put forth by Everett and colleagues is that the repression of the viral genome may be random and incomplete, thereby affecting some areas but not others. In this scenario, a few of the essential products expressed from each of a number of different genomes are able to lead to a full complement of necessary proteins to allow a productive infection (Everett *et al.*, 2004a). However, additional features of the infected cell are important in determining the outcome of an ICP0 mutant infection, as there are times when productive infection occurs with very low MOI.

1.4.3 E gene expression and DNA replication

Maximum synthesis of the E gene products occurs 5-7 hrs postinfection (Honess & Roizman, 1974). As described in previous sections, expression of E genes requires ICP4 and is promoted by ICP27, and ICP0. There are two groups of E genes, roughly divided based on the timing of their

expression. The first group is expressed just shortly after IE genes: for example ICP8. The second group appears after more of a delay, for example thymidine kinase (TK) (Honess & Roizman, 1974). In general, the early gene proteins are involved in DNA replication and nucleotide metabolism.

Viral DNA replication occurs in specialized nuclear structures called replication compartments (Plummer *et al.*, 1969). Upon entry into the nucleus, the parental genome localizes to the periphery of ND10 structures (Ishov & Maul, 1996). Several E proteins assemble onto the parental genome (Kristie & Roizman, 1984) forming prereplicative sites. With progression of DNA synthesis globular replication compartments form (Quinlan *et al.*, 1984). Initially the replication compartments are near the nuclear membrane, but as viral DNA replication progresses, their size increases until the entire nucleus is affected (Randall & Dinwoodie, 1986).

Replication begins from one of three origins of DNA replication. OriL is a 144bp palindrome located in the U segment. OriS is a 45bp palindrome located in the repeat region flanking the short segment and so is present in two copies (Taylor et al., 2002). There are seven E genes that are essential for viral DNA replication (Challberg, 1986). The replication origins contain binding sites for U₁9, the viral origin binding protein. U₁9 bends DNA, causes a single-stranded (ss)-stem loop structure and recruits ICP8 (Elias et al., 1986). ICP8 (U_L29), is a ssDNA binding protein (Conley *et al.*, 1981) that stimulates the helicase activity of U₁9 (Boehmer et al., 1993). A heterotrimer composed of $U_{L}5/U_{L}8/U_{L}52$ is the helicase-primase complex and has 5' to 3' activity (Crute et al., 1988). U₁30/U₁42 is the DNA polymerase with 3' to 5' exonuclease activity for proofreading: U 42 increases processivity (Purifoy et al., 1977). Cellular enzymes such as DNA ligases and topoisomerases are also likely recruited for viral DNA replication (Taylor et al., 2002). Other E gene products that are nonessential in cell culture are often required for replication in non-dividing cells. Examples of these are products involved in nucleotide

metabolism such as thymidine kinase (Kit & Dubbs, 1965), ribonucleotide reductase (Bacchetti *et al.*, 1986), and uracil N-glycosylase (Caradonna *et al.*, 1987).

The model for HSV-1 replication that, until recently, was widely accepted assumes that the linear HSV genome circularizes upon entry into the nucleus (by an unknown mechanism) and undergoes theta form replication. At some point, in this model, replication switches from theta to a rolling circle mode analogous to bacteriophage lambda replication. (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). However, recent evidence found by Jackson and DeLuca indicates that circular DNA is not a prerequisite for HSV-1 replication. Instead, circularization of the genome was found to occur only in the absence of ICP0 and may be an indicator of a repressed or latent genome, rather than a transcriptionally active genome (Jackson & DeLuca, 2003). In addition to this, the lambda model predicts the formation of long, linear concatemers, and does not account for the complex, branched structures found for HSV replication intermediates (Severini et al., 1996). Currently, replication mechanisms that do not include circularization of the viral genome, such as a recombination-dependent mechanism that is analogous to bacteriophage T7 replication (Nimonkar & Boehmer, 2003), are being studied for relevance to HSV replication.

1.4.4 L gene expression

L gene expression occurs after the initiation of viral DNA synthesis, and in general, is at its peak 7-9 hrs post-infection (Honess & Roizman, 1974). The products of L genes are often structural proteins or are involved in the assembly of virions or modification of cellular membranes. L gene transcription occurs in replication compartments (Phelan *et al.*, 1997) and, as described in earlier sections, requires ICP4, ICP27, and ICP22 (for a subset). ICP8, in addition to its role in DNA replication, is also necessary for

transcription of late genes (Gao & Knipe, 1991). The ssDNA binding protein ICP8 may act by making L promoters accessible by viral genome rearrangement or by promoting transcription from progeny genomes (McNamee *et al.*, 2000).

There are two classes of late genes. Transcription of some late genes, referred to as leaky-late genes, occurs before DNA replication. Examples of these are U_L27 and U_S6 , which encode the viral glycoproteins gB and gD respectively (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). Although expression of these genes does not depend upon replication of viral DNA, it is enhanced following DNA replication. In contrast, true late gene transcription occurs only after the initiation of DNA replication. Examples of true late genes are U_L44 , encoding the viral glycoprotein gC, and U_S11 , which encodes an RNA binding protein (Roizman & Knipe, 2001).

1.4.5 Virion assembly and egress

Proteins involved in capsid formation localize in the nucleus and the assembly of capsids, which does not require cellular factors (Newcomb *et al.*, 1994), occurs in viral replication compartments (de Bruyn Kops *et al.*, 1998). Empty shells composed of 4 late gene products assemble on an internal scaffolding structure formed by the L gene products VP21, preVP22a and VP24 (Homa & Brown, 1997). As described earlier, the major structural protein of the outer shell is VP5, with the outer tips of the hexons formed by VP26 (Steven & Spear, 1996). The capsomeres are connected by triplexes composed of one molecule of VP19C and two molecules of VP23 (Newcomb *et al.*, 1993). Once assembled, the capsids take up DNA until either "head-full" or the recognition of certain sequences signals that the incorporation of the entire genome is complete (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). The insertion of viral DNA into the capsid displaces the internal scaffolding structure. Viral DNA

replication results in complex, branched, concatemeric DNA (Severini *et al.*, 1996) that is cleaved into unit-length genomes during encapsidation. Cleavage occurs at specific packaging elements, *pac*1 and *pac*2, that are located at the ends of the viral genome (Deiss *et al.*, 1986, Mocarski & Roizman, 1982, Varmuza & Smiley, 1985) in a process that requires six viral genes: U_L6, U_L15, U_L17, U_L28, U_L32 and U_L33 (Roizman & Knipe, 2001).

Acquisition of the envelope and exit of the virion from the host cell likely occurs through a process that involves envelopement, deenvelopment, and reenvevelopment steps (Farnsworth *et al.*, 2003, Skepper *et al.*, 2001). Once DNA has been taken up by the capsid, the nucleocapsid can bud through the inner nuclear membrane into the perinuclear space, acquiring an envelope (Mettenleiter, 2002). The envelope is lost when it fuses to the outer nuclear membrane; releasing the free nucleocapsid into the cytoplasm where a tegument layer is acquired (Mettenleiter, 2002). The tegumented nucleocapsid binds to cytoplasmic membranes that are enriched with viral glycoproteins (Farnsworth *et al.*, 2003, Johnson & Huber, 2002). Virions acquire an envelope by budding into post-ER cytoplasmic compartments (Skepper *et al.*, 2001, Whiteley *et al.*, 1999) and are transported to the cell surface.

1.5 HSV-1 Latent Infection

Following replication at the site of infection, progeny virus infects sensory neurons and replicates. Within a few days, replication is replaced by a latent state (Stevens & Cook, 1971). During latency, the viral genome is retained in a non-replicating state in the neuronal nucleus where it is wrapped in a regular nucleosomal structure (Deshmane & Fraser, 1989) and has an endless or circular conformation (Mellerick & Fraser, 1987, Rock & Fraser, 1983, Rock & Fraser, 1985). The copy number of viral DNA/neuron varies

from one to thousands (Sawtell, 1997). None of the lytic genes are expressed during latency and only latency associated transcripts (LATs) accumulate to high levels. Even neuron specific promoters are repressed in context of viral genome (Glorioso *et al.*, 1995, Lachmann *et al.*, 1996). The structural basis for the repression of gene expression during latency is unknown, but it is assumed that the cell treats the viral genome as set of genes to be silenced (Preston, 2000). Recent experiments indicate that a major regulatory determinant of gene expression during HSV latency may be histone composition (Kubat *et al.*, 2004). Using chromatin immunoprecipitation assays of latent DNA isolated from mouse dorsal root ganglia, Kubat and colleagues demonstrated that a portion of the LAT region is associated with histone H3 acetylated at lysines 9 and 14: characteristic of euchromatic or nonrepressed DNA. In contrast, chromatin associated with HSV-1 DNA Polymerase (in the U_L segment) was not enriched in H3 acetylated at lysines 9 and 14, consistent with an inactive region of DNA (Kubat *et al.*, 2004).

The expression of LATs is a hallmark of HSV latency. The LAT promoter functions efficiently in neurons (Kosz-Vnenchak *et al.*, 1990, Spivack & Fraser, 1988), leading to the production of an 8.3 kb transcript that is antisense to ICP0 mRNA (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). Only low levels of the 8.3 kb transcript accumulate; the much more abundant 2.0 and 1.5 kb introns (Krause *et al.*, 1988, Rock *et al.*, 1987, Spivack & Fraser, 1987) have an unusual lariat structure that contributes to their stability (Farrell *et al.*, 1991, Wu *et al.*, 1996). Sixty-seven to ninety-five percent of infected neurons do not express detectable levels of LATs (Maggioncalda *et al.*, 1996, Ramakrishnan *et al.*, 1994, Sawtell, 1997), indicating that LATs are not absolutely essential for any aspects of latency. The function of LATs is controversial. Claims that LATs prevent the expression of ICP0 (Chen *et al.*, 1997, Garber *et al.*, 1997), enable reactivation, or maintain latency have all been disputed (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). LATs may prevent apoptosis (Perng *et al.*, 2000) by influencing the

accumulation of transcripts encoding the antiapoptotic protein Bclx(L) (Peng *et al.*, 2003). In addition to this, LATs may inhibit caspase-8 and caspase-9 induced apoptosis (Henderson *et al.*, 2002, Jin *et al.*, 2003).

Establishment of latency does not require a specific viral function or protein (Preston, 2000, Wagner & Bloom, 1997). A widely accepted hypothesis is that latency occurs by default in the absence of IE gene expression. A factor that may be involved in the inhibition of IE gene expression is that host cell proteins important for IE transcription are unavailable in the nucleus of neurons (Kristie et al., 1999, Valyi-Nagy et al., 1991). For example, in sensory neurons HCF is sequestered exclusively in the cytoplasm (Kristie et al., 1999) and is translocated to the nucleus only under certain conditions such as explantation of ganglia, leading to reactivation (Kristie et al., 1999). Other cell types have nuclear or general distribution of HCF (Kristie et al., 1995, La Boissiere et al., 1999). Recent evidence suggests that a post-IE block may be responsible for the establishment of the latent state. The nervous system is enriched for NFB42, an F-box protein that is part of ubiquitin-ligase complexes responsible for the degradation of phosphorylated proteins in a proteasomal dependent manner (Feldman et al., 1997, Skowyra et al., 1997). The HSV origin binding protein, U₁9, (essential for DNA replication) is polyubiquitinated in vivo and binds NFB42 (Eom & Lehman, 2002). There is a significant decrease of U_19 when NFB42 and U_19 are co-expressed in 293T cells and MG132 treatment restores U/9 levels (Eom & Lehman, 2003). The model proposed by the authors is that in neurons U_19 is phosphorylated, recognized by NFB42 and degraded. The lack of U,9 inhibits initiation of viral DNA replication and may lead to the establishment of latency (Eom & Lehman, 2003).

Attempts to develop a tissue culture model of latency in fibroblast cells led to the discovery that a non-replicating or quiescent state could be established if IE gene expression was prevented upon entry of the virus into

the cell (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). However, in this tissue culture model it appears that the quiescent genome is globally repressed and requires major changes before expression is possible (Preston, 2000). In contrast, the latent genome in animal models seems to be less severely repressed, is more susceptible to reactivation stimuli, and key promoters, such as the LATs, are responsive to neuronal signals (Preston, 2000). Because of this, HSV quiescence in fibroblast cells is not considered to be an accurate model of latency and is instead studied to gain an understanding of cellular antiviral responses. Quiescence will be discussed in more detail in section 1.6. Cultured neurons either infected with low MOI or in conjunction with DNA synthesis inhibitors such as acycloguanosine are also used for a tissue culture model for latency (Wilcox & Johnson, 1988, Wilcox & Johnson, 1987). With this system replication is prevented, and the 2 kb LAT species is expressed (Smith *et al.*, 1994); however, there are concerns that this approach is artificial as well.

Periodic reactivation of latent HSV occurs in only a fraction of infected neurons (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). There appears to be a correlation between reactivation and the amount of viral DNA/neuron and the number of infected neurons (Lekstrom-Himes *et al.*, 1998, Sawtell, 1998, Sawtell *et al.*, 1998). The data suggests that a higher viral DNA copy number leads to a predisposition towards reactivation (Sawtell *et al.*, 1998). Stressful treatments of mice and other animals induces reactivation in vivo (Kwon *et al.*, 1981, Sawtell & Thompson, 1992). Also, providing ICP0, ICP4 or VP16 in trans induces reactivation of latently infected trigeminal ganglion (Halford *et al.*, 2001). Reactivation from latency could involve HCF, which is part of the **E** transcription activating complex (Kristie *et al.*, 1999). Assuming the latent genome is accessible to transactivators, stimuli for reactivation of the latent genome causing HCF to be transported from cytoplasm to the nucleus may lead to activation of IE transcription (Kristie *et al.*, 1999). Any specific viral

protein is not essential for reactivation from latency but, in animal models, there is poor reactivation of ICP0 mutants from latency in neurons (Cai *et al.*, 1993, Leib *et al.*, 1989). Small amounts of ICP0 initially expressed may work to reverse repression of the rest of the genome (Everett, 2000b). However, there is insufficient data to determine if the importance of ICP0 in reactivation from latency is to promote viral gene expression or to somehow convert the viral genome from a silent state to an active state (Preston, 2000). Also, the poor reactivation of ICP0 mutants could be due to inefficient replication at nerve endings, resulting in a low viral DNA copy number.

1.6 HSV-1 Quiescence

Infecting cells with viruses that are unable to express the IE genes results in an abortive infection where the viral genome is retained by the cell in a quiescent form (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). A number of viruses that are deficient in IE gene expression have been developed. For example, the VP16/ICP0 mutant KM110 (Mossman & Smiley, 1999), the VP16/ICP0/ICP4 mutant in1820K (Preston & Nicholl, 1997), and the ICP0/ICP4/ICP22/ICP27/ICP47 mutant d109 (Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). Even at high MOI these viruses are nontoxic in Vero and HEL cells (Mossman & Smiley, 1999, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998) and instead establish a persistent infection.

During quiescence there is no viral gene expression, including expression of LATs (Harris & Preston, 1991, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). Initially following infection the viral promoters are responsive to transactivators such as VP16, hexamethylene bisacetamide (HMBA), and the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) homolog of VP16 (Harris & Preston, 1991, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). However, once the genome has been converted to a repressed state it is very resistant to reactivation.

After 24 hrs the promoters become unresponsive to transcriptional activators such as VP16, HMBA, and ICP4 (Harris & Preston, 1991, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998, Stow & Stow, 1989). Even stimuli such as host cell division does not lead to reactivation (Jamieson *et al.*, 1995).

The repression of the quiescent genome works on all HSV-1 and heterologous promoters that have been tested to date and is therefore not likely to be sequence specific (Preston, 2000). For example, apart from the TATA box, there are no common sequence motifs for the four HSV IE and the HCMV IE promoters, but these are all shut off (Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). Even cellular promoters such as for beta-actin are silent in the context of the quiescent genome (C.M Preston, unpublished observations). Similarly, the ICP0 promoter, when present on both the cellular and the HSV-1 genomes, is active from the cellular genome but not from the quiescent virus (Preston & Nicholl, 1997).

The structure of the quiescent genome, and therefore the mechanism of its repression, is still largely unknown. The quiescent genome does not have a regular nucleosomal organization (Jamieson *et al.*, 1995) and is a nonlinear molecule (Harris & Preston, 1991, Jamieson *et al.*, 1995, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). Recently, it was shown that a fraction of d109 genomes circularize upon infection (Jackson & DeLuca, 2003). The repression mechanism of quiescent genomes may involve heterochromatin. Heterochromatin is a condensed form of DNA found at chromosomal regions that are transcriptionally silent such as centromeres and telomeres (Elgin, 1996). Even genes close to heterochromatin can be silenced: a phenomenom discovered in Drosophila and called position effect variegation (Eissenberg *et al.*, 1990, Eissenberg *et al.*, 1992). In Drosophila, the heterochromatin protein HP-1 promotes position-effect variegation (Eissenberg *et al.*, 1999). HP-1 is a component of centromeres and ND10 (Everett *et al.*, 1999b, Lehming *et al.*, 1998, Seeler *et al.*, 1998) that forms a complex with another ND10

component Sp100 (Lehming *et al.*, 1998, Seeler *et al.*, 1998). ICP0 may disrupt ND10 structures in order to prevent repression of the viral genome. It is speculated that the localization to and disruption of ND10 by ICP0 prevents HP-1 from interacting with heterochromatin (Preston, 2000).

The repression of the quiescent genome lasts for long periods; however, the persisting genomes are still functional and can be induced to reactivate days or even weeks later (Mossman & Smiley, 1999, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998). Provision of ICP0 from another source is sufficient to reverse repression and lead to reactivation of the quiescent genomes (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Stow & Stow, 1989). ICP0, its functional homologs from other herpes viruses, and the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor trichostatin A (TSA) are the only known agents that can reverse repression (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998, Stow & Stow, 1989). Reactivation of quiescent viral genomes by ICP0 depends on proteasome activity and is prevented by the proteasome inhibitor MG132 (Everett *et al.*, 1998a).

1.7 Intracellular Antiviral Responses

The ability of cells to detect and respond to viral invasion is critical for preventing the spread of viruses. Interferons (IFNs) play a major role in this response by stimulating the expression of cellular factors that make the cell inhospitable for viral replication and warn neighbouring cells to do the same. The products of interferon stimulated genes (ISGs) are the important effectors in preventing viral replication. These can be induced by both IFN-dependent and IFN-independent pathways. Like all successful viruses, HSV-1 has evolved mechanisms to combat the effects of the antiviral response it induces upon infection of cells. ICPO in particular has a major role in overcoming the antiviral

response and ensuring that the environment of the cell is conducive to viral growth.

1.7.1 Interferon response

The immunomodulatory and antiproliferative actions of interferons are involved in diverse functions such as protection against tumour cells and pathogens such as viruses, bacteria, and parasites (Stark *et al.*, 1998). IFNs were first discovered in 1957 by Isaacs and Lindenmann who found that a protein in the medium harvested from cells infected with a heat-inactivated virus could "interfere" with subsequent infection of cells by a live virus (Isaacs & Lindenmann, 1957). Since then their importance as an early line of defense against viral infection has been made very clear. For example, IFN receptor knockout mice are extremely sensitive to both vaccinia and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus infections compared to wild type mice (van den Broek *et al.*, 1995).

The two basic groups of IFNs are referred to as Type I, or viral IFNs, (monomers) and Type II, or immune IFNs, (dimers). The major Type I IFNs, IFN- α and IFN- β , are produced mainly by leukocytes and fibroblasts, respectively, and bind to the same IFN- α/β receptor (Andrea *et al.*, 2002, Samuel, 2001). The major Type II interferon, IFN- γ , is produced mainly by lymphocytes and NK cells, and binds to the IFN- γ receptor (Andrea *et al.*, 2002, Samuel, 2001).

The signaling pathways of Type I and Type II IFNs are related. In both pathways, binding of IFN to the receptor initiates a cascade of phosphorylations beginning with the receptor-associated Janus kinases (JAKs), and leading to the phosphorylation and dimerization of the signal transducers and activators of transcription (STATs) (Stark *et al.*, 1998). The activated STAT dimers are released from the receptors and transported to the nucleus where they induce the transcription of ISGs by binding to either gamma-

activated sequence (GAS) or IFN-stimulated regulatory elements (ISREs) (Stark et al., 1998).

Specificity for either ISRE or GAS elements is influenced by factors such as the combination of STATS in the dimer, and the interaction of the dimer with a variety of other transcription factors (Stark et al., 1998). Activated STAT1 homodimers form in response to IFN- γ signaling and induce ISGs by binding to specific GAS elements (Darnell et al., 1994, Schindler & Darnell, 1995). The major transcription factor formed in response to IFN- α/β signaling is a trimer called ISGF3, which is composed of a STAT1-2 heterodimer bound to p48 (a member of the interferon regulatory factor family) (Stark et al., 1998). ISGF3 binds to specific ISREs sequences and drives the expression of most ISGs (Bluyssen *et al.*, 1995, John *et al.*, 1991). Also following IFN- α/β signaling, STAT1 homodimers and STAT1-2 heterodimers can form independently of p48. These bind GAS elements and can drive the expression of other ISGs (Haque & Williams, 1994, Li et al., 1996). Possibly due to secondary modifications, the STAT1 homodimer formed in response to IFN- α/β signaling does not induce the same ISGs as does the STAT1 homodimer formed in response to IFN- γ (Hague & Williams, 1994). These examples illustrate how a common pathway can lead to the expression of different combinations of ISGs that are tailored to respond effectively to a diversity of threats.

1.7.2 IFN-stimulated genes

The human genome encodes between 600 and 2,000 interferon stimulated genes (deVeer *et al.*, 2001); however, an antiviral state capable of inhibiting virus replication appears to require the induction of only a small group of ISGs. ISGs cause an antiviral state by targeting many steps of virus replication. For example, activation of PKR leads to the inhibition of translation

of both viral and cellular mRNA. (Clemens & Elia, 1997, Samuel, 1993). DsRNA triggers the activation and autophosphorylation of PKR, which can then associate with ribosomes and phosphorylate the eukaryotic initiation factor elF-2 α (Samuel, 1979). Phosphorylation of elF-2 α impairs the elF-2Bcatalyzed guaninie nucleotide exchange reaction, thereby inhibiting the translation of mRNA (Clemens & Elia, 1997, Samuel, 1993). Two ISGs, 2'5'-Oligoadenylate synthetase (OAS) and RNaseL, lead to the degradation of RNA (Samuel, 2001). DsRNA activates OAS which can then catalyze the formation of oligoadenylates with a 2'5'-phosphodiester bond linkage called 2'5'-Oligo Adenylic Acid (2-5A) (Kerr & Brown, 1978). 2-5A oligomers bind to the latent endoribonuclease RNase L, converting the inactive monomer to the active homodimer that degrades RNA (Dong & Silverman, 1995). The IFN inducible RNA-specific adenosine deaminase ADAR1 converts adenosine (A) to inosine (I) (Patterson et al., 1995). This leads to RNA editing because I is recognized as guanine (G) instead of A by ribosomes and polymerases (Samuel, 2001). Mx family proteins such as MxA and Mx1 are GTPases from the superfamily of dynamin-like GTPases (Van der Blick, 1999). In the absence of any other ISG products, Mx can prevent the replication of enveloped ssRNA viruses (Arnheiter et al., 1996, Regad & Chelbi-Alix, 2001). The GTPase interacts with viral nucleocapsids, interfering with their nuclear import and thereby preventing transcription (Kochs & Haller, 1999). ISG 56K binds to the p48 subunit of the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 3 (eIF-3), inhibiting its function (Guo et al., 2000).

IFN treatment results in an increase in the size and number of ND10 structures (Taylor *et al.*, 2000). At least 6 ND10 proteins are upregulated by IFN including: PML, Sp100, Sp110, Sp140, ISG20 and PA28 (Regad & Chelbi-Alix, 2001). Overexpression of PML inhibits VSV and influenza virus (Chelbi-Alix *et al.*, 1998), however the mechanism for this is unknown. Chee and colleagues found that HSV ICP0 mutants are very sensitive to IFN- α and - γ in

PML^{+/+} murine cells, while wild type virus is not, and that neither virus is affected by IFNs in PML^{-/-} cells (Chee *et al.*, 2003). These results suggest that PML mediates an anti-viral state induced by IFN; therefore, the virus targets ND10 and disrupts PML to avoid this inhibition (Chee *et al.*, 2003). However, HSV-1 replication appears to be unaffected by the overexpression of PML despite the fact that ND10 structure remain intact (Lopez *et al.*, 2002).

1.7.3 IFN-independent response

A number of alternate signaling pathways can lead to the induction of ISGs in the absence of interferon. For example: the binding of HCMV glycoprotein B to human fibroblasts, (Boyle *et al.*, 1999) and the presence of dsRNA (Bandyopadhyay *et al.*, 1995, Tiwari *et al.*, 1987). Recently, it has been discovered that infection of cells by HSV-1 can lead to an antiviral state in an IFN-independent manner. This aspect of HSV-1 infection was hidden by the ability of wild-type virus to prevent the induction of ISGs when infection is allowed to proceed normally (Mossman *et al.*, 2001, Nicholl *et al.*, 2000).

Experiments where HSV-1 gene expression was prevented following infection revealed the induction of ISGs (Eidson *et al.*, 2002, Mossman *et al.*, 2001, Nicholl *et al.*, 2000). Microarray analysis of cells infected with KM110, a VP16/ICP0 mutant severely defective in gene expression (Mossman & Smiley, 1999), or UV-inactivated KOS showed the induction of a subset of genes very similar to what was induced by IFN (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). Examples of these genes include MXI, OAS, and PML (Mossman *et al.*, 2001) which, as described previously, act to limit virus replication. Preston and colleagues found that ISG 54, IFI 56, ISG 15, 9-27 and MxA were induced upon infection of cells with HSV-1 under conditions where protein synthesis was prevented with cycloheximide (Nicholl *et al.*, 2000). Similarly, microarray analysis of cells infected with another HSV-1 mutant incapable of gene

expression, d109 (mutant in all 5 IE genes (Samaniego *et al.*, 1998)), led to the expression of many of the same ISGs as was seen by Mossman et al and Nicholl et al (Eidson *et al.*, 2002).

The antiviral response induced by HSV-1 is able to prevent plaque formation of a diverse set of RNA and DNA viruses. For example, HSV-1, vesicular stomatitis virus (VSV), and vaccinia were unable to form plaques on plates previously infected with the HSV-1 mutant KM110 (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, high MOI of the HSV-1 mutant d109 also lead to inhibition of wild type virus plaquing (Eidson *et al.*, 2002).

Independent lines of evidence strongly support that the induction of ISGs by HSV-1 occurs in the absence of IFN. Medium from infected cells did not induce expression of ISGs (Nicholl *et al.*, 2000) or lead to the inhibition of plaque formation (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). Also, the JAK/STAT components (TYK2, STAT1 and JAK1) that are important mediators of the IFN- α response were shown to be unnecessary for the induction of ISG54-specific RNA by HSV-1 (Nicholl *et al.*, 2000).

Entry of the HSV-1 virion is required for the antiviral state to be triggered in human fibroblasts (Mossman *et al.*, 2001, Preston *et al.*, 2001). Comparisons of the ability of viral envelope glycoprotein mutants in gD and gB showed that these viruses which are unable to enter cells do not induce ISG 56K RNA, a transcript strongly induced by KM110 infection (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). Similarly, gD and gH glycoprotein deficient viruses do not induce ISG 54-specific RNA (Preston *et al.*, 2001).

Further research done by Mossman and colleagues broadened the understanding of this occurrence by showing enveloped viruses in general, not just HSV-1, trigger an IFN-independent antiviral response following infection. The ability of a diverse set of UV-inactivated viruses to induce ISGs was compared with HSV-1 and vaccinia virus representing enveloped dsDNA viruses, VSV, New-Castle disease virus (NDV), and simian virus (SV)

representing enveloped –ve ssRNA viruses, and Adenovirus representing the noneveloped, dsDNA viruses. Of these viruses, only Adenovirus did not lead to the accumulation of ISG 56K or prevent plaque formation, indicating that the induction of the antiviral response in human and mouse fibroblasts requires an envelope (Collins *et al.*, 2004).

Important components involved in the induction of ISGs in response to entry of enveloped viruses have recently been discovered. Experiments done by Mossman and colleagues using primary mouse embryo fibroblasts deficient for various interferon response factors (IRFs) showed that the induction of ISGs in response to UV-inactivated HSV-1, VSV, VV, NDV, and SV requires IRF-3, but not IRF-1, IRF-7, or IRF-9 (Collins *et al.*, 2004). Further evidence for the involvement of IRF-3 comes from experiments done by Preston et al, who found that HSV-1 infection, in the presence of cycloheximide, induces a DNAbinding complex capable of recognizing an interferon-responsive sequence motif. The complex capable of binding ISREs includes the CREB-binding protein and IRF-3 (Preston *et al.*, 2001). Similar to the expression of ISGs, there was a severe decrease in the amounts of this complex under conditions of normal HSV-1 replication (Preston *et al.*, 2001).

Following stimuli such as virus infection or dsRNA, IRF-3 is activated by phosphorylation and dimerizes. Activated IRF-3 is translocated to the nucleus where it induces ISGs (Peters *et al.*, 2002, Toshchakov *et al.*, 2002). Recently, two groups have shown that activation of IRF-3 in response to viruses or dsRNA involves IKB kinase homologs; IKB kinase- ϵ (IKK ϵ) and TANK-binding kinase-1 (TBK1) (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 2003, Sharma *et al.*, 2003). Fitzgerald and colleagues also suggest the involvement of Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) and TRIF (TIR domain containing adaptor inducing IFN) for activation of IRF3 (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 2003).

ICP0 is very important in mediating resistance to IFN (Harle *et al.*, 2002, Mossman *et al.*, 2000). Mossman and colleagues found that wild type virus is

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

relatively unaffected by the affects of IFN- α in tissue culture, while ICP0 mutants are severely inhibited (Mossman *et al.*, 2000). In addition to this, ICP0 mutants are not inhibited for replication in IFN- α/β receptor knockout mice (Leib *et al.*, 1999). Both expression of ICP0 and proteasome function are necessary to inhibit induction of ISGs following virus infection (Eidson *et al.*, 2002). ICP0 blocks IRF-3 and IRF-7 in a RING-finger dependent manner (Lin *et al.*, 2004); however, as it is still unknown how HSV-1activates the IRF-3 pathway, the exact mechanism ICP0 uses to inhibit IRF3 activity is unclear as well (Lin *et al.*, 2004). ISG induction is not blocked by the degradation of proteins known to be part of the virus induced IRF3 pathway including TBK-1, IKK ϵ , IRF-3, and CBP (Lin *et al.*, 2004), therefore, further study is needed to determine the mechanism.

1.8 Experimental Rational

Previous experiments done by Harris et al suggest that ICP0 mutants are incapable of reactivating a quiescent genome. In these experiments fibroblast cells were infected with a low MOI HSV-2 to establish quiescence then superinfected with an ICP0 mutant (Harris *et al.*, 1989). There was no evidence of replication of the HSV-2 genome, although there was evidence that the ICP0 mutant had replicated. This result is interesting because it suggests that, although one viral genome is able to undergo transcription and replication, another, almost identical viral genome is prevented from doing the same. However, these results are ambiguous because the low MOI of HSV-2 used to establish quiescence, combined with the low MOI of ICP0 mutant used for superinfection leads to the possibility that the ICP0 mutant replicated strictly in cells that did not harbour quiescent HSV-2.

Research done by Mossman et al and Nicholl et al led to the suspicion that ICP0 mutants may be incapable of infecting cells that harbour a quiescent

genome. They found that, upon infection, the virus particle induces an antiviral response in cells (Mossman *et al.*, 2001, Nicholl *et al.*, 2000). This anti-viral response leads to the induction of many of the same genes as the interferon response. However, unlike wild-type HSV-1, the quiescent mutant is incapable of disarming this response (Mossman *et al.*, 2001, Nicholl *et al.*, 2000). In addition to this, ICP0 mutants are far more sensitive to IFN- α than is wild-type HSV-1 (Mossman *et al.*, 2000). Therefore, when I began this project, it was unknown whether the presence of a replicating, ICP0 mutant HSV-1 genome is capable of reactivating a quiescent genome.

My project has been to develop an experimental system that can be used to determine if ICP0 mutants are capable of productively infecting cells that harbour a quiescent genome. To do this, I constructed fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains. Products resulting from the quiescent genome and the superinfecting genome can be discriminated by: colour of the fluorescent protein, presence of genomic restriction sites, and protein size. With these viruses I was able to determine the proportion of cells that harbour a quiescent genome, as well as the proportion that could be productively superinfected with the ICP0 mutant. Using a high MOI of both infecting and superinfecting viruses, I have been able to determine that an ICP0 mutant is capable of overcoming the antiviral response and replicating in cells that harbour the guiescent genome. However, superinfection with the ICP0 mutant does not lead to reactivation of the quiescent genome. The quiescent genome remains silent despite the presence of all the necessary transcription and replication machinery, indicating that it has been converted into an inaccessible state or put into an inaccessible place.

Figure 1.1: Schematic diagrams of the ICP0 transcript and functional domains.

(A) ICP0 transcript showing 2 introns (thin inverted-V lines) and 3 exons (thick lines) and the 3' non-coding region (thin line). Exon 1 encodes amino acid (a.a.) residues 1-19, exon 2 encodes a.a. residues 20-241, exon 3 encodes a.a residues 242-775. From (Boutell *et al.*, 2002). (B) Diagram of ICP0 functional domains. The clear boxes indicate domain regions. RING = RING finger zinc-binding motif. NLS = nuclear localization signal. USP7 = ubiquitin specific protease 7 binding domain. ND10 = nuclear domain 10 localization domain. Multimer = self-interaction domain (same domain as ND10). The numbers indicate a.a. residues 1-775. From (Everett, 2000b).





B.

Α.



Figure 1.2: Poly-ubiquitin signal for proteasomal degradation.

Ubiquitin (Ub) is activated by the action of the E1 ubiquitin activating enzyme (E1); converting 1 molecule of ATP (adenosine triphosphate) to AMP (adenosine monophosphate). The activated ubiquitin is transferred first to the E2 conjugating enzyme (E2), then, with the help of the E3 ubiquitin ligase (E3), to the target protein (target). Poly-ubiquitination of the target protein is the signal for its degradation by the 26S proteasome. From (Sakamoto, 2002).



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

CHAPTER 2 : MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Mammalian Cell Culture

Human U2OS osteosarcoma cells, Human Embryonic Lung (HEL) fibroblasts and African green monkey kidney (Vero) cells were obtained from the American Type Culture Collection. E5 and V27 (Vero derived) cells were gifts from N. A. DeLuca and S. Rice respectively. Cells were maintained in 150 cm² tissue culture flasks (Corning) with 25 mls of Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Gibco) supplemented with 10% (U2OS and HEL) or 5% (Vero) fetal bovine serum (FBS), 50 units/ml penicillin (P) and 5 µg/ml streptomycin (S). E5 and V27 cells were additionally supplemented with 100 µg/ml G418 (Geneticin[®], GIBCO). The flasks were incubated at 37°C in a humidified atmosphere supplemented with 5% CO₂. The cells were passaged when confluent (every two to three days) by trypsinizing the cells until they were no longer attached to the flask (Trypsin, Gibco), resuspending them in DMEM/FBS, and reseeding to approximately 25% confluency.

HEL cells were passaged only 6-7 times, while U20S and Vero cells were passaged up to 45 times before thawing fresh cells. Monolayers of confluent U2OS or Vero cells were prepared by seeding 2.5 x 10^5 (12-well) or 5 x 10^5 cells (6-well) in tissue culture plates (Corning) the day before use. Monolayers of confluent HEL cells were prepared by seeding 2.5 x 10^5 (12-well) or 1 x 10^6 cells (60 mm) in tissue culture plates two days before use. The concentration of cells was determined before seeding using a hemacytometer.

2.2 Virus Strains and Growth Conditions

The following virus strains were used in this investigation:

Materials and Methods

KOS 1.1 is a wild type virus. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on Vero cells.

n212 (Cai & Schaffer, 1989) is an ICP0 mutant virus. Both copies of the ICP0 gene bear a *Spe* I linker which contains an amber chain termination codon that results in the truncation of the ICP0 protein immediately after amino acid residue 212. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on U2OS cells. **KM110** (Mossman & Smiley, 1999) is a VP16/ICP0 double mutant virus. The VP16 gene bears a *Nhe* I linker which contains an amber chain termination codon that results in the truncation of the VP16 protein immediately after amino acid residue 422. Both copies of the ICP0 gene of this virus are disrupted by the *Spe* I linker described above for n212. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on U20S cells in the presence of 3mM HMBA. **d120** (DeLuca *et al.*, 1985) is an ICP4 mutant virus. Both copies of the ICP4 gene remains, only the amino terminus of ICP4 is encoded by d120. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on E5 cells (DeLuca & Schaffer, 1987) (a derivative of Vero cells with an integrated copy of wild type ICP4).

d22IacZ (Long *et al.*, 1999) is an ICP22 mutant virus. All but the first six codons of the ICP22 gene are deleted. Additionally, the ICP22 gene has an inframe insertion of the *E. coli* lacZ ORF. The resulting protein contains the first six amino acid residues of ICP22 fused to β -galactosidase. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on Vero cells.

d27-1 (Rice & Knipe, 1990) is an ICP27 mutant virus. The ICP27 gene of the parental d27-lacZ1 virus has a 1.6 kbp deletion. This deletion prevents the production of any ICP27 related polypeptides. Stocks of this virus were grown and titered on V27 cells (Rice & Knipe, 1990) (a derivative of Vero cells with an integrated copy of wild type ICP27).

Materials and Methods

2.3 Amplification of Virus Stocks

Confluent monolayers of a permissive cell line grown in 150 cm² flasks were infected with an MOI of 0.1-0.5 of virus in 5 mls DMEM for 1hr at 37°C. with rocking every 15 min. The innoculum was replaced with medium 199 + P/S (Gibco) supplemented with 10% FBS. Infected cells were incubated at 34 or 37°C in a humidified atmosphere supplemented with 5% CO₂. After the majority of the cells exhibited total cytopathic effect (CPE) (3-5 days postinfection), they were pelleted by centrifugation at 2800 rpm for 10 min at 4°C in a Beckman G5-R swinging bucket centrifuge. The cell pellet was resuspended in 1 ml DMEM/flask then subjected to three rounds of freezing for 15 min at -80°C and thawing at 37°C. The cells were disrupted by three sonication cycles of 20 seconds each with a 550 Sonic Dismembrator (Fisher Scientific) at setting 7. Cell debris was separated by centrifugation at 3000 rpm for 10 min in a swinging bucket centrifuge at 4°C and the supernatant was kept as part of the final viral stock. The pellet was resupsended in 0.2 ml DMEM/flask, and the sonication and centrifugation steps were repeated. The two supernatants were combined and stored in cryovials (Nalgene) at -80°C.

2.4 Virus Titration

Virus stocks were titrated using ten-fold dilutions ranging from 10⁻² to 10⁻⁷ prepared in DMEM. 0.25 ml of each dilution was used to infect each well of confluent monolayers of permissive cells grown in 12-well plates (Corning). The infection was allowed to proceed for 1 hour at 37°C, with rocking every 15 minutes. The innoculum was replaced with 1 ml of medium 199 + P/S supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% human immune serum (ICN). After plaques developed they were counted either by using a light microscope with the aid of a grid drawn on the bottom of the culture plate, or the monolayer

2.5 Virus Infection

The number of cells in a confluent monolayer of cells grown on a 12-well or 60 mm plate was determined using a hemacytometer. The cells were infected with either 250 μ l (12-well) or 1ml (60 mm) of virus diluted to the desired MOI in DMEM. The infection was allowed to proceed for 1 hr at 37°C, with rocking every 15. The infecting medium was replaced with 1 ml (12-well) or 5 mls (60 mm) of 10% DMEM. The plates were incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere for the indicated amount of time before being harvested for analysis.

2.6 Acid Glycine Wash

2 hrs post-infection, the growth media from monolayers of HEL cells grown in 12 well plates was aspirated. The cells were then incubated with 1 ml Acid Glycine wash (8 g/L NaCl, 1.8 g/L KCl, 0.1 g/L MgCl₂•6H₂O, 0.1 g/L CaCl₂•6H₂O, 7.5 g/L glycine, pH 3) for 30 seconds. After two washes with 1 ml Phosphate Buffered Saline (PBS: 10 mg/ml NaCl, 0.25 mg/ml KCl, 1.8 mg/ml Na₂HPO₄, 0.3 mg/ml KH₂PO₄, pH 7.5), regular growth media was added.

2.7 Western Analysis

Monolayers of HEL or U2OS cells grown on 12-well plates were washed with 1 ml PBS, then resuspended in 100 µl SDS PAGE lysis buffer (10mM Tris-HCl, 2% SDS, 0.005% bromophenol blue, 25% glycerol, 0.031g/ml DTT, pH 6.8). The samples were boiled at 100°C for 5 min before loading 5 µl onto a

Materials and Methods

12% acrylamide SDS PAGE gel along with 10 μl pre-stained SDS-PAGE standards, Low Range (BIO-RAD). The gel was electrophoresed for 1-2 hrs at 80 V in 1 X SDS PAGE buffer. Protein was transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Hybond ECL, Ambersham Pharmacia) using a wet protein transfer apparatus (Bio-Rad Trans-blot cell) at 1.8 A for 3 hrs. Following the transfer, the membrane was incubated in 10 % skim milk TBS-Tween (25 mM Tris, pH 8, 150 mM NaCl, 0.1 % Tween-20) overnight at 4°C.

The following dilutions of primary Ab were used in this investigation: monoclonal anti-VP16 (LP1) (McLean *et al.*, 1982) 1:16 000; monoclonal anti-U_S11 (Roller & Roizman, 1992) 1:10 000; and monoclonal anti β -actin (Sigma Aldrich) 1:5 000. The membrane was incubated with the primary Ab diluted in TBS-Tween/5% skim milk for 30 min at RT then washed three times for 10 min in TBS-Tween. The membrane was then incubated with secondary Ab; goat anti-mouse IgG-HRP (BioRad) diluted 1:3000 in TBS-Tween/5% skim milk, for 30 min at RT. After washing three times as before, the membrane was developed using ECL+plus system (Amersham Biosciences) according to the manufacture's instructions. The signal was detected by exposure to Fuji Super RX X-Ray film and quantified by phosho-imager analysis on a Storm 860 (Molecular Dynamics). The results were analyzed with the software program Image Quant for Macintosh version 1.2.

2.8 Indirect Immunofluorescence Assay

2.8.1 Cell Monolayer

Monolayers of HEL cells grown on 18 mm coverslips (Fisher Scientific) in a 12 well plate were fixed by washing twice with 1 ml PBS and incubating in 400 μ l Fix solution (PBS with 5% formaldehyde, 2% sucrose) for 10 min at RT. The cells were then permeabilized by washing twice with 1 ml PBS and

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Materials and Methods —

incubating in 400 μ l Permeabilization solution (PBS with 0.6% NonidetP-40, 10% sucrose) for 10 min at RT. After washing twice more with 1 ml PBS/1% FBS, the cells were incubated with 100 μ l primary ICP4 Ab (1114, Goodwin Institute) diluted 1:1000 in PBS/1%FBS for 1hr at RT, and washed six times with PBS/1% FBS over 15 min. For the secondary Ab, the cells were incubated in 100 μ l Alexa Fluor[®] 488 goat anti-mouse IgG (Molecular Probes) diluted 1:1000 in PBS/1%FBS for 1 hr at RT and washed six times as before. The cell nuclei were stained by incubating in 100 μ l of 500 ng/ml Hoescht 33342 (Molecular Probes) in PBS solution for 10 min at RT, protected from the light. After washing three times in PBS/1% FBS, the coverslips were dipped in H₂O, and allowed to dry for 15 min at RT, protected from the light. The coverslips were mounted on the slides using 20 μ l Vectashield mounting media, and secured with clear nail polish.

2.8.2 Cell Suspension

Monolayers of HEL cells grown on 12 well plates were washed with 1 ml PBS and trypsinized with 500 μ l trypsin until the cells were dissociated. The trypsin was inactivated by resuspending the cells in 500 μ l DMEM/10%FBS. The media was removed by spinning at 2400 rpm in a Beckman G5-R swinging bucket centrifuge for 10 min at 4°C, and aspirating the supernatant. The cells were washed by resuspending in 400 μ l PBS and centrifuging under the same conditions. To fix the cells, the pellet was resuspended in 400 μ l fix solution (PBS with 5% formaldehyde, 2% sucrose) and incubated for 10 min at RT. Following one wash, the cells were permeabilized by resuspending in 400 μ l permeabilization solution (PBS with 0.6% NP40, 10% sucrose) and incubating for 10 min at RT, and washed in 400 μ l wash buffer (0.1% Tween in PBS). The cells were resuspended and blocked for 1 hr in 400 μ l blocking buffer (2% goat serum, a 1:1000 dilution of Human Fc, and 0.1% Tween in PBS), then washed

Materials and Methods 53 once in 400 μ l wash buffer. Both the primary and secondary Abs were diluted in blocking buffer. Primary Abs used include: monoclonal Ab to U_s11 (Roller & Roizman, 1992), used at a 1:1000 dilution, and monoclonal Ab to gC (C3, donated by Dr. J. C. Glorioso), used at a 1:1000 dilution. A 1:1000 dilution of Alexa Fluor[®] 488 goat anti-mouse lgG (Molecular Probes) was used for the secondary Ab. Incubation with the primary and secondary Abs was done sequentially. For each of these steps, the cells were resuspended and incubated in 200 μ l Ab solution for 1 hr at RT, then washed twice in wash buffer. Lastly, the cells were resuspended in 500 μ l blocking buffer and transferred to a 5 ml Falcon tube for FACS analysis.

2.9 Northern Analysis

Monolayers of HEL cells grown in 60 mm plates were washed with 5 mls PBS, then incubated in 1 ml Trizol at RT for 5 min. A cell scraper was used to collect the cells for extraction in 0.2 ml chloroform per ml of Trizol. Following the addition of the chloroform, the mixture was shaken for 20 seconds by hand and centrifuged (Eppendorf centrifuge 5417C) at 11 000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C. The upper layer was transferred to a certified RNAse free eppendorf tube (Rose Scientific Ltd) and incubated with 0.5 ml isopropanol for 15 min at RT before centrifuging again under the same conditions. The pellet was washed with 0.5 ml 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 11 000 rpm for 5 min at 4°C. The supernatant was removed and the pellet was allowed to dry for about 5 min before resuspending in 30 μ l DEPC water. The samples were stored at -80°C.

The RNA concentration of the samples was determined with an Ultrospec 3000 (Pharmacia) spectrometer at 260 nm. For each sample, 10 μ g of RNA was mixed with 23 μ l of loading buffer (3 μ l of 10 X MOPS, 5 μ l of formaldehyde, and 15 μ l of formamide). 2 μ g of RNA MillenniumTM Size Markers (Ambion) was

– Materials and Methods ———

also mixed with 30 μl of loading buffer. The markers and samples were denatured for 15 min at 60°C and transferred to ice for 2 min before loading onto a 1% agarose, 2% formaldehyde, and 1X MOPS gel. The combs and gel tray used to make the gel were treated with RNaseZap[®] (Ambion). The gel was run for approximately 2 hrs at 100V in 1X MOPS running buffer. The gel was then stained with SYBR Gold Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Molecular Probes) according the manufacturer's instructions and quantified by phosho-imager analysis on a Storm 860 (Molecular Dynamics). RNA was transferred to a GeneScreen Plus nylon membrane (NEN Life Sciences Products) in 10 X SSC (1.5 M sodium chloride, 150mM sodium citrate). The membrane was UV-cross linked using a Statalinker 2400 (Stratagene) before being hybridized to a ³²P-labeled probe. The ³²P signal was detected by exposure to Kodak BioMax MS film at -80°C and quantified by phosho-imager analysis on a Storm 860 (Molecular Dynamics). Results were analyzed with the software program Image Quant for Macintosh version 1.2.

2.10 Southern Analysis

Monolayers of HEL or U2OS cells grown on 12 well plates were washed once in 1 ml PBS, then incubated in 400 µl cell lysis buffer (10 mM Tris pH 7.5, 1 mM EDTA, 0.6 % SDS, 1 X protease K) for 3 hrs at 37°C. The DNA solution was extracted in equal volume pure phenol by rotating for 20 min at RT, and spinning (Eppendorf centrifuge 5417C) at 14 000 rpm for 15 min. The upper layer was extracted in chloroform using the same process then precipitated by mixing with 1/10 volumes 3M NaOAC and 2 volumes 95% ethanol and incubating for 1 hr at -80°C. After spinning at 14 000 rpm for 15 min at 4°C, the DNA was washed with 0.5 mls 70% ethanol and centrifuged at 14 000 rpm for 5 at RT. The liquid was aspirated and the DNA was allowed to dry for

------ Materials and Methods ------ 5 1 hr before being resuspended in 65 μl Buffer P1 (Qiagen) and incubated at 37°C for 20 min. The samples were stored at -20°C.

10 μl of the DNA was restriction digested with *Bam* HI/*Nhe* I, *Sst* I/*Spe* I/*Pst* I, or *Pvu* II. Following restriction digest, the samples and 10 μl 1kbp DNA ladders (GeneRuler) were run on a 1 % agarose in Tris-acetate EDTA (TAE) gel for 2 hrs at 80 V in TAE buffer. The gel was then stained with SYBR Gold Nucleic Acid Gel Stain (Molecular Prob(s) according the manufacturer's instructions and quantified by phosho-imager analysis on a Storm 860 (Molecular Dynamics). The gel was washed sequentially in the following solutions for 15 min each: 0.25 M HCl, 0.5 M NaOH, 1 M Tris/1.5 M NaCl, and 10 X SSC. DNA was transferred to a GeneScreen Plus nylon membrane (NEN Life Sciences Products) in 10 X SSC. The membrane was UV-cross linked using Statalinker 2400 (Stratagene) before being hybridized to a ³²P-labelled probe. The ³²P signal was detected by exposure to Kodak BioMax MS film at -80°C and quantified by phospho-imager analysis on a Storm 860 (Molecular Dynamics). Results were analyzed with the software program Image Quant for Macintosh version 1.2.

2.11 Probes

2.11.1 Template DNA

Template DNA for ³²P-labeled probe was either amplified by PCR or isolated by restriction digest. The following sets of plasmids and primers or restriction enzymes were used to make the probes for this investigation:

DsRed2 probe: Plasmid: pDsRed2-C1 (CLONTECH) Primer 1: GGG CCA CAA CAC CGT GAA GCT G Primer 2: CGC GGT ACC GTC GAC TGC AG

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

------ Materials and Methods ----

603 bp probe fragment

EGFP probe: Plasmid: pEGFP-C1 (CLONTECH) Primer 1: CAG ATC CGC TAG CGC TAC C Primer 2: TTT CCA TGG ATC TAG ATC CGG TGG A 821 bp probe fragment

VP16 probe: Plasmid: pVP16-KOS (Weinheimer *et al.*, 1992) Primer 1: CGC CGT CGG GCG TCC CAC AC Primer 2: CGG GGG ATG CGG ATC CGG TCG CGC 1567 bp probe fragment

ICP0 probe: Plasmid: pSHZ (Nabel *et al.*, 1988) Restriction enzymes: *Bam*H I/*Xho* I 431 bp probe fragment

TK probe:Plasmid: pTK173 (Varmuza & Smiley, 1985)Restriction enzymes:Sac I/Sma I

662 bp probe fragment

ISG 56K probe: Plasmid: IMAGE clone 325364 for ISG-56K (Invitrogen) Primer 1: CCC AGT CAC GAC GAC GTT GTA AAA CG Primer 2: AGC GGA TAA CAA TTT CAC ACA CG 1325 bp probe fragment

2.11.2 ³²P labeling

 $2 \ \mu g$ of DNA random primers was mixed with 250 ng of template DNA in 25 $\mu l \ H_2 0$. The DNA-primer mixture was denatured at 100°C for 5 min and

Materials and Methods 57 then placed on ice for 2 min. Random priming was initiated by the addition of 7 μl oligo labelling buffer, 2 μl BSA (10mg/mL), 5 μl α -³²P dCTP, and 1 μl 10 X Klenow buffer. After incubating at 37°C for 30 min, the volume was adjusted to 100 μl by adding 50 μl TE (10mM Tris, pH 7.0, 1 mM EDTA), and the DNA was extracted with equal volume phenol chloroform. After spinning (Eppendorf centrifuge 5417C) at 14 000 rpm for 5 min at RT, the upper layer was removed and passed through a Nick column (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) to remove unincorporated nucleotides. The probe was eluted in 500 μl TE, and the radioactive counts were determined using a Beckman LS 6500 scintillation detector.

2.11.3 Hybridization

Blots from Southern or Northern analysis were incubated with 6 mls prewarmed Express Hybridization Solution (BD Biosciences) at 68°C for 15 min while being rotated in a H1 16000 hybridization incubator (Tyler Research Instruments). The ³²P-labelled probe was denatured at 100°C for 5 min then cooled on ice for 2 min before it was added to the blot by mixing into the Express Hybridization Solution. The blot was incubated with the probe (1 x 10^7 counts per blot) for 1 hr at 68°C while being rotated in the hybridization oven. Following the hybridization, the blot was rinsed one time with 30 mls Express Hybridization Wash 1 solution (0.5% 20X SSC, 0.1% SDS), then washed two more times in the same solution for 20 min while being rotated at RT. The blot was washed three times in 30 mls Express Hybridization Wash 2 solution (10% 20X SSC, 0.05% SDS) for 15 min while being rotated at 50°C. Following the washes the blot was wrapped in saran wrap for analysis and stored at -20° C.
2.11.4 Oligonucleotide Probe

The GAPDH ³²P-labeled oligonucleotide probe was made and hybridized to the Northern blot described in Results Section 3.3 by R. Doepker using the West-Neat protocol as described in R. Doepker et al (Doepker *et al.*, 2004). GAPDH probe sequence: 5' TTG ACT CCG ACC TTC ACC TTC CCC AT 3'.

2.12 FACS Analysis

Monolayers of cells were prepared for FACS analysis by trypsinizing until the cells were dissociated from the growth surface, resuspending in DMEM and transferring to a 5 ml Falcon tube. Fluorescence was quantified by passing the cells through a Becton Dickson FACScan and analyzed using CellQuest Software.

2.13 Microscope Analysis

Light Microscope: Olympus CK40.

Fluorescent Microscope: Olympus BX40 (for slides), Leica DMIRB (for plates). A FITC filter was used for EGFP, and a Rhodamine filter was used for DsRed2. Pictures were taken with Spot Diagnostic Instruments Inc. camera using SPOT Advanced software.

Confocal Microscope: Zeiss LSM 510, 2 photon Laser Scanning Microscope system with two lasers giving excitation lines at 488 nm (for Alexa Fluor 488) and 780 nm (for Hoescht stain), and using a 40x oil immersion objective lens.

2.14 Plasmids

2.14.1 Production of pTK-Red and pTK-Green

The bacterial expression plasmid pTK173 (a gift from Dr. F. L. Graham, McMaster University) contains the HSV-1 thymidine kinase gene, ampicillin resistance genes, and PBR322 plasmid replication origin. To prepare pTK173 for an insertion into its thymidine kinase gene, the plasmid was linearized with *Sst* I and the ends were made blunt with T4 DNA polymerase.

The 1.6 kbp *Ase* I-*Mlu* I fragment of pEGFP-C1 (CLONTECH) and pDsRed2-C1 (CLONTECH) contains the human cytomegalovirus immediate early (CMV IE) promoter, the fluorescent gene *Discosoma sp.* Human codon-optimized Red Fluorescent protein (DsRed2) or enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP), a multiple cloning site (MCS), and a Simian virus 40 early mRNA polyadenylation (SV40 Poly A). These fragments were made blunt with the Klenow fragment of DNA polymerase I.

The pTK173 vector and insert fragment from pEGFP-C1 or pDsRed2-C1 were ligated together with DNA ligase. For a diagram of the resulting plasmids, pTK-Red and pTK-Green, see Figure 3.1.1. To ensure their accuracy, the plasmids pTK-Red and pTK-green were sequenced using the primers TK 5' (CTC ATA TCG GGG GGG AGG CTG GG) and TK 3' (AGG GCC GGG GGC GGG GCA TGT G) and a Beckman Coulter CEQ2000XL DNA Sequencing System at the Biochemistry DNA Services Laboratory, Faculty of Medicine, University of Alberta.

2.14.2 Amplification in E. coli

Plasmids were maintained and amplified in the *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*) strain XL1-Blue (F⁻: Tn10proA⁺B⁺lacl⁹ Δ (lacZ)MIS/recAlendAlgyrA96(Nal⁻) <u>thi</u>hsdRl7(r_K·m_K⁺)gInV44relAllac). Transformation of *E. coli* was achieved by combining 40 µl of XL1-Blue cells with 50 ng of plasmid DNA and pulsing at

------ Materials and Methods ------ 60

1.8 of a BIORAD Gene Pulser II. Colonies transformed with the recombinant plasmids pTK-Red or pTK-Green were selected with ampicillin (100 µg/ml) on Luria-Bertani (LB: 1.0% bacto-tryptone, 0.5% yeast extract, 1.0% NaCl) agar plates (1.5% agar). Transformed colonies were cultured at 37°C in LB medium supplemented with 100 µg/ml of ampicillin while being shaken at approximately 250 rpm. Plasmids were isolated from bacterial culture using GenElute[™] Plasmid Maxiprep kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. The concentration of the plasmids was determined with an Ultrospec 3000 (Pharmacia) spectrometer at 260 nm.

2.15 Production of Fluorescent Recombinant viruses

2.15.1 Preparation of infectious viral DNA

The virus was amplified by infecting a permissive cell line (grown in 150 cm² tissue culture flasks) with a MOI of 10 PFU/cell in 5 mls DMEM. The flasks were incubated at 37°C for 1 hour, with rocking every 15 min. The innoculum was replaced with 25 mls DMEM, and the infected cells were incubated at 37°C with 5% CO₂. After complete CPE was observed (24-48 h post-infection), the cells were centrifuged at 2700 rpm for 12 min at 4°C in a swinging bucket centrifuge, and the supernatant was discarded. The cell pellet was washed in PBS then re-pelleted by centrifuging under the same conditions as before. After discarding the supernatant, the cells were lysed by the addition of 10% SDS. Protein was removed from the extracts first by overnight treatment with 100 μ g/ml of proteinase K at 37°C followed by four extractions with 4 ml of phenol/chloroform. The extract was dialyzed at 4°C against 0.1 X SSC for 3 days, with the buffer changed twice daily. The infectious DNA was stored at 4°C.

2.15.2 Co-transfection of U2OS cells

The pTK-Red or pTK-Green plasmids were restriction digested with the enzyme *Afl* III. *Afl* III has two restriction sites in the TK sequence of these plasmids: one located 400bp upstream and one 400bp downstream of the fluorescent insert fragment. 350 ng of the digested pTK-Red or pTK-Green plasmid was combined with 1300-2800 ng of infectious HSV DNA, 8 μ l of Fugene (Roche), and 92 μ l DMEM. The mixture was added drop-wise to monolayers of U2OS cells grown in 6 well plates (50-80% confluent), which were then incubated at 37°C in a 5% CO₂ humidified atmosphere. After complete CPE was observed (5 to 7 days later), the cells were harvested, subjected to three freeze thaws and disrupted with a 550 Sonic Dismembrator. Cellular debris was removed by centrifugation at 2000 rpm for 10 min at 4°C in a swinging bucket centrifuge and the supernatant was transferred to 5 ml falcon tubes and stored at -80°C.

2.15.3 Plaque Purification

Virus stocks obtained from co-transfection were titrated using ten-fold dilutions ranging from 10^{-1} to 10^{-6} prepared in DMEM. 0.5 ml of each dilution was used to infect 6-well plates of confluent monolayers of U2OS cells. 1 hour post-infection the innoculum was replaced with 2 mls of DMEM supplemented with 10% FBS and 1% human immune serum, and 10 µg/mL acyclovir (Sigma). The plates were incubated at 37° C and 5% CO₂ and plaques were allowed to develop. Isolated fluorescent plaques were identified using a fluorescent microscope with an FITC filter to illuminate EGFP, and a Rhodamine filter to illuminate DsRed2, and marked with a black Sharpie. The media was removed from wells with marked plaques and replaced with 2 mls of 1% agarose. The

agarose was allowed to set for half an hour at RT, then plugs were picked from the marked area using a plastic micro-pipette tip, and stored in 0.28 ml DMEM.

The virus was released from cells in the plug by three rounds of freezing at -80°C for 15 min and thawing in a 37°C water bath. The samples were then amplified by infecting confluent monolayers of U2OS cells grown on 12-well plates. 1 hour post-infection the innoculum was replaced with 1 mL of DMEM/10% FBS and the plates were incubated at 37°C until CPE was observed. Plaque purification was repeated at least 3 times until no nonfluorescent virus was detected by titration of the stocks, and the recombinant viral DNA pattern (observed by Southern blotting) was pure.

CHAPTER 3 : RESULTS

3.1 Construction of fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains

Fluorescent recombinant strains of wild type HSV-1 strain KOS and the KOS mutants n212 (ICP0⁻) (Cai & Schaffer, 1989) and KM110 (ICP0⁻/VP16⁻) (Mossman & Smiley, 1999) were constructed in order to develop an experimental system that would allow us to determine if ICP0 mutants are capable of productively infecting cells that harbour a quiescent viral genome. The plasmids pTK-Red and pTK-Green were first constructed. These plasmids contain genes encoding red fluorescence protein (DsRed2) and enhanced green fluorescence protein (EGFP), derived from the plasmids pDsRed2 and EGFP-C1 respectively, inserted into the vector plasmid pTK173 in the middle of the HSV-1 early gene thymidine kinase (TK). See Figure 3.1.1 for a diagram of these plasmids and Materials and Methods for details on their construction. U20S cells were co-transfected with the plasmids pTK-Red or pTK-Green and the infectious DNA of HSV-1 strains KOS, n212, or KM110. This allowed for the insertion of a fluorescence gene, under the control of the CMV E promoter, into the TK locus of the HSV genome by homologous recombination: disrupting the TK gene. The genome structures of the recombinant viruses KOS-Green (KOS-G), n212-Green (n212-G), and KM110-Red (KM110-R) are diagramed in Figure 3.1.2. The TK locus was chosen for the site of homologous recombination both because TK is nonessential in tissue culture (Roizman & Knipe, 2001) and because recombinant strains can be selected for in the presence of acyclovir. Acyclovir is a nucleoside analog that inhibits the replication of TK⁺ HSV, but not of TK⁻ virus (Elion et al., 1977, Moolten, 1986). The specificity of acyclovir is a result of its dependency on phosphorylation by viral TK before it can be incorporated into newly synthesized DNA and result in chain termination (Elion et al., 1977, Reardon & Spector, 1989).

3.1.1 Southern blot analysis

The recombinant viruses were subjected to at least three rounds of plaque purification (described in Materials and Methods) where recombinants were selected based on both acyclovir resistance and production of the fluorescent protein. Following plaque purification the recombinant viruses were analyzed by Southern blot and compared to parental strains in order to confirm their identity (Figure 3.1.4). KOS, n212, KM110, KOS-G, n212-G, and KM110-R were amplified on U2OS cells for 24 hrs before the infected cells were harvested and the DNA was isolated. DNA from each of the virus strains was allocated for five restriction digests: one for each of a *Bam*H I/*Nhe* I double digest and a *Sst* I/*Spe* I/*Pst* I triple digest, and three for *Pvu* II restriction digests. The samples were electrophoresed through agarose gels, then transferred to nylon membranes. The five resulting membranes (corresponding to each of the five restriction digests) were hybridized to ³²P-labelled probes for VP16, ICP0, TK, EGFP, or DsRed2 and exposed to X-Ray film.

Figure 3.1.3 illustrates the expected DNA fragment sizes arising from the VP16, ICP0 and TK loci for each of the virus strains. The wild type (wt) VP16 locus is borne by an 8.1 kbp *Bam*H I fragment which lacks internal *Nhe* I sites. In contrast, the V422 mutant (mt) form of the VP16 gene (Lam *et al.*, 1996) borne by KM110 and KM110-R bears a *Nhe* I restriction site, which is part of the chain terminating oligonucleotide used to construct the V422 mutation. Therefore, a *Bam*H I/*Nhe* I double digest is predicted to yield a single 8.1 kbp VP16 fragment from wt DNA (Figure 1.3A left), and two fragments of 4.9 and 3.2 kbp for mt DNA (Figure 1.3A right). The results of the Southern analysis show that, as expected, KOS, n212, KOS-G and n212-G all have an approximately 8.1 kbp fragment indicating a wt VP16 gene (Figure

1.4A lanes 2, 3, 5 and 6). In contrast, KM110 and KM110-R each have approximately 4.9 and a 3.2 kbp bands (Figure 1.4A lanes 4 and 7), indicating that they bear the *Nhe* I linker that marks the V422 VP16 mutation. The larger, 4.9 kbp band, is fainter than the 3.2 kbp band because the VP16 probe recognizes a much smaller portion of the 4.9 kbp fragment (Figure 1.3A left).

The wt ICP0 locus is borne by a 6.2 kbp *Sst I/Pst* I fragment which lacks internal *Spe* I sites. In contrast, the n212 mt form of the ICP0 gene (Cai & Schaffer, 1989) borne by n212, KM110, n212-G and KM110-R bears a *Spe* I restriction site, which is part of the chain terminating oligonucleotide used to construct the n212 mutation. Therefore, a *Sst I/Spe I/Pst* I triple digest is predicted to yield a single 6.2 kbp ICP0 fragment from wt DNA (Figure 1.3B left), and a single 2.4 kbp fragment from mt DNA (Figure 1.3B right). The results of the Southern analysis show that, as expected, KOS, and KOS-G have an approximately 6.2 kbp fragment indicating a wt ICP0 gene (Figure 1.4B lanes 2 and 5). In contrast, n212, KM110, n212-G and KM110-R all have an approximately 2.4 kbp band (Figure 1.4B lanes 3, 4, 6 and 7), indicating that they bear the *Spe* I linker that marks the n212 ICP0 mutation.

The wt TK locus is borne by a 2.0 kbp *Pvu* II fragment. In contrast, the EGFP mt form of the TK gene borne by n212-G and KOS-G bears a 1.7 kbp EGFP insert and the DsRed2 mt form of the TK gene borne by KM110-R bears a 1.6 kbp DsRed2 insert with an additional *Pvu* II site. Therefore, a *Pvu* II digest is predicted to yield a single 2.0 kbp TK fragment from wt DNA (Figure 1.3C top), a single 3.7 kbp fragment from EGFP mt DNA (Figure 1.3C bottom left), and 1.9 and 1.7 kbp fragments from DsRed2 mt DNA (Figure 1.3C bottom right). The results of the Southern analysis show that, as expected, KOS, n212, and KM110-R all have an approximately 2.0 kbp fragment indicating a wt TK gene (Figure 1.4C lanes 2, 3, and 4). In contrast, n212-G and KOS-G have an approximately 3.7 kbp band recognized by both the TK probe (Figure 1.4C lanes 5 and 6) and the EGFP probe (Figure 1.4D lanes 5

Results -

and 6), indicating that they bear the EGFP mutation. KM110-R has approximately 1.9 and 1.7 kbp bands recognized by both the TK probe (Figure 1.4C lane 7) and DsRed2 probe (Figure 1.4D lane 7), indicating that it bears the DsRed2 mutation. The smaller, 1.7 kbp band, is fainter than the 1.9 kbp band because the DsRed2 probe recognizes a much smaller portion of the 1.7 kbp fragment (Figure 1.3C bottom right). The DsRed2 probe also hybridized to the 3.7 kbp fragment of KOS-G and n212-G (Figure 1.4E lanes 5 and 6) indicating there is some sequence similarity between the EGFP and DsRed2 genes.

The results from this Southern analysis establish that the recombinant viruses made for this investigation have the expected mutations and that the stocks are free from contaminating virus.

3.1.2 Transgene expression

In order to determine if the EGFP and DsRed2 transgenes borne by the recombinant strains were expressed, we tested for the production of fluorescent protein during infection. Plaques resulting from infection of U2OS cells (a permissive cell line for ICP0 and ICP0/VP16 double mutants (Mossman & Smiley, 1999, Yao & Schaffer, 1995)) with the recombinant viruses were observed under a fluorescent microscope. The CMV IE promoter driving the fluorescent genes has previously been shown to be strongly expressed in many mammalian cell lines (Foecking & Hofstetter, 1986). We found that by one day post-infection the fluorescent proteins could be detected and were strongly expressed from the red or green recombinant KOS, n212 and KM110 strains. See figure 3.1.5 for photographs of fluorescent plaques resulting from n212-G or KM110-R infection of U2OS cells.

3.2 ICP0 is a specific requirement for the reactivation of DNA replication and gene expression of quiescent HSV-1

The HSV IE gene product ICP0 has been shown to be necessary and sufficient for the reactivation of a quiescent genome (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Stow & Stow, 1989). In order to confirm and extend these findings in our experimental system, we asked if the lack of any HSV-1 products other than ICP0 prevents reactivation of a quiescent genome. The ability of HSV-1 strains mutant in the IE genes ICP0 (n212 (Cai & Schaffer, 1989)), ICP4 (d120 (DeLuca *et al.*, 1985)), ICP22 (d22lacZ (Long *et al.*, 1999)), and ICP27 (d27-1 (Rice & Knipe, 1990)) to reactivate quiescent KM110-R was tested and compared to wild type (KOS).

Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were either mock treated or infected with KM110-R at a multiplicity of infection (MOI) of 2 (Figure 3.2A) or 6 (Figure 3.2B and C) in order to establish a quiescent infection. Even with a high MOI of KM110, such as 10, the virus persists in a quiescent but inducible state in HEL cells for at least 10 days, during which time no viral proteins are produced and the cells remain healthy (Mossman & Smiley, 1999). Four days later the cells were either mock treated, or superinfected (SI) with an MOI of 10 of wild type or an IE mutant. The samples were harvested the next day and analyzed by FACS, Southern, and Western for evidence of reactivation of the quiescent genome.

3.2.1 Reactivation of the DsRed2 transgene

FACs analysis was used to detect the expression of the IE gene product DsRed2 from KM110-R (Figure 3.2A). For these samples, the cells were harvested by trypsinizing and suspending in cell culture medium, then analyzed by FACS to detect production of fluorescence. The results are presented as

dot plots with increasing red fluorescence on the y-axis and increasing green fluorescence on the x-axis. Preliminary experiments were done in order to establish boundaries for cells expressing DsRed2, EGFP, both DsRed2 and EGFP, or no fluorescence. These boundaries were then used to determine the proportion of cells in each grouping.

We found that only a small percentage (1%) of KM110-R infected cells expressed DsRed2 from the KM110-R genome (Figure 3.2A box 1). In contrast, SI with KOS resulted in 28% of cells expressing DsRed2 (Figure 3.2A box 2), indicating these cells harbour KM110-R that can be reactivated by wt virus. The proportion of cells expressing DsRed2 following SI with KOS can be used as a minimal estimate of the proportion of cells harbouring the KM110-R (discussed in more detail in Section 3.4). Therefore, the proportion of cells known to harbour KM110-R (28%) compared to the small proportion of cells expressing DsRed2 in the absence of wt SI (1%) indicates that KM110-R is quiescent in HEL cells; a result that is consistent with previous experiments involving KM110 (Mossman & Smiley, 1999). SI with d120, d22lacz and d27-1 also led to 28%-44% of cells expressing DsRed2 (Figure 3.2A boxes 4, 5 and 6), indicating that these IE mutants are also able to reactivate a quiescent genome. ICP4 mutants do not express early (E) or late (L) gene products (DeLuca et al., 1985); therefore, the ability of this mutant to reactivate KM110-R precludes the possibility that E or L gene products are necessary for reactivation.

An accurate determination of the proportion of cells harbouring the KM110-R genome is essential for drawing meaningful conclusions from our experiments. We were concerned that production of progeny KM110-R virus and their spread to neighbouring cells following reactivation by the SI virus would lead to an overestimate of the proportion of cells initially infected by KM110-R. We therefore tested the ability of each of the SI viruses to prevent subsequent infection of cells with progeny virus. We found that previous

infection with wild type virus (Figure 4.2) or an ICP0, ICP22, or ICP27 mutant (data not shown) prevents the SI of cells (discussed in more detail in Section 3.4). In contrast, ICP4 mutants are less able to prevent SI (data not shown), and may allow the spread of progeny KM110-R into nearby cells following reactivation of the quiescent genome. Therefore, the higher percent of cells expressing DsRed2 following d120 SI may be due to the inability of d120 to fully prevent SI.

Only 1% of cells SI with n212 expressed DsRed2 from the KM110-R genome (Figure 3.2A box 3), a result virtually identical to mock treatment. This result is consistent with previous studies that have shown that ICP0 mutants are incapable of reactivating a quiescent genome (Harris *et al.*, 1989).

The results of this FACs analysis show that the IE gene products ICP22, ICP27, and ICP4 (and therefore any E or L gene products) are not necessary for the reactivation of quiescent KM110-R and imply that ICP0 alone is necessary for reactivation of a quiescent genome.

3.2.2 Reactivation of viral DNA Replication

Previous reports implied that ICP0 is required for the quiescent viral genome to replicate in superinfected cells (Harris *et al.*, 1989). Inasmuch as ICP0 mutants themselves are capable of replication following high MOI infection, the implication is that quiescent genomes are inaccessible to the viral DNA replication machinery. We therefore used Southern blot hybridization to monitor replication of the resident quiescent genome following SI with wt HSV-KOS and the immediate early mutants described above (Figure 3.2B). For these samples, the DNA was *Bam*H I/*Nhe* I restriction digested, electrophoresed through an agarose gel, and transferred to a nylon membrane. The membranes were hybridized to a ³²P-labeled probe for VP16 and exposed

Results

to X-Ray film. Replication of the KM110-R genome can be distinguished from replication of the SI genome by the presence of the *Nhe* I linker in the VP16 locus of strains with a KM110 background.

Cells infected with KM110-R did not have detectable 4.9 and 3.2 kbp bands (Figure 3.2B lane 2), indicating that the copy number of viral DNA was below the detection limit of this assay under the conditions used. However, bands corresponding to the KM110-R VP16 DNA were detected following SI with KOS (Figure 3.2B lane 4), demonstrating that the quiescent genome was amplified in response to infection. Similarly, SI with d120, d22lacZ or d27-1 also lead to the amplification of the KM110-R genome (Figure 3.2B lanes 8, 10, and 12). In contrast, SI with n212 did not lead to detectable amplification of the quiescent genome (Figure 3.2B lane 6). The results of this Southern analysis are consistent with the previously described FACs analysis and indicate that ICP0 mutants alone are unable to reactivate the quiescent KM110-R genome. In fact, the IE mutants that cannot replicate on HEL cells alone, such as ICP4 (Figure 3.2B lane 7) (Preston, 1979) and ICP27 (Figure 3.2B lane 11) (Sacks et al., 1985) mutants, show increased replication on monolayers that harbour KM110-R (Figure 3.2B lanes 8 and 12: 8.1 kbp band). This indicates that reactivation of the quiescent KM110-R genome provides the missing, necessary, proteins for the SI virus to proceed with DNA replication. Replication of the superinfecting ICP0 mutant genome, on the other hand, appears to be reduced on monolayers where many of the cells harbour KM110-R (Figure 3.2B lane 6) compared to cells with no KM110-R (Figure 3.2B lane 5), indicating that guiescent infection by KM110-R hinders the replication of ICP0 mutants. These results are consistent with those found by Dr. Mossman in our lab while conducting similar experiments using KM110 (Mossman, unpublished data). Therefore, further experiments are needed to determine if ICP0 mutants are able to replicate in cells that harbour the KM110-R genome.

3.2.3 Reactivation of the expression of the VP16 gene

For further confirmation of the results obtained by Southern analysis we also used Western analysis to monitor VP16 production from the resident quiescent genome following SI with wt HSV-KOS and the immediate early mutants described above (Figure 3.2C). The V422 VP16 mutation (Lam et al., 1996) is marked by a stop codon that leads to a truncation of VP16 after amino acid residue 422. Therefore, the mutant (mt) VP16 expressed from the reactivated KM110-R genome is smaller (Mossman & Smiley, 1999) and can be distinguished from wild type (wt) VP16 expressed from the SI virus. VP16 is a leaky late protein that can be produced in the absence of DNA replication (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). Therefore, we also tested for the production of the true late protein U_s11, which is produced only if DNA replication has occurred (Roizman & Knipe, 2001); however, the production of Us11 from KM110-R and the SI virus cannot be distinguished. Additionally, an Ab to the cellular protein actin was used as a loading control. For these samples, the isolated proteins were electrophoresed through a 12% acrylimide gel, and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were incubated with primary antibodies to VP16, U_s11 , and actin, then with an HRP-labeled secondary antibody. Following incubation with the secondary antibody, the membrane was treated with ECL plus, and exposed to X-Ray film.

Cells infected with KM110-R did not show production of mt VP16 or U_s11 (Figure 3.2C lane 2), indicating that the expression of these proteins was below the detection limit of this assay under the conditions used. However, production of mt VP16 was detected following SI with KOS (Figure 3.2C lane 4), demonstrating that the quiescent genome was reactivated in response to SI. Similarly, SI with d120, d22lacZ or d27-1 also lead to the production of mt VP16, indicating reactivation of the KM110-R genome (Figure 3.2C lanes 8,

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

- Results -

10, and 12). In contrast, SI with n212 did not lead to production of mt VP16 by KM110-R (Figure 3.2C lane 6). Similarly to the results seen from Southern analysis, the production of U_s 11 and VP16 by the ICP4 and ICP27 mutants were increased on monolayers that harboured KM110-R (Figure 3.2C lanes 8 and 12). The results of this Western analysis are consistent with the previously described FACS and Southern analysis and indicate that ICP0 alone is necessary for the reactivation of a guiescent genome.

3.3 The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red dissipates and has a diminished effect on wild-type virus by four days postinduction

Infection of HEL cells with KM110 leads to the induction of many of the same genes as treatment with IFN (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). Additionally, ICP0 mutants have been shown to be hypersensitive to the effects of IFN (Mossman *et al.*, 2000). As mentioned in the previous section, replication of the ICP0 mutant genome appears to be reduced on monolayers that had previously been infected with KM110-R (Figure 3.2B lane 6) compared to cells that had been mock treated (Figure 3.2B lane 5). Therefore, it seemed likely that replication of the ICP0 mutant was hindered by an antiviral response induced by KM110-R. In order to determine if the antiviral response was likely to affect the SI virus four days post-induction, we used Northern analysis to look for evidence of a persisting antiviral response, and a plaque reduction assay to test for any effect on wild type virus replication.

Northern analysis was used to test for the production of ISG 56K mRNA over the course of four days post-KM110-R infection of HEL cells (Figure 3.3.1). As described in the introduction, ISG 56 K is an interferon stimulated gene that is induced following KM110 infection of HEL cells (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). In two independent experiments, HEL cells were treated with 1000

U/mL IFN- α , mock treated or infected with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R. IFN- α treatment was used as a positive control for ISG 56K induction. The samples were harvested for RNA one to four days post-treatment, electrophoresed through an agarose gel and transferred to a nylon membrane. The membrane was hybridized using an ISG 56K probe and developed onto X-Ray film (Figure 3.3.1A top). The results were quantified using phosphor-imager analysis. After stripping the blots, and waiting a number of weeks for the ISG 56K signal to completely disappear, the blots were re-probed for cellular GAPDH (Figure 3.3.1A bottom) by R. Doepker in our lab and guantified using phosphor-imager analysis. The ISG 56K signal was normalized to the GAPDH signal and the average signal of the two independent experiments was plotted against each time point (Figure 3.3.1B). Consistent with results found by Mossman and colleagues using KM110 (Mossman et al., 2001), we found that ISG 56K was induced one day post-infection by KM110-R (Figure 3.3.1A lane 3). Our results indicate that the level of ISG 56K induced by KM110-R drops sharply. Two days post-infection the level of ISG 56K is, on average, only 28% of what was seen one day post-infection (Figure 3.3.1B KM110-R). The levels continue to decline to 22% on day three, then to 13.5% on day four postinfection (Figure 3.3.1B KM110-R). This experiment also shows there is very little induction of ISG 56K by mock treatment. The level of ISG 56K induction in the mock infected HEL cells was highest on day three, but was only 5% (on average) of what was induced by KM110-R on day 1 (Figure 3.3.1B Mock). The results of this Northern indicate that the antiviral response induced by KM110-R upon infection dissipates by four days post-infection. However, the residual antiviral response may still have an affect on viral replication. Additionally, expression of other ISGs induced by KM110-R may not have dissipated by four days post-infection. Therefore, we used a plaque reduction assay for a more direct test of whether viral replication was affected four days post-induction of the antiviral response.

Results -

A plaque reduction assay was used to test the ability of a low MOI of wild type HSV to replicate on HEL cells one and four days post-induction of an antiviral state by infection with KM110-R. In two independent experiments, HEL cells were either mock treated or infected with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R. One day and four days later, the samples were either mock treated or SI with 2.7 x 10³ PFU KOS (an MOI of approximately 0.005-0.01) and incubated in cell culture medium containing 0.5% methylcellulose for five days before being Giemsa stained. We found that, on one day post-treatment, infection of mock-treated HEL cells with KOS results in almost total destruction of the monolayer (Figure 3.3.2A top right). Consistent with results found by Mossman and colleagues using KM110 (Mossman et al., 2001), we found that, on one day post-treatment, SI of KM110-R infected monolayers with KOS results in little destruction of the monolayer (Figure 3.3.2A bottom right). This marked decrease in plaque size and number indicates that, at a low MOI, KOS is severely inhibited by the antiviral response induced by KM110-R one day post-infection. The plagues formed by infection of HEL cells with KOS four days post-mock treatment (Figure 3.3.2B top right) are smaller than those formed by infection of HEL cells with KOS one day post-mock treatment (Figure 3.3.2A top right). This is most likely due to inhibition of viral replication on an older, over-confluent monolayer. The plaques formed on HEL cells SI with KOS four days post-KM110-R infection (Figure 3.3.2B bottom right) are smaller than plaques formed on HEL cells four days post-mocktreatment (Figure 3.3.2B top right), indicating that the antiviral response inhibits KOS replication even four days post-induction. However, more and slighty larger plaques are seen for monolayers that were SI with KOS four days post-KM110-R infection (Figure 3.3.2B bottom right) compared to one-day post-KM110-R infection (Figure 3.3.2A bottom right). This result is consistent with the decrease of ISG 56K mRNA seen by the previously described

Results -

Northern, and indicates that the antiviral response is not as effective four days post-induction.

Increasing the MOI of the SI virus was shown to help KOS overcome the effects of the antiviral response in repeat experiments of the plaque reduction assay (data not shown). Additionally, the Southern analysis described in section 3.2 indicates that, at a MOI of 10, replication of the wild type virus genome is not severely decreased on monolayers previously infected with KM110-R compared to mock treated monolayers (Figure 3.2B lanes 3 and 4). However, the antiviral response induced by KM110-R is expected to have a much greater effect on ICP0 mutants because, as mentioned earlier, they are much more sensitive to IFN than wild type virus. Therefore, in order to compensate for the hypersensitivity of ICP0 mutants to the antiviral response induced by KM110-R, a MOI of 30 of n212 was used instead of a MOI of 10 for subsequent experiments.

3.4 ICP0 mutants are able to superinfect HEL cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome

We next asked if ICP0 mutants are able to overcome the antiviral response induced by KM110-R and infect cells that harbour the KM110-R genome. FACS analysis of HEL cells infected with KM110-R and SI with wild type, an ICP0 mutant, or the fluorescent recombinants of each, was used to determine the proportion of cells infected with each virus (Figure 3.4.1). In four independent experiments, HEL cells were infected with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R. This MOI of KM110-R was chosen because preliminary experiments showed that at a MOI of 6 the KM110-R genome was largely silent, but close to half of the cells harboured the quiescent genome. Higher MOIs of KM110-R led to increased expression from the KM110-R genome, while lower MOIs lead to a smaller proportion of cells harbouring the quiescent genome. Four days

- Results ---

later the cells were mock treated or SI with a MOI of 30 of n212 or n212-G or a MOI of 10 of KOS or KOS-G. The cells were harvested for FACS analysis eighteen hours post-SI. The results are presented as dot plots with increasing red fluorescence on the y-axis and increasing green fluorescence on the x-axis. The value reported for each sample includes the average of four independent experiments and the standard deviation.

In these experiments we found that, consistent with the previously described FACS analysis (Section 3.2), KM110-R is largely guiescent in HEL cells as evidenced by the small percent (6.5% \pm 4%) of cells expressing red fluorescence following mock treatment of cells harbouring KM110-R (Figure 3.4.1A). The proportion of cells harbouring quiescent KM110-R was therefore determined by superinfecting with wild type virus, which leads to reactivation of KM110-R. We found that $45.3\% \pm 4\%$ of cells expressed red fluorescence following KOS SI four days after a MOI of 6 infection of KM110-R, indicating that these cells harbour KM110-R (Figure 3.4.1C). However the proportion of cells ascertained to harbour the guiescent genome may be inflated due to replication of KM110-R and subsequent infection of adjacent cells following SI with wild-type virus. In order to evaluate this possibility we assessed the ability of HSV-1 infected cells to exclude superinfecting virus. In two independent experiments, monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated or infected with a MOI of 10 of KOS. After 12 hrs, the cells were SI with a MOI of 10 of KOS-G. Fifteen hrs post-SI (27 hrs post-infection) the samples were harvested and analyzed by FACS. We found that productively infected cells are immune to superinfection, as shown by the inability of the KOS-G to infect and express green fluorescence in the cells that had previously been infected with KOS (Figure 3.4.2 right). This result is consistent with previous experiments that have shown that expression of qD on cellular surface membranes, which normally occurs during HSV infection, prevents HSV from superinfecting cells that are already productively infected (Campadelli-Fiume et

- Results –

al., 1988, Campadelli-Fiume *et al.*, 1990, Dasika & Letchworth, 2000). Infecting HEL cells with KM110-R and SI with KOS-G four days later lead to $97.4\% \pm 2\%$ of cells expressing EGFP from the KOS-G genome (Figure 3.4.1E), indicating that wild type virus is able to infect almost every cell. Therefore, the spread of progeny KM110-R into nearby cells following SI with wild type virus is prevented. From this, we can conclude that the proportion of cells expressing red fluorescence from the KM110-R genome following SI with KOS represents the cells initially infected with KM110-R.

Only $4.4\% \pm 3\%$ of cells infected with KM110-R and SI with n212 expressed DsRed2 from the KM110-R genome (Figure 3.4.1B). This result is very similar to mock treatment and confirms that, even with an increased MOI, SI with an ICP0 mutant does not lead to reactivation of the quiescent genome. 97.4% $\pm 2\%$ of KM110-R infected cells SI with n212-G expressed EGFP from the n212-G genome (Figure 3.4.1D). As described previously, following a MOI of 6 infection with KM110-R, 45.3% $\pm 2\%$ of these cells harbour KM110-R (Figure 3.4.1C). Therefore, as a minimal estimate, $42\% \pm 6\%$ of cells infected with n212-G in this experiment harbour the quiescent KM110-R genome; demonstrating that ICP0 mutants are capable of infecting cells that harbour KM110-R. However, the expression of the IE gene EGFP does not indicate that ICP0 mutants are able to overcome the antiviral response and complete the lytic cycle. Therefore, further experiments were done in order to determine if an ICP0 mutant is capable of replicating in cells that harbour KM110-R.

3.5 Replication of ICP0 mutants in HEL cells does not lead to reactivation of the quiescent KM110-Red genome

Previous studies have shown that stalled infection following the expression of some IE gene products is a phenotype of ICP0 mutants (Cai & Schaffer, 1992) (Everett *et al.*, 2004a). Therefore, the expression of the E

gene product EGFP (as was seen by FACS analysis in the preceding section) does not necessarily indicate a productive infection. In order to determine if ICP0 mutants are capable of proceeding past the IE stage following infection of cells harbouring quiescent KM110-R, we looked for evidence of the formation of viral DNA replication compartments using indirect immunofluorescence assays (IFA), and gene expression using Southern, Western and progeny assays.

3.5.1 Viral DNA replication compartments

In three independent experiments, HEL cells arown on coverslips were mock treated or infected with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R. Four days postinfection the cells were mock treated or SI with a MOI of 30 of n212 or a MOI of 10 of KOS in the presence or absence of 400 µg/mL phosphonoacetic acid (PAA). Preliminary experiments indicated that 9 1/2 hrs post-SI the replication compartments of ICP0 mutants were most distinct. At earlier times points the replication compartments are too small to be readily distinguished from non-productive infection, and at later time points the replication compartments are less distinctive as they fill the entire nucleus. Therefore, 9 1/2 hrs post-SI the samples were fixed and treated for indirect IFA of cell monolayers (Materials and Methods 2.8.1) using a primary Ab to ICP4, an Alexa Fluor 488 (green fluorescent) secondary Ab, and Hoescht for nuclei stain. For quantification, fluorescent microscope pictures were taken of each sample. From these, 100-650 cells were scored as either positive or negative for replication compartments. Samples where DNA replication was prevented by treatment with PAA were used as a guide for a non-productive infection and cells that did not have distinct replication compartments were considered negative. The value reported for each sample includes the average of three independent experiments and the standard deviation.

Results -

We first tested if using a primary Ab for ICP4 would allow us to distinguish between productively and nonproductively infected cells. ICP4 is an IE gene product and is expressed whether viral DNA replication occurs or not. As described previously in the introduction, at early times post-infection ICP4 is found diffuse throughout the nucleus (Knipe et al., 1987) while later on in infection it is redistributed to globular replication compartments, within which it has a somewhat diffuse distribution (de Bruyn Kops et al., 1998). The redistribution of ICP4 to replication compartments is dependent upon viral DNA replication (Knipe et al., 1987). Therefore, we compared KOS or n212 infected samples where DNA replication was prevented using PAA with samples where infection was allowed to proceed normally. We found that samples treated with PAA had diffuse expression of ICP4 throughout the nucleus (Figure 3.5.1A left top and bottom) and were easily distinguishable from samples where DNA replication was allowed to proceed and had distinct, globular, replication compartments (Figure 3.5.1A right top and bottom). The brightly staining foci seen in samples treated with PAA (Figure 3.5.1A left top and bottom) may be areas adjacent to ND10 where ICP4 has been recruited to the viral genome (Everett et al., 2004b).

KM110-R infected cells had only $2\% \pm 2\%$ (991 cells scored) of cells score positive for viral DNA replication compartments (Figure 3.5.1B middle and right). This result is consistent with the previously described FACS, Southern and Western data (Sections 3.2 and 3.4) and indicates that KM110-R is largely quiescent in HEL cells. In contrast, following KOS SI, viral DNA replication compartments were formed in $97\% \pm 2\%$ (1069 cells scored) of mock treated cells and $97\% \pm 2\%$ (866 cells scored) of KM110-R infected cells (Figure 3.5.1D). Originally, we SI mock treated and KM110-R infected cells with a MOI of 10 of n212. However, with this MOI we found that viral DNA replication compartments formed in only 45% of cells (data not shown). Therefore, we used a higher MOI of n212 in order to increase the likelihood of

- Results --

the ICP0 mutant proceeding through the lytic cycle. At a MOI of 30, n212 was able to form replication compartments in 92% \pm 2% (1578 cells scored) of mock treated cells (Figure 3.5.1C left), and 88% \pm 2% (1661 cells scored) of KM110-R infected cells (Figure 3.5.1C right). The FACS analysis described in section 3.4 demonstrated that, with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R, 45% \pm 4% of cells harbour the KM110-R genome. This, taken together with the finding that viral DNA replication compartments formed in 88% \pm 2% of KM110-R treated cells following n212 SI, allows us to determine, as a minimal estimate, that 33% \pm 6% of the cells SI by the ICP0 mutant harboured the quiescent KM110-R genome. This indicates that, at a high enough MOI, ICP0 mutants are capable of overcoming the antiviral response induced by KM110-R infection and forming viral DNA replication compartments.

3.5.2 DNA replication, gene expression, and production of progeny virus

Although indirect IFA showed that, at a high MOI, ICP0 mutants are able to productively infect cells that harbour the quiescent KM110-R genome, we could not determine from these experiments if the KM110-R genome remained silent under these conditions. We therefore compared the amounts of DNA replication, expression of late gene products and production of progeny resulting from the KM110-R genome following SI with wild type virus or an ICP0 mutant. We also compared the expression of these viral products from the SI genome in cells that had been infected with KM110-R to cells that had been mock treated. This allowed us to determine if the antiviral response induced by KM110-R inhibited productive infection of the SI virus. In four independent experiments, HEL cells were mock treated or infected with a MOI of 6 of KM110-R. Four days later the cells were mock treated, or SI with a MOI of 30 of n212 or a MOI of 10 of KOS. Eighteen hrs post-SI the cells were harvested

for analysis by Southern, Western or progeny assay. Samples of cells SI with a MOI of 10 of KOS or a MOI of 30 of n212 were also harvested 1 hr post-SI in order to confirm that viral products brought in with the virion were negligible compared to the amount of newly synthesized viral products in these experiments. Additionally, samples used for the progeny assay were Acid/Glycine washed (described in Materials and Methods) following SI in order to remove unabsorbed virions from the surface of the cells.

3.5.2.1 DNA replication

Southern analysis of the VP16 locus was used to test for replication of the KM110-R and SI virus genomes (Figure 3.5.2). For these samples, the DNA was BamH I/Nhe I restriction digested, electrophoresed through an agarose gel, and transferred to a nylon membrane. The membranes were then hybridized using a ³²P-labeled VP16 probe and exposed to X-Ray film. We tested samples harvested 1 hr post-infection with a MOI of 10 of KOS or MOI of 30 of n212 in order to determine if we could detect viral DNA brought in with the virion. We found that DNA from the virion was not detectable for KOS (Figure 3.5.2A lane 8) and barely detectable for n212 (Figure 3.5.2A lane 9) and therefore would not affect our results. As previously described, replication of the reactivated quiescent KM110-R genome can be distinguished from replication of the SI genome by the presence of the Nhe I linker in the VP16 locus of strains with a KM110 background. The signal intensities of the 8.1 kbp band resulting from replication of the SI genome and the 4.9 kbp and 3.2 kbp bands resulting from replication of the KM110-R genome were separately quantified using phospho-imager analysis. These values were then normalized to the amount of total DNA for each sample and reported as a percent relative to KOS SI of mock treated cells (for wild type VP16, Figure 3.5.2B) or as a percent relative to KOS SI of KM110-R infected cells (for

Results -

mutant VP16, Figure 3.5.2C). Additionally, the values obtained following quantification of the 4.9 kbp and 3.2 kbp band area from samples that had been mock treated before SI were subtracted from the value obtained from samples that had been KM110-R infected before SI. This was done in order to remove background signal and thereby give a more accurate portrayal of the signal resulting from replication of the KM110-R genome. The value reported for each sample includes the average of four independent experiments and the standard deviation.

Following n212 SI, we found that the amount of DNA replication from the n212 genome was 84% \pm 14% on mock treated cells, and 80% \pm 21% on KM110-R treated cells: relative to wild type virus replication (Figure 3.5.2B n212). The lack of a significant decrease in the amount of n212 DNA produced from cells where 45.3% ± 4% of cells harbour KM110-R (FACS analysis, Section 3.4) indicates that the ICP0 mutant is not excluded from replicating its genome in these cells. This result confirms the previously described indirect IFA data and indicates that, at a high MOI, the ICPO mutant is able to productively infect cells that harbour KM110-R. We found that replication of the KOS genome was inhibited to some extent on cells that had previously been infected with KM110-R compared to cells that had been mock treated. The amount of replication of the KOS genome on KM110-R infected cells was 75% ± 16% compared to 100% on mock treated cells (Figure 3.5.2B KOS). SI with a higher MOI of n212 did not lead to reactivation of and DNA replication from the quiescent KM110-R genome, as indicated by the absence of 4.9 kbp and 3.2 kbp bands (Figure 3.5.2A lane 4). This confirms that, even under conditions where productive infection of the SI virus occurs, the quiescent genome is not reactivated in the absence of ICP0. In contrast, following SI with KOS, the guiescent KM110-R genome was reactivated, as indicated by the production of 4.9 kbp and 3.2 kbp bands (Figure 3.5.2A lane 6).

3.5.2.2 Late gene expression

Western analysis of late gene products was used to test for expression of VP16 and U_s11 from the KM110-R and SI virus genomes (Figure 3.5.2). For these samples, the isolated proteins were electrophoresed through a 12% acrylimide gel, and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane. The membranes were incubated with primary antibodies to VP16, Us11, and actin, then with a HRP labeled secondary antibody. Following incubation with the secondary antibody, the membrane was treated with ECL plus, and developed onto X-Ray film. We tested samples harvested 1 hr post-infection with a MOI of 10 of KOS or MOI of 30 of n212 in order to determine if we could detect proteins brought in with the virion. We found that VP16 and Us11 from the virion were not detectable for KOS (Figure 3.5.2A lane 8) and were barely detectable for n212 (Figure 3.5.2A lane 9) and therefore would not affect our results. As previously described, VP16 expressed from the reactivated quiescent KM110-R genome can be distinguished from VP16 expressed from the SI genome by the presence of the Nhe I linker in the VP16 locus of strains with a KM110 background, which leads to the truncation of VP16. The signal intensities of U_s11, the wild type (wt) VP16 resulting from expression of the SI genome and the mutant (mt) VP16 resulting from expression of the KM110-R genome were separately quantified using phospho-imager analysis. These values were then normalized to the amount of actin and reported as a percent relative to KOS SI of mock treated cells (for wt VP16 and U_s11 , Figure 3.5.3B and D) or as a percent relative to KOS SI of KM110-R infected cells (for mt VP16, Figure 3.5.3C). Additionally, the values obtained following quantification of the mt VP16 band area from samples that had been mock treated before SI were subtracted from the value obtained from samples that had been KM110-R infected before SI. This was done in order to remove background signal and

Results -

thereby give a more accurate portrayal of the signal resulting from expression of mt VP16 from the KM110-R genome. The value reported for each sample includes the average of four independent experiments and the standard deviation.

Following n212 SI, we found that the amount of wild type VP16 expressed from the n212 genome was $98\% \pm 21\%$ on mock treated cells, and 104% ± 16% on KM110-R treated cells: relative to wild type virus expression of VP16 (Figure 3.5.3B n212). Similarly, the amount of U_s11 produced following n212 SI was 99% \pm 14% on mock treated cells and 90% \pm 15% on KM110-R treated cells (Figure 3.5.3D n212). The lack of a significant decrease in the amount of late gene products expressed from n212 on cells where 45.3% ± 4% of cells harbour KM110-R (FACS analysis, Section 3.4) indicates that the ICP0 mutant is not excluded from expressing late gene products in these cells. This result confirms the previously described indirect IFA and Southern data and indicates that, at a high MOI, the ICP0 mutant is able to productively infect cells that harbour KM110-R. We found that the expression of late gene products from the KOS genome was inhibited to some extent on cells that had previously been infected with KM110-R compared to cells that had been mock treated. The amount of VP16 expressed from the KOS genome on KM110-R infected cells was 83% \pm 9% compared to 100% on mock treated cells (Figure 3.5.3B KOS). Similarly, the amount of Us11 produced following KOS SI was 73% ± 14% on KM110-R treated cells compared to 100% on mock treated cells (Figure 3.5.3D n212). SI with a higher MOI of n212 did not lead to reactivation of and expression of VP16 from the quiescent KM110-R genome, as indicated by the lack of expression of the truncated form of VP16 (Figure 3.5.3A lane 4). This confirms that, even under conditions where productive infection of the SI virus occurs, the quiescent genome is not reactivated in the absence of ICP0. In contrast, following SI with KOS, the quiescent KM110-R genome was reactivated, as

- Results -

indicated by the production of the truncated form of VP16 (Figure 3.5.3A lane 6).

3.5.2.3 Production of infectious progeny

A progeny assay was used to test for the production of progeny KM110-R and SI viruses (Figure 3.5.2). Samples were harvested for virus progeny, then titered on U20S cells in the presence of 3 mM HMBA. For quantification, plaques were counted two days later using either a light or a fluorescent microscope. Samples infected with a MOI of 10 of KOS or MOI of 30 of n212 were harvested immediately following the Acid/Glycine wash in order to determine if unabsorbed virions would affect our results. We found that 2.24 x $10^4 \pm 1.10$ x 10^4 PFU/mL KOS and 3.69 x $10^4 \pm 8.22$ x 10^3 PFU/mL n212 remained following the Acid/Glycine wash. These values are approximately 1000 times lower than the number of KOS and n212 progeny virus resulting following productive infection, and therefore do not affect our results. As previously described, progeny virus produced from the reactivated quiescent KM110-R genome can be distinguished from progeny virus produced from the SI virus by the production of DsRed2 from the KM110-R progeny. The value reported for each sample includes the average of four independent experiments and the standard deviation.

Following n212 SI, we found that the number of n212 progeny produced was 3.66 x $10^7 \pm 1.3 \times 10^7$ PFU/mL on mock treated cells and 1.79 x $10^7 \pm 8.6 \times 10^6$ PFU/mL on KM110-R treated cells (Figure 3.5.4B n212). This may indicate there is some inhibition of the production of n212 progeny in KM110-R infected cells. We found that the production of KOS progeny following SI with KOS was inhibited to some extent on cells that had previously been infected with KM110-R compared to cells that had been mock treated. The amount KOS progeny produced on KM110-R infected cells was 2.63 x 10^7

Results

 \pm 3.9 x 10⁶ PFU/mL compared to 5.52 x 10⁷ \pm 2.2 x 10⁷ PFU/mL on mock treated cells (Figure 3.5.4B KOS). SI with n212 lead to the production of far less progeny KM110-R than did SI with KOS. SI of KM110-R infected cells with n212 led to the production of 1.00 x 10⁴ \pm 6.8 x 10³ PFU/mL KM110-R (Figure 3.5.4C n212), a number similar to the 1.25 x 10³ \pm 1.5 x 10³ PFU/mL resulting from mock treatment of KM110-R infected cells (Figure 3.5.4C mock). This confirms that, even under conditions where productive infection of the SI virus occurs, the quiescent genome is not reactivated in the absence of ICP0. In contrast, following SI with KOS, the quiescent KM110-R genome was reactivated, as indicated by the production of 8.30 x 10⁶ \pm 7.4 x 10⁵ PFU/mL progeny KM110-R (Figure 3.5.4C KOS).

3.5.3 Summary

The results of these indirect IFA, Southern, Western and progeny assay experiments have shown that, in the absence of ICP0, the quiescent KM110-R genome is silent in the presence of an almost identical, replicating virus. This indicates the quiescent genome has been made inaccessible to transcription and DNA replication machinery. Possible locations and structures responsible for the silencing of the quiescent genome are of interest for further study, and will be revisited in the discussion.

3.6 FACS analysis of indirect IFA for U_s 11 or gC leads to an overestimate of the proportion of productively infected cells

Another approach for determining the proportion of productively infected cells is to use FACS analysis following indirect IFA of late viral gene products. U_s11 and gC were chosen for this purpose because they are both true late proteins that are expressed only following replication of viral DNA

(Roizman & Knipe, 2001), and so would be good indicators for completion of the lytic cycle. We first tried FACS analysis of indirect IFA using a primary Ab for U_s11, and an Alexa Fluor 488 (green fluorescent) secondary Ab. HEL cells were mock treated or infected with a MOI of 10 of KOS. After 18 hrs the cells were harvested and prepared for indirect IFA using the protocol for cells in suspension (Materials and Methods 2.8.2) and analyzed by FACS. The results are presented as histograms with increasing counts shown on the y-axis, and increasing green fluorescence shown on the x-axis. The preliminary results seemed promising as uninfected cells (Mock) had very low background fluorescence (Figure 3.6.1A left) while infected cells (KOS) had a strong fluorescent signal (Figure 3.6.1A right), and there was no overlap between the negative (uninfected) and positive (infected) cell signals. However, as a control, a mixture of half mock and half KOS treated cells was combined just after the 18 hr infection period, but before treatment for indirect IFA. This control was important because, in the experimental system this analysis would be used for, the samples harvested would be expected to include both infected and uninfected cells. FACS analysis revealed that mixing infected and uninfected cells did not result in the expected distinct populations of positive and negatively staining cells. Instead, more than half the cells stained positive while the rest stained a slightly lower fluorescence than positive, but higher than expected for negative (Figure 3.6.1B). This result indicates that U_s11 leaks from infected cells to uninfected cells during preparation of samples for FACS analysis of indirect IFA. The tendency of Us11 to leak out of infected cells may be due to its small (17, 000 kDa) size.

Therefore, we next tried indirect IFA using a primary Ab for the viral late protein gC, which has a MW of 100, 000 kDa, and an Alexa Fluor 488 secondary Ab. HEL cells were mock treated, or infected with a MOI of 10 of KOS. After 18 hrs the cells were harvested and prepared for indirect IFA using the protocol for cells in suspension (Materials and Methods 2.8.2) and

analyzed by FACS. The results are presented as histograms with increasing counts shown on the y-axis, and increasing green fluorescence shown on the xaxis. Again, the preliminary results seemed promising with low background fluorescence of uninfected cells (Figure 3.6.2A left), high fluorescence of infected cells (Figure 3.6.2A right), and no overlap between the negative and positive cell signals. Additionally, a mixture of half mock and half KOS treated cells combined before treatment for indirect IFA did not lead to the problem of gC leaking in to uninfected cells that was previously seen for Us11. The expected proportion of negative to positively staining cells was seen, although the fluorescence signal for uninfected cells was slightly increased under these conditions (Figure 3.6.2B). However, because gC is a virion envelope associated protein, we tested to see if virion associated gC attaching to the cell could lead to a positive signal in the absence of productive infection. HEL cells were infected with a MOI of 100 of KOS in the presence or absence of 400 µg/ml PAA. An MOI of 100 was chosen because we estimated this to be reasonably close to the number of virus particles a cell would be exposed to following the release of progeny virus from nearby, infected cells. PAA was used in order to prevent DNA replication, and therefore production of gC. After 18 hrs the cells were harvested, prepared for indirect IFA using the protocol for cells in suspension (Materials and Methods 2.8.2), and analyzed by FACS. Our results show that, even under conditions where no gC is produced (Figure 3.6.2C Plus PAA), the fluorescent signal was the same as for conditions where gC was produced (Figure 3.6.2C No PAA). This indicates that at a MOI of 100 of KOS, enough gC comes in with the virion to give the cells a positive signal. Therefore, FACS analysis of indirect IFA using primary Abs to U_s11 and gC were decided to be unsuitable for determining the proportion of infected cells.

Figure 3.1.1: Structure of the plasmids used to construct fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains.

PTK-Red and pTK-Green consist of the background vector pTK 173 and an insert fragment from pDsRed2-C1 or pEGFP-C1 respectively. The pTK 173 vector includes the HSV-1 thymidine kinase (TK) locus which has a unique Sst I (S) site. The insert fragment was cloned into the Sst I site (destroying this site) and includes a Human cytomegalovirus immediate early (CMV IE) promoter, the fluorescent gene *Discosoma sp.* Human codon-optimized Red Fluorescent protein (DsRed2) or enhanced green fluorescent protein (EGFP), a multiple cloning site (MCS), and a Simian virus 40 early mRNA polyadenylation (SV40 Poly A) signal. See Materials and Methods for a more detailed description of the construction of these plasmids.



Figure 3.1.2: Structure of fluorescent recombinant HSV-1 strains. DsRed2 or EGFP, under the control of the CMV IE promoter, were inserted into the thymidine kinase locus of HSV-1 strains KOS, n212, and KM110 by homologous recombination with pTK-Red or pTK-Green. (A-C) Schematic representations of the genomes of KOS-Green (KOS-G), n212-Green (n212-G), and KM110-Red (KM110-R). The HSV-1 genome is divided into unique long (U_L) and unique short (U_S) each flanked by terminal repeats $(TR_L \text{ or } TR_S)$ and internal repeats $(IR_L \text{ or } IR_S)$. The mutations made to each strain are shown in expansions of the affected loci.



Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

Figure 3.1.3: Diagram of the restriction map of the DNA from wt and recombinant strains.

The open reading frame (ORF), region of probe hybridization, restriction sites (*italics*) and expected fragment sizes (kbp) of each of the indicated strains are shown for the VP16 locus (A), the ICP0 locus (B), and the TK locus (C).
A. VP16 locus:









C. TK locus:





KOS-G, n212-G





Figure 3.1.4: Confirmation of the identity of wt and recombinant HSV-1 strains.

Southern blot analysis. Confluent monolayers of U2OS cells were infected with MOI 10 of the indicated virus. The samples were harvested after 24 hrs and prepared for Southern analysis. The DNA of the wt and recombinant strains was digested with BamH I/Nhe I (A), Sst I/Spe I/Pst I (B), or Pvu II (C-E), and hybridized with the indicated probe. The results confirm the presence of the Nhe I linker in KM110 and KM110-Red; the Spe I linker in n212, n212-Green, KM110, and KM110-Red; the EGFP insert in KOS-Green and n212-Green; and the DsRed2 insert in KM110-Red.



Figure 3.1.5: The fluorescent gene from the recombinant virus is expressed during productive infection.

Fluorescent microscope photographs of n212-Green (A) and KM110-Red (B) plaques on U2OS cells. Both viruses were plated at a low MOI (with HMBA added to the infecting media of KM110-Red) to give rise to individual plaques. The plates were photographed two days post-viral infection.



Figure 3.2: ICP0 is a specific requirement for the reactivation of DNA replication and gene expression of quiescent HSV-1.

Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were infected with KM110-Red MOI 2 (A) or MOI 6 (B and C) in order to establish a quiescent infection. Four days later the cells were superinfected (SI) with wt or an immediate early (IE) mutant at an MOI of 10. The next day the samples were harvested and analyzed by (A) FACS showing the intensity of red fluorescence on the y-axis and green fluorescence on the x-axis; (B) Southern with a BamH I/Nhe I restriction digest and VP16 probe; or (C) Western using Ab to actin, VP16, and U_s11. The percent of cells expressing red fluorescence is specified for each sample. The size of the markers is shown on the left in kDa (A) or kbp (B).

A.







Figure 3.3.1: The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red dissipates by four days post-infection.

(A) Northern blot analysis of the antiviral response using a probe for ISG-56K (Top) or GAPDH (Bottom). Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were treated with 1000 U/mL IFN- α , mock treated (-) or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6 (+). The samples were harvested the indicated number of days post-treatment and analyzed by northern blot. The size of the RNA markers in kbp is shown on the left. (B) Quantification of northern blot analysis. The quantity of ISG-56K mRNA was determined using phosphor-imager analysis, normalized to GAPDH, and plotted against the indicated time points. The results of two independent experiments are shown.

104







Figure 3.3.2: The antiviral response induced by KM110-Red inhibits KOS to a lesser extent 4 days post-induction than it does 1 day post-induction.

Plaque assay. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were either mock treated or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. After 1 day (A) or 4 days (B) the samples were either mock treated or SI with 2.7×10^3 PFU KOS. The media was replaced with 0.5% methylcellulose /10%FBS/DMEM and the plates were incubated for 5 days before being Giemsa stained. These results were consistent for two independent experiments.

106



Figure 3.4.1: ICP0 mutants are able to superinfect HEL cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome.

FACS analysis. (A-E) Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. 4 days later the cells were mock treated or SI with MOI 30 of n212 or n212-green, or MOI 10 of KOS or KOS-Green. 18 hrs post-SI the samples were harvested and analyzed by FACS. The intensity of red fluorescence is shown on the y-axis, and green fluorescence on the x-axis. The red and green dots indicate cells expressing red and green fluorescence respectively. The purple dots indicate cells expressing both red and green fluorescence. The % of cells expressing fluorescence is specified for each sample. The standard deviation was calculated from four independent experiments.



Figure 3.4.2: Validation of using reactivation of KM110-Red by KOS for the quantification of cells harbouring the quiescent genome.

FACS analysis of the ability of HSV-1 to infect cells productively infected with HSV-1. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated or infected with KOS MOI 10. After 12 hrs, the cells were SI with KOS-Green MOI 10. Fifteen hrs post-SI (27 hrs PI) the samples were harvested and analyzed by FACS. The number of counts is shown on the y-axis and intensity of green fluorescence is shown on the x-axis. The percent of cells expressing green fluorescence is indicated for each sample. These results were consistent for 2 independent experiments.





Figure 3.5.1: n212 is able to form replication compartments in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome.

(A-D) Confocal microscope pictures of indirect IFA for replication compartments. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells grown on coverslips were mock treated or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. 4 days post-infection the cells were: (A) SI with n212 MOI 30 or KOS MOI 10 in the presence or absence of 400 μg/mL PAA (pictures shown for no PAA are the same as for C and D); (B) mock treated; (C) SI with n212 MOI 30; or (D) SI with KOS MOI 10. 9 1/2 hrs post-SI the samples were fixed and treated for indirect IFA of cell monolayers (Materials and Methods 2.8.1) using a primary Ab to ICP4, an Alex Fluor secondary Ab, and Hoescht nuclei stain. The pictures were taken by a confocal microscope under a 40X oil objective lens. (E) Quantification of indirect IFA assay. Fluorescent microscope pictures were taken of each sample. From these, 100-650 cells were scored as either positive or negative for replication compartments. The bars represent the standard deviation over three independent experiments.



Β.









Figure 3.5.2: n212 is able to replicate its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate replication from the quiescent KM110-Red genome. (A) Southern Assay. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. 4 days post-infection the cells were mock treated or SI with n212 MOI 30 or KOS MOI 10. Eighteen hrs post-SI the cells were harvested for Southern. The DNA was BamHI/NheI restriction digested, and the blot was hybridized to a VP16 probe. The size of the DNA markers is shown on the left in kbp. (B and C) Quantification of Southern blot analysis. The quantity of wt VP16 DNA (B) or mt VP16 DNA (C) was determined using phosphor-imager analysis. This value was normalized to the amount of total DNA (B and C) and to the mt VP16 signal from the samples with no KM110 (C only). The error bars indicate the standard deviation over four independent experiments.



Figure 3.5.3: n212 is able to express late gene products from its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate the production of late gene products from the quiescent KM110-Red.

(A) Western Assay. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. 4 days post-infection the cells were mock treated or SI with n212 MOI 30 or KOS MOI 10. 18 hrs post-SI the cells were harvested for Western as described in Materials and Methods. The blot was incubated with monoclonal primary Abs to VP16, Actin, and U_s11. The size of the protein markers is shown on the left in kDa. (B-D) Quantification of Western blot analysis. The quantity of wt VP16 (B), mt VP16 (C), and U_s11 (D) was determined using phosphor-imager analysis. This value was normalized to the amount Actin in each sample (B-D) and to the mt VP16 signal from the samples with no KM110 (C only). The error bars indicate the standard deviation over four independent experiments.



Figure 3.5.4: n212 is able to produce progeny from its own genome in cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-Red genome, but is unable to reactivate the production of progeny from the quiescent KM110-Red genome.

Progeny Assay. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated or infected with KM110-Red MOI 6. 4 days post-infection the cells were mock treated or SI with n212 MOI 30 or KOS MOI 10. 2 hrs post-SI the cells were Acid Glycine Washed to remove unabsorbed virus. 18 hrs post-SI the cells were harvested for virus progeny as described in Materials and Methods 2.3. The samples were titered on U20S cells in the presence of 3 mM HMBA and the plaques were counted 2 days later using either a light or a fluorescent microscope. A table (A) and graphs (B and C) summarize the resulting viral titers. The standard deviation, represented as \pm (A) or bars (B and C) was calculated from four independent experiments.

Α.

Superinfecting Virus (SIV)	KM110-R (+ or -)	SIV Titer (PFU/ mL)	KM110-R Titer (PFU/mL)
Mock	-	0	N/A
	+	0	1.25 x 10 ³ ± 1.5 x 10 ³
n212	-	3.66 x 10 ⁷ ± 1.3 x 10 ⁷	N/A
	+	1.79 x 10 ⁷ ± 8.6 x 10⁵	1.00 x 10⁴ ± 6.8 x 10³
KOS	-	5.52 x 10 ⁷ ± 2.2 x 10 ⁷	N/A
	+	2.63 x 10 ⁷ ± 3.9 x 10 ⁶	8.30 x 10⁵ ± 7.4 x 10⁵

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

121

B.



C.



Figure 3.6.1: U_s 11 leaks from infected cells to uninfected cells during preparation of samples for FACS analysis of indirect IFA. Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated, or infected with KOS MOI 10. After 18 hrs the cells were harvested and prepared for indirect IFA using the protocol for cells in suspension (Materials and Methods 2.8.2) and analyzed by FACS. A monoclonal primary Ab to U_s 11 and an Alexa-fluor goat α -mouse secondary Ab were used. The number of counts is shown on the yaxis, and the intensity of green fluorescence is shown on the x-axis. (A) Mock treated or KOS infected cells. (B) A mixture of 1/2 Mock treated and 1/2 KOS infected cells (cells were mixed together after the 18 hr infection period, but before treatment for indirect IFA).





Figure 3.6.2: At high MOI, enough gC comes in with the virion to give a positive signal for FACS analysis of indirect IFA.

Confluent monolayers of HEL cells were mock treated, or infected with KOS MOI 10 or 100. After 18 hrs the cells were harvested and prepared for indirect IFA using the protocol for cells in suspension (Materials and Methods 2.8.2) and analyzed by FACS. A monoclonal gC Ab was used for the primary Ab and Alexa-fluor goat α -mouse Ab was used for the secondary Ab. The number of counts is shown on the y-axis, and the intensity of green fluorescence is shown on the x-axis. (A) Mock treated or KOS MOI 10 infected cells (cells were mixed together after the 18 hr infection period, but before treatment for indirect IFA). (C) Cells infected with MOI 100 KOS in the presence or absence of 400 µg/ml PAA.



CHAPTER 4 : DISCUSSION

4.1 Summary of thesis results:

The experiments described in this investigation were done in order to determine if the nature of the repression of a quiescent mutant virus is such that a quiescent viral genome will remain silent even in the presence of an almost identical, replicating virus. HSV mutants that are unable to express **E** genes become quiescent following infection (Roizman & Knipe, 2001). Once this state has become established, no viral gene products are produced and the viral genome can be reactivated only by the provision of ICP0, its functional homologues from other herpesviruses, or the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor trichostatin A (TSA) (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Hobbs & DeLuca, 1999, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*, 1998, Stow & Stow, 1989).

In order to confirm that ICP0 is necessary for the reactivation of a quiescent genome, and rule out the possibility that other HSV products are also required, we tested the ability of various HSV IE mutants to reactivate quiescent KM110-R. The results of FACS, Southern, and Western analysis all indicated that ICP0 is the only HSV product necessary for the reactivation of a quiescent genome. However, we also found that replication of the ICP0 mutant virus is inhibited on monolayers that had previously been infected with KM110-R. We therefore tested if a lingering antiviral response, triggered in response to KM110-R infection, was likely to be affecting ICP0 mutant replication. We found that although the levels of ISG 56K mRNA had dissipated by four days following induction, there was still a sufficient antiviral response to inhibit wild type virus. In subsequent experiments we used a higher MOI of the ICP0 mutant in order compensate for its deficiencies in overcoming an antiviral response.

126

Discussion

An accurate determination of the proportion of cells harbouring the KM110-R genome is essential for drawing meaningful conclusions from our experiments. This was achieved using FACS analysis to measure the expression of red fluorescence expressed from KM110-R following its reactivation by SI with wild type virus. We were initially concerned that progeny KM110-R produced following reactivation of the quiescent genome could infect neighbouring cells, and therefore lead to an overestimate of the proportion of cells initially infected by KM110-R. We therefore tested the ability of wild type and IE mutant viruses to prevent subsequent infection of cells with progeny virus. We found that previous infection with wild type virus (Figure 4.2) or an ICP0, ICP22, or ICP27 mutant (data not shown) completely prevents SI of cells, and that ICP4 mutants were able to prevent SI of many, but not all cells (data not shown). The ability of HSV to prevent SI is attributed to the production of gD and its expression on the cell surface during productive infection (Campadelli-Fiume et al., 1988, Campadelli-Fiume et al., 1990, Dasika & Letchworth, 2000). As ICP4 mutants are unable to produce gD on non-complementing cell lines (DeLuca et al., 1985), such as the HEL cells used in these experiments, it is unclear why ICP4 mutants were able to prevent SI in any of the cells. However, gD is a component of ICP4 mutant virions. Therefore, at the high MOI used in these experiments, many of the cells may have acquired enough gD to prevent superinfection from the fusion of virion and cellular membranes. Alternatively, these results may indicate that there is more than one mechanism for HSV to prevent reinfection.

We next asked if ICP0 mutants are able to overcome the antiviral response induced by KM110-R and infect cells that harbour the KM110-R genome. FACS analysis allowed us to determine the proportion of cells harbouring the quiescent KM110-R genome and the proportion of cells SI with the green fluorescent-tagged ICP0 mutant. We found that ICP0 mutants are capable of infecting cells that harbour KM110-R. However, the expression of - Discussion -

the IE gene EGFP does not indicate that ICP0 mutants are able to overcome the antiviral response and complete the lytic cycle. We therefore used indirect immunofluorescence in order to determine if ICP0 mutant infection proceeds past the IE stage and leads to the formation of viral DNA replication compartments. We found that ICP0 mutants were able to form viral DNA replication compartments in cells that harboured the KM110-R genome. Results from Southern, Western and progeny assay confirmed that the ICP0 mutant was able to replicate in cells that harboured the quiescent KM110-R genome, but that it did not lead to reactivation of KM110-R. These results show that, in the absence of ICP0, the quiescent KM110-R genome is silent in the presence of an almost identical, replicating virus.

The experiments described in this investigation, in conjunction with previous work, indicate that the quiescent genome has been made inaccessible to cellular transcription and viral DNA replication machinery. Despite the presence of all the necessary components, there is no activation of promoters or replication of DNA from the quiescent genome. This is a surprising finding because DNA from other sources, such as transfected plasmids, is readily expressed in the presence of the necessary transactivators. The silencing of quiescent viral genomes could occur in at least two ways. The viral genome could be sequestered in an inaccessible place, or, non-exclusively, could be converted to an inaccessible state. Neither of these possibilities has been sufficiently researched to reveal how silencing is achieved.

There are many unanswered questions about quiescence, and therefore many areas of interest for further research. A few key topics will be discussed in detail here. First, both the location of and the structure of the quiescent genome are largely unknown. Additionally, the mechanism of action of ICP0 in the reactivation from and prevention of quiescence has not yet been determined. Lastly, the importance of the antiviral response for the establishment of quiescence has not been shown.

128

4.2 Location of the quiescent genome:

The precise cellular location of quiescent HSV-1 genomes is currently unknown; however, previous research indicates that they are likely to be found within the nucleus. Firstly, the genome of HSV-1 localizes to the periphery of nuclear domain 10 (ND10) structures following infection (Maul *et al.*, 1996). In these experiments, Maul et al used fluorescent in situ hybridization (FISH) to detect the viral genome and antibodies to PML and Sp100 to detect ND10 structures. Localization of the viral genome to the periphery of ND10 was found to occur even when viral gene expression was prevented using cycloheximide (Maul *et al.*, 1996); conditions that mimic what would be experienced by viruses that are unable to express IE genes and therefore become quiescent. Secondly, biochemical fractionation experiments performed by Jamieson et al show that by four days post-infection quiescent *in*1883 (VP16⁻/ICP0⁻/TK⁻) genomes are found exclusively in the nuclear fraction (Jamieson *et al.*, 1995).

A number of techniques could be used to determine the location of quiescent HSV-1 genomes in relation to subnuclear structures. One method would be to use FISH in conjunction with antibodies to PML and Sp100, as was done by Maul et al, in order to determine the location of quiescent HSV-1 genomes in relation to ND10. Some disadvantages associated with this technique are that the high GC content of HSV makes FISH difficult, and that the cells must be fixed in order to perform FISH and to stain with antibodies: which can lead to artifacts. Another method, designed by Sourvinos and Everett, could be adapted to allow the detection of viral genomes in live cells with a fluorescent-labeled DNA binding protein (Sourvinos & Everett, 2002). Using yellow fluorescent protein (YFP) fused to the tetracycline repressor DNA binding protein, they were able to determine the location of plasmids marked
with copies of the tetracycline operator sequence. In addition to this, they were able to detect ND10 structures in live cells using PML expressed from baculovirus (Sourvinos & Everett, 2002). An important advantage of this method is that, as it can be used in live cells, it would allow one to observe the location of the quiescent genome, in the same samples, over a period of time. However, there are also possible disadvantages. One is that the fluorescentlabeled DNA binding protein targeted to the viral genome could interfere with the establishment of quiescence which, as will be discussed later, likely involves the association of the viral genome with cellular proteins. Alternatively, cellular proteins involved in silencing the viral genome may prevent the fluorescent-labeled DNA binding proteins from binding the viral genome; therefore, the quiescent genomes would be undetectable by this method. In addition to their relative location in relation to ND10 structures, it would also be of interest to determine whether guiescent genomes localize to nuclear areas associated with high gene activity (euchromatin), or areas associated with silent genes (heterochromatin). DAPI staining of nuclear DNA, in conjunction with FISH or fluorescent-labeled DNA binding proteins, could be used to determine the location of guiescent genomes in relation to heterochromatin areas, which stain brightly with DAPI, or euchromatin areas, which stain less brightly (Maison et al., 2002).

The techniques described above could be used to determine the location of quiescent genomes over the period of a number of days. This would allow us to determine if the location of the viral genome changes in accordance with the differences seen in its susceptibility to various transactivators over time. As previously mentioned in the introduction, the viral genome of quiescent mutants can initially be activated by the provision of VP16 or HMBA but, after 24 hours, the genome is immune to these activators and can be reactivated only by the provision of ICP0 or TSA (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego *et al.*,

1998, Stow & Stow, 1989). It seems likely that, initially, the genome of quiescent mutant viruses localizes to areas adjacent to ND10. The experiments done by Maul et al (described above) showed that, at 5 hrs post-infection and in the presence of cycloheximide, the viral genome localizes to the periphery of ND10 (Maul *et al.*, 1996). Whether the viral genome is retained at these regions after it has become immune to activators such as VP16 and HMBA remains to be seen.

Movement of the viral genome away from ND10 structures once quiescence has been firmly established could indicate that sequestration of the viral genome away from components found in ND10 plays a role in its silencing. Sourvinos and Everett found that the association of the HSV-1 genome with ND10 structures is facilitated by viral sequences and proteins, and that genomes associated with ND10 have an increased probability of initiating DNA replication (Sourvinos & Everett, 2002). The genome of another member of the herpesvirus family, Epstein-Barr virus, is not associated with ND10 structures during latency (Bell et al., 2000). However, following reactivation, there is an increased association of viral genomes with ND10 structures, and replication occurs in close association with the remnants of disrupted ND10 (Bell et al., 2000). These experiments indicate that association with ND10 structures is advantageous for viral replication. Alternatively, continued association of the HSV-1 genome with ND10 structures once quiescence is firmly established may implicate ND10 components in the establishment of and maintenance of quiescence (discussed further below).

Movement of the viral genome to regions of cellular heterochromatin (a highly condensed form of DNA) once quiescence has been firmly established would imply that a close proximity to heterochromatin plays a role in the silencing of the viral genome. Genes that reside in heterochromatic regions such as the inactive X-chromosome, centromeric regions, and telomeres are not expressed (Elgin, 1996). Even genes close to heterochromatin can be

silenced: a phenomenom first described in *Drosophila melanogaster*, and called position effect variegation (Eissenberg *et al.*, 1990, Eissenberg *et al.*, 1992). Alternatively, if the viral genome remains in areas of euchromatin (a less condensed form of DNA) once quiescence has been firmly established, it would imply that the mechanism for silencing the quiescent genome is maintained even in areas where other genes are highly expressed. This would indicate that the structure of the quiescent genome plays a very important role in its silencing.

4.3 Structure of the quiescent genome:

The structure of quiescent HSV-1 genomes and the cellular proteins involved in their silencing are currently unknown. Higher order chromatin structure is an important control of gene expression that can lead to the accessibility or inaccessibility of DNA to transcription factors and regulatory proteins. Histone and DNA modifications can lead to a more or a less compact structure by altering how tightly the DNA is bound by histones. These modifications can include DNA methylation of the dinucleotide CpG, and acetylation, phosphorylation, and methylation of histones (Marmorstein & Roth, 2001).

Heterochromatin is an extreme example of transcriptionally inert DNA. Markers of heterochromatin include; DNA methylation at CpG dinucleotides (Bird, 2002), hypoacetylation of histones (Jeppesen *et al.*, 1992), histone H3 methylation at lysine (K) 9 (Peters *et al.*, 2001) and enrichment in heterochromatin protein-1 (HP1) (James & Elgin, 1986).

The available data indicates that quiescent genomes may be packaged as heterochromatin. As previously mentioned in the introduction, all promoters tested to date, including those from HSV-1, HCMV, and human cells, are silent in the context of the quiescent genome (Preston & Nicholl, 1997, Samaniego

et al., 1998). This indicates that the repression of the quiescent genome is global and not likely sequence specific (Preston, 2000); which points to an epigenetic mechanism, such as heterochromatin, of silencing. Additionally, the histone deacetylase (HDAC) inhibitor trichostatin A (TSA) induces reactivation of quiescent d109 (mutant in all 5 IE genes) genomes (Hobbs & DeLuca, 1999). Exposure to TSA, which leads to histone hyperacetylation (Yoshida *et al.*, 1990), can disrupt HP1 proteins concentrated in heterochromatic areas (Taddei *et al.*, 2001). Therefore the de-repression of quiescent genomes in response to TSA also suggests a heterochromatin-based silencing mechanism.

A number of techniques could be used to test if the structure of quiescent genomes is similar to heterochromatin. For example, bisulfite sequencing, a method where unmethylated cytosines are chemically converted to uracils, could be used to test for the methylation at CpG dinucleotides that is commonly seen in heterochromatin. Kubat et al used this method to test for DNA methylation of latent genomes, but did not find methylation at any of the tested loci (Kubat *et al.*, 2004). Finding that quiescent genomes are DNA methylated could indicate structural differences between quiescent and latent genomes. The repression of latent genomes appears to be less severe than for quiescent genomes (Preston, 2000), therefore a different structure or silencing mechanism seems likely.

Proteins involved in the silencing of quiescent viral genomes could be identified using chromatin immunoprecipitation (ChIP) assays. Kubat and colleagues recently used this technique with an anti-acetyl histone H3 (K9, K14) antibody to identify regions of latent genomes associated with histone H3 acetylated at lysines 9 and 14 (characteristic of euchromatic or nonrepressed DNA) from areas that were not (Kubat *et al.*, 2004). Antibodies to cellular proteins known to be involved in transcriptional repression, such as HP1 and Sp100 (Seeler *et al.*, 1998), as well as antibodies to the various histone modifications known to mark heterochromatin, could be used to test

the association of these proteins with quiescent genomes. However, the success of ChIP, and therefore the amount of information that can be gathered with this method, is very dependent upon the quality of the antibodies available. For example, antibodies that are of sufficient quality for ChIP are not yet available for trimethyl histone H3 (K9), a modification that recruits HP1 (Kubat *et al.*, 2004).

A technique developed by van Steensel and Henikoff may prove a useful method for determining if HP1, or other DNA binding proteins, are associated with quiescent genomes. They constructed a fusion protein consisting of Dam methylase linked to the amino terminus of full length HP1 and found that it could be used to determine the genes targeted by HP1 (van Steensel & Henikoff, 2000). When the Dam/HP1 fusion protein is expressed in cells it targets natural HP1 binding sites, which are then Dam methylated. Dam methylation leads to 6-methyl-A, which is not normally found in eukaryotic DNA. Methylated sequences can be distinguished from unmethylated sequences by comparing the restriction digest patterns of the enzymes Dpnl, which does not cleave methylated sites, and DpnII, which does not cleave unmethylated sites. Van Steensel et al found that, in Drosophila melanogaster, the predominant targets of HP1 were pericentric genes and transposable elements (mostly in pericentric heterochromatin) (van Steensel et al., 2001). Pericentric heterochromatin is an example of constitutive heterochromatin that remains condensed throughout the cell cycle (Maison et al., 2002). An association between HP1 and quiescent genomes could indicate that the virus is targeted by a cellular system used for permanent gene silencing.

Determination of the structure of quiescent genomes will give important clues for the elucidation of the cellular repression machinery, as well as the mechanism for the ICP0-mediated defense against this repression.

4.4 Role of ICP0 in the prevention of and the reactivation from quiescence:

4.4.1 Prevention of quiescence:

The way in which ICP0 prevents the repression of the viral genome is still unknown. The discovery of the E3 ubiquitin ligase activity of ICP0 (Everett et al., 1993, Freemont et al., 1991) has lead to speculation that ICPO leads to the degradation of a cellular repression mechanism through the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. However, the identity of this putative cellular repression mechanism is also unknown. One possibility is that ICP0 disrupts ND10 structures (Everett & Maul, 1994, Maul & Everett, 1994, Maul et al., 1993) in order to prevent repression. A number of ND10 components, including PML, Sp100, HP1, and hDaxx have been shown to be transcriptional repressors (Hollenbach et al., 2002, Seeler et al., 1998, Wu et al., 2001), supporting the viewpoint of ND10 as an intra-nuclear defense mechanism protective against viral infection. Therefore, the HSV-genome, as well as the genomes of other DNA viruses, could be vulnerable to these repressors unless they are degraded or dispersed. DNA viruses such as HSV, HCMV, EBV, adenovirus, and papillomavirus whose genomes localize to areas adjacent to ND10 upon infection all have proteins that lead to the degradation or alteration of ND10proteins (reviewed in (Everett, 2001)).

Both PML (Everett *et al.*, 1998a) and Sp100 (Chelbi-Alix & de The, 1999) are targeted for degradation by ICP0. Additionally, the disruption of ND10, which occurs as a result of the ICP0-mediated degradation of PML (Ishov *et al.*, 1999, Zhong *et al.*, 2000), may cause the dispersal of other components involved in transcriptional repression, and therefore prevent them from interacting with the viral genome. However, the importance of this is unclear as overexpression of PML, which prevents the dispersal of ND10

components following exposure to ICP0, does not have an inhibitory effect on HSV-1 (Lopez *et al.*, 2002). ND10 may not be the only structure disrupted by ICP0 in order to disperse transcriptional repressors. HP1 and hDaxx are also components of centromeres, which are disrupted by the ICP0-mediated degradation of the centromeric proteins CENP-C and CENP-A (Everett *et al.*, 1999a, Lomonte & Everett, 1999). Experiments to determine additional proteins that are targeted for degradation by ICP0 could lead to identifying the cellular repression mechanism. Proteins suspected of being involved could be tested by Western analysis. Any that are degraded following infection with wild-type, or a virus that expresses only ICP0, but are not degraded following infection with an ICP0 mutant are likely to be targets of ICP0. Once more is known about the structure of the quiescent genome, proteins that are involved in the formation of that structure could be tested to determine if they are targets of ICP0.

4.4.2 Reactivation from quiescence:

Provision of ICP0 is sufficient to reverse repression and lead to reactivation of quiescent genomes (Everett *et al.*, 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Stow & Stow, 1989); however, the mechanism for this is unknown. Other agents that are able to reverse repression, such as TSA and ICP0 functional homologues from other herpes viruses, have been shown to inhibit HDACs. For example, the mouse cytomegalovirus (MCMV) iE1 protein recruits HDAC-2 to ND10. The binding of HDAC-2 by MCMV iE1 decreases its deacetylation activity and thereby reverses its repressive effect (Tang & Maul, 2003). Similarly, the interaction between bovine herpesvirus 1 immediateearly protein (bICP0) and HDAC1 leads to activation of transcription and inhibition of transcriptional repression (Zhang & Jones, 2001). This raises the possibility that the ability of ICP0 to reverse repression of quiescent genomes

Reproduced with permission of the copyright owner. Further reproduction prohibited without permission.

may also involve inhibition of HDACs. However, a mechanism by which ICP0 inhibits HDAC1 and 2 is not likely to be similar to the examples just described, as it has been shown that ICP0 does not co-immunoprecipitate with either of these HDACs (Lomonte *et al.*, 2004). Additionally, the proteasome inhibitor MG132 has been shown to prevent ICP0-mediated reactivation of quiescent genomes (Everett *et al.*, 1998a), indicating that proteasomal degradation of a cellular factor is necessary.

ICP0 may have a direct role in the inhibition of HDACs. For example, HDAC1 levels have been shown to decrease in response to HSV-1 infection (Poon et al., 2003). Alternatively, ICP0 may have an indirect role by leading to the degradation of a cellular factor that leads to the activation of, or prevents the inactivation of HDACs. Poon et al found that HDAC1 and 2 were modified by the viral protein kinase U_s3 in HSV-1 infected cells in what appeared to be an ICP0 dependent manner (Poon et al., 2003); however, it is still unknown if this modification affects the function of these HDACs. The effect of ICP0 on the deacetylase activity of HDACs could be determined. HDACs immunoprecipitated from uninfected samples and samples infected with wild type virus, an ICP0 mutant, and an U_s3 mutant could be assayed for deacetylase activity using the same in vitro assay as Tang et al, with ³Hacetylated histone 4 as the substrate (Tang & Maul, 2003). A decrease in the deacetylation ability of the HDACs in response to wild type infection, but not ICP0 or U_s3 mutant infection, could indicate that the modification of these HDACs by U_S3 decreases their deacetylation activity and that ICP0 is somehow necessary for this modification to occur. A possible role for ICP0 could be to lead to the degradation of a cellular factor that prevents U_s3 from modifying these HDACs. However, as ICP0, in the absence of any other HSV gene product, is sufficient for the reactivation of quiescent genomes (Everett et al., 1998b, Harris & Preston, 1991, Stow & Stow, 1989), it is unlikely that U_s3 would be required for the main mechanism by which ICP0 reverses repression.

4.5 Role of the antiviral response in the establishment of quiescence:

The importance of an antiviral response for the establishment of quiescence is currently unknown. As described previously in the introduction, HSV infection triggers an antiviral response that leads to the induction of many of the same ISGs as IFN (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). This antiviral response is disarmed both by ICP0, which overcomes a barrier to transcription, and by ICP34.5, which overcomes a barrier to translation (Mossman & Smiley, 2002). However, viruses that establish quiescence, such as the VP16/ICP0 mutant KM110, do not express viral proteins and therefore cannot disarm the antiviral response (Mossman *et al.*, 2001). The antiviral response triggered following viral infection may up-regulate the expression of proteins involved in silencing the quiescent genome. For example, over-expression of Sp100 (an ISG (Regad & Chelbi-Alix, 2001)) leads to greater accumulation of HP1 in ND10 (Seeler *et al.*, 1998). If HP1 is involved in silencing of the viral genome, this could indicate how the establishment of quiescence is facilitated by the induction of an antiviral response.

A convenient system for determining if the establishment of quiescence is hindered or prevented in the absence of an antiviral response would be to use mouse embryonic cells. If mutant viruses such as KM110 establish quiescence in mouse embryonic cells, cell lines with specific genes knocked out could be used to test the importance of each gene for the silencing of viral genomes. For example, Collins et al found that the induction of ISGs in response to HSV infection requires IRF-3 (Collins *et al.*, 2004). Therefore, if an IRF3^{-/-} mouse cell line supported the growth of KM110, it would indicate that an antiviral response is necessary for the establishment of quiescence. The effect of knocking out various ISGs, such as PML or Sp100, could be tested in

a similar manner. Use of mouse embryonic cells would also open up the possibility of determining if Toll-like receptor 3 (TLR3) signaling, and subsequent activation of IRF-3 (Fitzgerald *et al.*, 2003), is responsible for the induction of an antiviral response following infection by enveloped viruses.

U2OS cells, which are permissive for VP16/ICP0 mutants (Yao & Schaffer, 1995), do not show induction of ISG 56K in response to KM110 infection (Mossman & Smiley, 2002). This raises the possibility that the inability of U2OS cells to mount an antiviral response in response to KM110 is responsible for their permissive phenotype. However it is also possible, as suggested by Yao and Schaffer, that U2OS cells express a protein with similar properties to ICP0 that allows them to complement VP16/ICP0 mutant viruses (Yao & Schaffer, 1995). These possibilities can be distinguished by determining if the complementation of KM110 on U2OS cells results from a gain of function, which would be a dominant phenotype, or a loss of function, which would be a recessive phenotype. HEL cells, which are non-permissive for KM110, could be fused to U2OS cells. The fused cells could then be infected and tested for their ability to support growth of KM110. A permissive (dominant) phenotype would indicate that U2OS cells have a protein that complements VP16/ICP0 mutant viruses. A non-permissive (recessive) phenotype would suggest that the ability of U2OS cells to support KM110 is a result of a mutation that prevents them from silencing the mutant viral genome. This could be the result of a mutation that inactivates a signaling pathway necessary for the induction of an antiviral response following HSV infection. Alternatively, the permissive phenotype of U2OS cells may be a result of a mutation that inactivates the putative gene silencing mechanism.

4.6 Concluding remarks:

At this point, a great deal of work will need to be done in order to determine how cells repress mutant HSV genomes, and how the wild type virus is able to avoid this repression. The answers to these questions will have broader implications than simply a greater understanding of HSV biology. Increased knowledge about cellular mechanisms for fighting HSV and other DNA viruses could eventually lead to new treatments or cures. Viral vectors for use in gene therapy may be vulnerable to the same cellular mechanism that is responsible for the suppression of quiescent HSV mutants. Therefore, information learned from studies on quiescence could also be used to overcome difficulties encountered in the development of gene therapy vectors.

CHAPTER 5 : REFERENCES

Ackermann, M., Braun, D. K., Pereira, L. & Roizman, B. (1984). Characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 α proteins 0, 4, and 27 with monoclonal antibodies. *Journal of Virology* **52**, 108-118.

Adams, H. G., Benson, E. A., Alexander, E. R., Vontver, L. A., Remington, M. A. & Holmes, K. K. (1976). Genital herpetic infection in men and women: Clinical course and effect of topical application of adenine arabinoside. *J Infect Dis* **133**, 151-156.

Advani, S. J., Brandimarti, R., Weichselbaum, R. R. & Roizman, B. (2000a). The disappearance of cyclins A and B and the increase in activity of the G(2)/M-phase cellular kinase cdc2 in herpes simplex virus 1-infected cells require expression of the alpha22/U(S)1.5 and U(L)13 viral genes. *J Virol* 74, 8-15. Advani, S. J., Hagglund, R., Weichselbaum, R. R. & Roizman, B. (2001a). Posttranslational processing of infected cell proteins 0 and 4 of herpes simplex virus 1 is sequential and reflects the subcellular compartment in which the proteins localize. *J Virol* 75, 7904-7912.

Advani, S. J., Weichselbaum, R. R. & Roizman, B. (2000b). The role of cdc2 in the expression of herpes simplex virus genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **97**, 10996-11001.

Advani, S. J., Weichselbaum, R. R. & Roizman, B. (2001b). cdc2 cyclindependent kinase binds and phosphorylates herpes simplex virus 1 U(L)42 DNA synthesis processivity factor. *J Virol.* **75**, 10326-33.

Advani, S. J., Weichselbaum, R. R. & Roizman, B. (2003). Herpes simplex virus 1 activates cdc2 to recruit topoisomerase II alpha for post-DNA synthesis expression of late genes. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **100**, 4825-30.

Alwine, J. C., Steinhart, W. L. & Hill, C. W. (1974). Transcription of herpes simplex type 1 DNA in nuclei isolated from infected HEp-2 and KB cells. *Virology* **60**, 302-307.

Andrea, M. D., Ravera, R., Gioia, D., Gariglio, M. & Landolfo, S. (2002). The interferon system: an overview. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology* 6, A41-A46.

Arnheiter, H., Frese, M., Kamadur, R., Meier, E. & Haller, O. (1996). Mx transgenic mice-animal models of health. *Curr. Top. Microbiol.* **206**, 119-147. Bacchetti, S., Evelegh, M. J. & Muirhead, B. (1986). Identification and separation of the two subunits of the herpes simplex virus ribonucleotide reductase. *J. Virol.* **57**, 1177-1181.

Bandyopadhyay, S. K., Leonard, G. T., Bandyopadhyay, T., Stark, G. R. & Sen, G. C. (1995). Transcriptional induction by double-stranded RNA is mediated by interferon-stimulated response elements without activation of interferon-stimulated gene factor 3. *J. Biol. Chem* **270**, 19624-19629.

Batterson, W., Furlong, D. & Roizman, B. (1983). Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. VII. Further characterization of a ts mutant defective in release of viral DNA and in other stages of viral reproductive cycle. *J. Virol.* **45**, 397-407.

Bell, P., Lieberman, P. M. & Maul, G. G. (2000). Lytic but not latent replication of Epstein-Barr virus is associated with PML and induces sequential release of nuclear domain 10 proteins. *J. Virol.* **74**, 11800-11810.

Beswick, T. S. (1962). The origin and the use of the word *herpes. Med Hist* 6, 214.

Bird, A. (2002). DNA methylation patterns and epigenetic memory. *Genes Dev* **16**, 6-21.

Blaho, J. A., Mitchell, C. & Roizman, B. (1993). Guanylylation and adenylylation of the α regulatory proteins of herpes simplex virus require a viral β or γ function. *Journal of Virology* **67**, 3891-3900.

Bluyssen, H. A., Muzaffar, R., Vlieststra, R. J., van der Made, A. C., Leung, S., Stark, G. R., Kerr, I. M., Trapman, J. & Levy, D. E. (1995). Combinatorial association and abundance of components of interferon-stimulated gene factor 3 dictate the selectivity of interferon responses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 92, 5645-9.

Boehmer, P. E., Dodson, M. S. & Lehman, I. R. (1993). The herpes simplex virus type-1 origin binding protein. DNA helicase activity. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 1220-1225.

Boutell, C. & Everett, R. D. (2003). The HSV-1 regulatory protein ICP0 interacts with and ubiquitinates p53. *J Biol Chem* **278**, 36596-36602. Boutell, C., Sadis, S. & Everett, R. D. (2002). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 and its isolated RING finger domain act as ubiquitin E3 ligases in vitro. *J Virol* **76**, 841-50.

Boyle, K. A., Pietropaolo, R. L. & Compton, T. (1999). Engagement of the cellular receptor for glycoprotein B of human cytomegalovirus activates the interferon-response pathway. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* **19**, 3607-3613. Bruni, R., Fineschi, B., Ogle, W. O. & Roizman, B. (1999). A novel cellular protein, p60, interacting with both herpes simplex virus 1 regulatory proteins ICP22 and ICP0 is modified in a cell-type-specific manner and is recruited to the nucleus after infection. *J Virol.* **73**, 3810-3817.

Bruni, R. & Roizman, B. (1998). Herpes simplex virus 1 regulatory protein ICP22 interacts with a new cell cycle-regulated factor and accumulates in a cell cyle-dependent fashion in infected cells. *J Virol* **72**, 8525-8531.

Bryant, H. E., Matthews, D. A., Wadd, S., Scott, J. E., Kean, J., Graham, S., Russell, W. C. & Clements, J. B. (2000). Interaction between herpes simplex virus type 1 IE63 protein and cellular protein p32. *J Virol* **7 4**, 11322-8. Bryant, H. E., Wadd, S. E., Lamond, A. I., Silverstein, S. J. & Clements, J. B. (2001). Herpes simplex virus IE63 (ICP27) protein interacts with spliceosomeassociated protein 145 and inhibits splicing prior to the first catalytic step. *J Virol* **7 5**, 4376-85.

Cai, W., Astor, T. L., Lipak, L. M., Cho, C., Coen, D. M. & Schaffer, P. A. (1993). The herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP0 enhances virus replication during acute infection and reactivation from latency. J. Virol. 67, 7501-7512. Cai, W. & Schaffer, P. A. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICPO plays a critical role in the de novo synthesis of infectious virus following transfection of viral DNA. J. Virol. 63, 4579-4589. Cai, W. & Schaffer, P. A. (1992). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 regulates expression of immediate-early, early, and late genes in productively infected cells. J Virol. 66, 2904-15. Campadelli-Fiume, G., Arsenakis, M., Farabegoli, F. & Roizman, B. (1988). Entry of herpes simplex virus 1 in BJ cells that constitutively express viral glycoprotein D is by endocytosis and results in degradation of the virus. J. Virol. 62, 159-167. Campadelli-Fiume, G., Qi, S., Avitabile, E., Foa-Tomasi, L., Brandimarti, R. & Roizman, B. (1990). Glycoprotein D of herpes simplex virus encodes a domain which precludes penetration of cells expressing the glycoprotein by superinfecting herpes simplex virus. J. Virol 64, 6070-6079. Campbell, M. E. M., Palfreyman, J. W. & Preston, C. M. (1984). Identification of herpes simplex virus DNA sequences which encode a trans-acting polypeptide responsible for the stimulation of immediate early transcription. J Mol Biol 180, 1-19. Canning, M., Boutell, C., Parkinson, J. & Everett, R. D. (2004). A RING finger ubiquitin ligase is protected from auto-catalyzed ubiquitination and degradation by binding to ubiquitin-specific protease USP7. J. Biol. Chem. Epub ahead of print. Caradonna, S., Worrad, D. & Lirette, R. (1987). Isolation of a herpes simplex virus cDNA encoding the DNA repair enzyme uracil-DNA glycosylase. J. Virol. **61**, 3040-3047. Carrozza, M. J. & DeLuca, N. (1998). The high mobility group protein 1 is a coactivator of herpes simplex virus ICP4 in vitro. J Virol 72, 6752-7. Carrozza, M. J. & DeLuca, N. A. (1996). Interaction of the viral activator protein ICP4 with TFIID through TAF250. Mol. Cell. Biol. 16, 3085-3093. Carter, K. L. & Roizman, B. (1995). The promoter and transcriptional unit of a novel herpes simplex virus 1 α gene are contained in, and encode protein in frame with, the open reading frame of the $\alpha 22$ gene. J. Virol. 70, 172-178. Carter, K. L. & Roizman, B. (1996). Alternatively spliced mRNAs predicted to yield frame-shift proteins and stable intron 1 RNAs of the herpes simplex virus 1 regulatory gene alpha 0 accumulate in the cytoplasm of infected cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 93, 12535-12540. Cassady, K. A., Gross, M. & Roizman, B. (1998). The second-site mutation in the herpes simplex virus recombinants lacking the gamma134.5 genes

precludes shutoff of protein synthesis by blocking the phosphorylation of elF-2alpha. *J Virol* **72**, 7005-11.

Challberg, M. D. (1986). A method for identifying the viral genes required for herpesvirus DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., USA 83, 9094-9098. Chee, A. V., Lopez, P., Pandolfi, P. P. & Roizman, B. (2003). Promyelocytic leukemia protein mediates interferon-based anti-herpes simplex virus 1 effects. J Virol 77, 7101-5. Chelbi-Alix, M. K. & de The, H. (1999). Herpes virus induced proteasomedependent degradation of the nuclear bodies-associated PML and Sp100 proteins. Oncoaene 18, 935-41. Chelbi-Alix, M. K., Quignon, F., Pelicano, L., Koken, M. H. & de The, H. (1998). Resistance to virus infection conferred by the interferon-induced promyelocytic leukemia protein. J Virol. 72, 1043-51. Chen, I. H., Sciabica, K. S. & Sandri-Goldin, R. M. (2002). ICP27 interacts with the RNA export factor Aly/REF to direct herpes simplex virus type 1 intronless mRNAs to the TAP export pathway. J Virol 76, 12877-89. Chen, J. & Silverstein, S. (1992). Herpes simplex viruses with mutations in the gene encoding ICPO are defective in gene expression. J Virol 66, 2916-2927. Chen, S. H., Kramer, M. J., Schaffer, P. A. & Coen, D. M. (1997). A viral function represses accumulation of transcripts from productive-cycle genes in mouse ganglia latently infected with herpes simplex virus. J. Virol. 71, 5878-5884. Ciufo, D. M., Mullen, M. A. & Hayward, G. S. (1994). Identification of a dimerization domain in the C-terminal segment of the IE110 transactivator protein from herpes simpex virus. J Virol. 68, 3267-3282. Clemens, M. J. & Elia, A. (1997). The double-stranded RNA-dependent protein kinase PKR: structure and function. J. Interferon Cytokine Res. 17, 503-524. Cocchi, F. & al., e. (1998). The V domain of herpesvirus Ig-like receptor (HIgR) contains a major functional region in herpes simplex virus-1 entry into cells and interacts physically with the viral glycoprotein D. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA **95**, 15700-15705. Collins, S. E., Noyce, R. S. & Mossman, K. L. (2004). Innate cellular response to virus particle entry requires IRF3 but not virus replication. Journal of Virology 78, 1706-1717. Conley, A. J., Knipe, D. M., Jones, P. C. & Roizman, B. (1981). Molecular genetics of herpes simplex virus. VII. Characterization of a temperaturesensitive mutant produced by in vitro mutagenesis and defective in DNA synthesis and accumulation of gamma polypeptides. J. Virol. 37, 191-206. Constanzo, F., Campadelli-Fiume, G., Foa-Tomasi, L. & Cassai, E. (1977). Evidence that herpes simplex virus DNA is transcribed by cellular polymerase B. J Virol. 21, 996-1001. Cook, M. L. & Stevens, J. G. (1973). Pathogenesis of herpetic neuritis and ganglionitis in mice: Evidence of intra-axonal transport of infection. Infect

144

Immun 7, 272-288.

Crew, M. D. & Phanavanh, B. (2003). Exploiting virus stealth technology for xenotransplantation: reduced human T cell responses to porcine cells expressing herpes simplex virus ICP47. Xenotransplantation 10, 50-9. Crute, J. J., Mocarski, E. S. & Lehman, I. R. (1988). A DNA helicase induced by herpes simplex virus type 1. Nucleic Acids Research 16, 6585-6596. Darnell, J. E. J., Kerr, I. M. & Stark, G. R. (1994). Jak-STAT pathways and transcriptional activation in response to IFNs and other extracellular signaling proteins. Science 264, 1415-21. Dasika, G. K. & Letchworth, G. J. (2000). Homologous and heterologous interference requires bovine herpesvirus-1 glycoprotein D at the cell surface during virus entry. J. Gen. Virol. 81, 1041-9. de Bruyn Kops, A., Uprichard, S. L., Chen, M. & Knipe, D. M. (1998). Comparison of the intranuclear distributions of herpes simplex virus proteins involved in various viral functions. Virology 252, 162-78. Deiss, L. P., Chou, J. & Frenkel, N. (1986). Functional domains within the a sequence involved in the cleavage-packaging of the herpes simplex virus DNA. Journal of Virology 59, 605-618. Delius, H. & Clements, J. B. (1976). A partial denaturation map of herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA: Evidence for inversions of the unique DNA regions. J Gen Virol 33, 125-133. DeLuca, N. A., McCarthy, A. M. & Schaffer, P. A. (1985). Isolation and characterization of deletion mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1 in the gene encoding immediate-early regulatory protein ICP4. J Virol. 56, 558-570. DeLuca, N. A. & Schaffer, P. A. (1987). Activities of herpes simplex virus type 1 (HSV-1) ICP4 genes specifying nonsense peptides. Nucleic Acids Res 1 5, 4491-4511. Deshmane, S. L. & Fraser, N. W. (1989). During latency, herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA is associated with nucleosomes in a chromatin structure. *Journal* of Virology 63, 943-947. deVeer, M. J., Holko, M., Frevel, M., Walker, E., Der, S., Paranjape, J. M., Silverman, R. H. & Williams, B. R. G. (2001). Functional classification of interferon-stimulated genes identified using microarrays. J. Leukoc. Biol. 69, 912-920. Dixon, R. A. & Schaffer, P. A. (1980). Fine-structure mapping and functional analysis of temperature-sensitive mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein VP175. J Virol 36, 189-203. Doepker, R. C., Hsu, W. L., Saffran, H. A. & Smiley, J. R. (2004). Herpes simplex virus virion host shutoff protein is stimulated by translation initiation factors elF4B and elF4H. J Virol. 78, 4684-99.

Dong, B. & Silverman, R. H. (1995). 2-5A-dependent RNase molecules dimerize during activation by 2-5A. J. Biol. Chem. 270, 4133-4137.

Duenas, A., Adam, E., Melnick, J. L. & Rawls, W. E. (1972). Herpes virus type-2 in a prostitute population. *Am J Epidemiol* **95**, 483-489.

Duprez, E., Saurin, A. J., Desterro, J. M., Lallemand-Breitenbach, B., Howe, K., Boddy, M. N., Soloman, E., de The, H., Hay, R. T. & Freemont, P. S. (1999). SUMO-1 modification of the acute promyelocytic leukemia protein PML: implications for nuclear organisation. J Cell Sci 112, 381-393. Eidson, K. M., Hobbs, W. E., Manning, B. J., Carlson, P. & DeLuca, N. A. (2002). Expression of herpes simplex virus ICP0 inhibits the induction of interferonstimulated genes by viral infection. J Virol 76, 2180-91. Eissenberg, J. C., James, T. C., Foster-Hartnett, D. M., Harnett, T., Ngan, V. & Elgin, S. C. R. (1990). Mutation in a heterochromatin-specific chromosomal protein is associated with suppression of position-effect variegation in Drosophila melanogaster. Proc Natl Aca Sci USA 87, 9923-9927. Eissenberg, J. C., Morris, G., Reuter, G. & Harnett, T. (1992). The heterochromatin associated protein HP1 is an essential protein in Drosophila with dosage effects on position effect variegation. Genetics 131, 345-352. Elgin, S. C. R. (1996). Heterochromatin and gene regulation in Drosophila. Curr Op Genet Dev 6, 193-202. Elias, P., O'Donnell, M. E., Mocarski, E. S. & Lehman, I. R. (1986). A DNA binding protein specific for an origin of replication of herpes simplex virus type 1. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 83, 6322-6326. Elion, G. B., Furman, P. A., Fyfe, J. A., de Miranda, P., Beauchamp, L. & Schaeffer, H. J. (1977). Selectivity of action of an antiherpetic agent, 9-(2hydroxyethoxymethyl) guanine. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 74, 5716-20. Eom, C.-Y. & Lehman, I. R. (2003). Replication-initiator protein (UL9) of the herpes simplex virus 1 binds NFB42 and is degraded via the ubiquitinproteasome pathway. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 100, 9803-9807. Eom, C. Y. & Lehman, I. R. (2002). The human DnaJ protein, hTid-1, enhances binding of a multimer of the herpes simplex virus type 1 UL9 protein to oris, an origin of viral DNA replication. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99, 1894-8. Everett, R. D. (1984). Transactivation of transcription by herpes virus products: requirement for two HSV-1 immediate-early polypeptides for maximum activity. EMBO J. 3, 3135-3141. Everett, R. D. (1987). A detailed mutational analysis of Vmw110, a transacting transcriptional activator encoded by herpes simplex virus type 1. EMBO J. 6, 2069-2076. Everett, R. D. (1988). Analysis of the functional domains of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early polypeptide Vmw110. J. Mol. Biol. 202, 87-96. Everett, R. D. (1989). Construction and characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 mutants with defined lesions in immediate-early gene 1. J. Gen. Virol 70, 1185-1202.

Everett, R. D. (2000a). ICP0 induces the accumulation of colocalizing conjugated ubiquitin. *J Virol* **74**, 9994-10005.

Everett, R. D. (2000b). ICP0, a regulator of herpes simplex virus during lytic and latent infection. *Bioessays* **22**, 761-70.

Everett, R. D. (2001). DNA viruses and viral proteins that interact with PML nuclear bodies. *Oncogene* **20**, 7266-7273.

Everett, R. D., Barlow, P., Luis, B., Hope, G., Orr, A., Milner, A. & Lyon, D. (1993). A novel arrangement of zinc binding residues and secondary structure in the C_3HC_4 motif of an alpha herpes virus protein family. *J Mol Biol* **234**, 1038-1047.

Everett, R. D., Boutell, C. & Orr, A. (2004a). Phenotype of a Herpes Simplex Virus Type 1 Mutant That Fails To Express Immediate-Early Regulatory Protein ICP0. *J Virol.* **78**, 1763-74.

Everett, R. D., Earnshaw, W. C., Findlay, J. & Lomonte, P. (1999a). Specific destruction of kinetochore protein CENP-C and disruption of cell division by herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein Vmw110. *EMBO J.* **18**, 1526-38. Everett, R. D., Earnshaw, W. C., Pluta, A. F., Sternsdorf, T., Ainsztein, A. M., Carmena, M., Ruchaud, S., Hsu, W.-L. & Orr, A. (1999b). A dynamic connection

between centromeres and ND10 proteins. *J Cell Sci* **112**, 3443-3454.

Everett, R. D., Freemont, P., Saitoh, H., Dasso, M., Orr, A., Kathoria, M. & Parkinson, J. (1998a). The disruption of ND10 during herpes simplex virus infection correlates with the Vmw110- and proteasome-dependent loss of several PML isoforms. *J. Virol.* **72**, 6581-91.

Everett, R. D. & Maul, G. G. (1994). HSV-1 IE protein Vmw110 causes redistribution of PML. *EMBO J.* **13**, 5062-5069.

Everett, R. D., Meredith, M. & Orr, A. (1999c). The ability of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein Vmw110 to bind to a ubiquitin-specific protease contributes to its roles in the activation of gene expression and stimulation of virus replication. *J. Virol.* **73**, 417-26.

Everett, R. D., Meredith, M., Orr, A., Cross, A., Kathoria, M. & Parkinson, J. (1997). A novel ubiquitin-specific protease is dynamically associated with the PML nuclear domain and binds to a herpesvirus regulatory protein. *EMBO J.* **1**6, 1519-30.

Everett, R. D., O'Hare, P., O'Rouke, D., Barlow, P. & Orr, A. (1995). Point mutations in the herpes simplex virus type 1 Vmw110 ring finger helix affect activation of gene expression, viral growth, and interaction with PML-containing structures. *J. Virol.* **69**, 7339-7344.

Everett, R. D., Orr, A. & Elliott, M. (1991a). High level expression and purification of herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early polypeptide Vmw110. *Nucl. Acids Res.* **19**, 6155-6161.

Everett, R. D., Orr, A. & Preston, C. M. (1998b). A viral activator of gene expression functions via the ubiquitin- proteasome pathway. *Embo J.* **17**, 7161-9.

Everett, R. D., Preston, C. M. & Stow, N. D. (1991b). Functional and genetic analysis of the role of Vmv 110 in herpes simplex virus replication. In *The control of herpes simplex virus gene expression*, pp. 50-76. Edited by E. K. Wagner. Boca Raton: CRC Press Inc.

Everett, R. D., Sourvinos, G., Leiper, C., Clements, J. B. & Orr, A. (2004b). Formation of nuclear foci of the herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP4 at early times of infection: localization, dynamics, recruitment of ICP27, and evidence for the de novo induction of ND10-like complexes. J Virol. 78. 1903-17. Farnsworth, A., Goldsmith, K. & Johnson, D. C. (2003). Herpes simplex virus glycoproteins gD and gE/gl serve essential but redundant functions during acquisition of the virion envelope in the cytoplasm. J Virol 77, 8481-94. Farrell, M. J., Dobson, A. T. & Feldman, L. T. (1991). Herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcript is a stable intron. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 88, 790-794. Feldman, R. M., Correll, C. C., Kaplan, K. B. & Deshaies, R. J. (1997). A complex of Cdc4p, Skp1p, and Cdc53p/cullin catalyzes ubiquitination of the phosphorylated CDK inhibitor Sic1p. Cell 91, 221-30. Fitzgerald, K. A., McWhirter, S. M., Faia, K. L., Rowe, D. C., Latz, E., Golenbock, D. T., Coyle, A. J., Liao, S. M. & Maniatis, T. (2003). IKKepsilon and TBK1 are essential components of the IRF3 signaling pathway. Nat Immunol. 4, 491-6. Fleming, D. T., McQuillan, G. M., Johnson, R. E., Nahmias, A. J., Aral, S. O., Lee, F. K. & St Louis, M. E. (1997). Herpes simplex virus type 2 in the United States, 1976-1994. N Engl J Med 337, 1105-1111. Flewett, T. H., Parker, R. G. F. & Philip, W. M. (1969). Acute hepatitis due to herpes simplex virus in an adult. J Clin Pathol 22, 60-66. Foecking, M. K. & Hofstetter, H. (1986). Powerful and versatile enhancerpromoter unit for mammalian expression vectors. Gene 45, 101-105. Forrester, A., Farrell, H., Wilkinson, G., Kave, J., Davis-Povnter, N. & Minson, T. (1992). Construction and properties of a mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 with glycoprotein H coding sequences deleted. J. Virol. 66, 341-348. Freemont, P. S. (2000). Ubiquitination: RING for destruction? Curr Biol 1 0, R84-R87. Freemont, P. S., Hanson, I. M. & Trowsdale, J. (1991). A novel cysteine-rich sequence motif. Cell 64, 483-484. Fruh, K., Ahn, K., Djaballah, H., Sempe, P., van Endert, P. M., Tampe, R., Peterson, P. A. & Yang, Y. (1995). A viral inhibitor of peptide transporters for antigen presentation. Nature 375, 415-8. Furlong, D., Swift, H. & Roizman, B. (1972). Arrangement of herpesvirus deoxyribonucleic acid in the core. J Virol. 10, 1071-1074. Gaffney, D. F., McLauchlan, J., Whitton, J. L. & Clements, J. B. (1985). A modular system for assay of transcription regulatory signals: the sequence TAATGARAT is required for herpes simplex virus immediate-early gene activation. Nuc. Acids Res. 13, 7847-7863. Gao, M. & Knipe, D. M. (1991). Potential role for herpes simplex virus ICP8 DNA replication protein in stimulation of late gene expression. J Virol 65, 2666-75.

- References

Garber, D. A., Schaffer, P. A. & Knipe, D. M. (1997). A LAT-associated function reduces productive-cycle gene expression during acute infection of murine sensory neurons with herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Virol.* **71**, 5885-5893. Gelman, I. H. & Silverstein, S. (1985). Identification of immediate early genes from herpes simplex virus that transactivates the virus thymidine kinase gene. *Proc. Natl. Sci. USA* **82**, 5265-5269.

Geraghty, R. J., Krummenacher, C., Cohen, G. H., Eisenberg, R. J. & Spear, P. G. (1998). Entry of alphaherpesviruses mediated by poliovirus receptor-related protein 1 and poliovirus receptor. *Science* **280**, 1618-20.

Glorioso, J. C., DeLuca, N. A. & Fink, D. J. (1995). Development and application of herpes simplex virus vectors for human gene therapy. *Ann. Rev. Micr.* **4**9, 675-710.

Grondin, B. & DeLuca, N. (2000). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP4 promotes transcription preinitiation complex formation by enhancing the binding of TFIID to DNA. *J Virol* **74**, 11504-10.

Gu, B. & DeLuca, N. (1994). Requirements for activation of the herpes simplex virus glycoprotein C promoter in vitro by the viral regulatory protein ICP4. *J. Virol.* **68**, 7953-7965.

Guo, J., Hui, D. J., Merrick, W. C. & Sen, G. C. (2000). A new pathway of translational regulation mediated by eukaryotic initiation factor 3. *EMBO J* **1** 9, 6891-6899.

Hagglund, R. & Roizman, B. (2002). Characterization of the novel E3 ubiquitin ligase encoded in exon 3 of herpes simplex virus-1-infected cell protein 0. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **99**, 7889-7894.

Hagglund, R. & Roizman, B. (2003). Herpes simplex virus 1 mutant in which ICP0 HUL-1 E3 ubiquitin ligase site is disrupted stabilizes cdc34 but degrades D-type cyclins and exhibits diminished neurotixicity. *J Virol.* **77**, 13194-13202.

Hagglund, R. & Roizman, B. (2004). Role of ICP0 in the strategy of conquest of the host cell by herpes simplex virus 1. *J Virol.* **78**, 2169-2178.

Hagglund, R., Van Sant, C., Lopez, P. & Roizman, B. (2002). Herpes simplex virus 1-infected cell protein 0 contains two E3 ubiquitin ligase sites specific for different E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* **99**, 631-636.

Halford, W. P., Kemp, C. D., Isler, J. A., Davido, D. J. & Schaffer, P. A. (2001). ICPO, ICP4, or VP16 expressed from adenovirus vectors induces reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus type 1 in primary cultures of latently infected trigeminal ganglion cells. *J Virol.* **75**, 6143-53.

Haque, S. J. & Williams, B. R. (1994). Identification and characterization of an interferon (IFN)-stimulated response element-IFN-stimulated gene factor 3-independent signaling pathway for IFN-alpha. *J Biol Chem* **269**, 19523-9. Hardwicke, M. A. & Sandri-Goldin, R. M. (1994). The herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP27 contributes to the decrease in cellular mRNA levels during infection. *J. Virol.* **68**, 4797-4810.

Hardy, W. R. & Sandri-Goldin, R. M. (1994). Herpes simplex virus inhibits host cell splicing, and regulatory protein ICP27 is required for this effect. J. Virol. **68**, 7790-7799. Harle, P., Sainz, B., Jr., Carr, D. J. & Halford, W. P. (2002). The immediate-early protein, ICP0, is essential for the resistance of herpes simplex virus to interferon-alpha/beta. Virology 293, 295-304. Harris, R. A., Everett, R. D., Zhu, X. X., Silverstein, S. & Preston, C. M. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein Vmw110 reactivates latent herpes simplex virus type 2 in an in vitro latency system. Journal of Virology 63, 3513-3515. Harris, R. A. & Preston, C. M. (1991). Establishment of latency in vitro by the herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant in1814. J. Gen. Virol. 72, 907-913. Hayward, G. S., Jacob, R. J., Wadsworth, S. C. & Roizman, B. (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA: Evidence for four populations of molecules that differ in the relative orientations of their long and short components. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 72, 4243-4247. Heine, J. W., Honess, R. W., Cassai, E. & Roizman, B. (1974). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. XII. The virion polypeptides of type 1 strains. J. Virol. 14, 640-651. Henderson, G., Peng, W., Jin, L., Perng, G. C., Nesburn, A. B., Wechsler, S. L. &

Jones, C. (2002). Regulation of caspase 8- and caspase 9-induced apoptosis by the herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcript. *J Neurovirol.* **8**, 103-11.

Hershko, A. & Ciechanover, A. (1998). The ubiquitin system. *Annu Rev Biochem* **67**, 425-479.

Hill, A., Jugovic, P., York, I., Russ, G., Bennink, J., Yewdell, J., Ploegh, H. & Johnson, D. (1995). Herpes simplex virus turns off the TAP to evade host immunity. *Nature* **375**, 411-415.

Hobbs, W. E. I. & DeLuca, N. A. (1999). Perturbation of cell cycle progression and cellular gene expression as a function of herpes simplex virus ICP0. *J Virol* **73**, 8245-8255.

Hollenbach, A. D., McPherson, C. J., Mientjes, E. J., Iyengar, R. & Grosveld, G. (2002). Daxx and histone deacetylase II associate with chromatin through an interaction with core histones and the chromatin-associated protein Dek. *J Cell Sci***115**, 3319-30.

Homa, F. L. & Brown, J. C. (1997). Capsid assembly and DNA packaging in herpes simplex virus. *Rev Med Virol.* **7**, 107-122.

Honess, R. W. & Roizman, B. (1973). Proteins specified by herpes simplex virus. XI. Identification and relative molar rates of synthesis of structural and nonstructural herpes virus polypeptides in the infected cell. *J Virol.* **12**, 1347-1365.

Honess, R. W. & Roizman, B. (1974). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis. I. Cascade regulation of the synthesis of three groups of viral proteins. *J Virol.* **14**, 8-19.

Huang, A. S. & Wagner, R. R. (1964). Penetration of herpes simplex virus into human epidermoid cells. *Proc Social Exp Biol Med* **116**, 863-869.

Huff, J. C., Krueger, G. G., Overall, J. C. J., Copel, J. & Spruance, S. L. (1981). The histopathologic evolution of recurrent herpes simplex labialis. *J Am Acad Dermatol* **5**, 550-7.

Ingram, A., Phelan, A., Dunlop, J. & Clements, J. B. (1996). Immediate early protein ICP63 of herpes simplex virus type 1 binds RNA directly. *J. Gen. Virol.* **77**, 1847-1851.

Isaacs, A. & Lindenmann, J. (1957). Virus interference. I. The interferon. *Proc Roy Soc* **B147**, 258-267.

Ishov, A. M. & Maul, G. G. (1996). The periphery of nuclear domain 10 (ND10) as site of DNA virus deposition. *J Cell Biol* **134**, 815-26.

Ishov, A. M., Sotnikov, A. G., Negorev, D., Vladimirova, O. V., Neff, N., Kamitani, T., Yeh, E. T., 3rd, S. J. F. & Maul, G. G. (1999). PML is critical for ND10 formation and recruits the PML-interacting protein daxx to this nuclear structure when modified by SUMO-1. *J. Cell. Biol.* **147**, 221-34.

Jackson, P. K., Eldridge, A. G., Freed, E., Furstenthal, L., Hsu, J. Y., Kaiser, B. K. & Reimann, D. R. (2000). The lore of the RINGs: substrate recognition and catalysis by ubiquitin ligases. *Trends Cell Biol* **10**, 429-439.

Jackson, S. A. & DeLuca, N. A. (2003). Relationship of herpes simplex virus genome configuration to productive and persistent infections. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **100**, 7871-6.

Jahedi, S., Markovitz, N. S., Filatov, F. & Roizman, B. (1999). Colocalization of the herpes simplex virus 1 UL4 protein with infected cell protein 22 in small, dense nuclear structures formed prior to onset of DNA synthesis. *J Virol* **73**, 5132-8.

James, T. C. & Elgin, S. C. (1986). Identification of a nonhistone chromosomal protein associated with heterochromatin in *Drosophila melanogaster* and its gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **6**, 3862-3872.

Jamieson, D. R., Robinson, L. H., Daksis, J. I., M.J., N. & Preston, C. M. (1995). Quiescent viral genomes in human fibroblasts after infection with herpes simplex virus type 1 Vmw65 mutants. *J. Gen. Virol.* **76**, 1417-1431.

Jean, S., LeVan, K. M., Song, B., Levine, M. & Knipe, D. M. (2001). Herpes simplex virus 1 ICP27 is required for transcription of two viral late (gamma 2) genes in infected cells. *Virology* **283**, 273-84.

Jenkins, H. L. & Spencer, C. A. (2001). RNA polymerase II holoenzyme modifications accompany transcription reprogramming in herpes simplex virus type 1-infected cells. *J Virol* **75**, 9872-84.

Jeppesen, P., Mitchll, A., Turner, B. & Perry, P. (1992). Antibodies to defined histone epitopes reveal variations in chromatin conformation and underacetylation of centric heterochromatin in human metaphase chromosomes. *Chromosoma* **101**, 322-332.

Jin, L., Peng, W., Perng, G. C., Brick, D. J., Nesburn, A. B., Jones, C. & Wechsler, S. L. (2003). Identification of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated

transcript sequences that both inhibit apoptosis and enhance the spontaneous reactivation phenotype. *J Virol.* **77**, 6556-61.

Joazeiro, C. A. P., Wing, S. S., Huang, H., Leverson, J. D., Hunter, T. & Liu, Y.-C. (1999). The tyrosine kinase negative regulator c-Cbl as a RING-type, E2-dependent ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Science* **286**, 309-312.

John, J., McKendry, R., Pellegrini, S., Flavell, D., Kerr, I. M. & Stark, G. R. (1991). Isolation and characterization of a new mutant human cell line unresponsive to alpha and beta interferons. *Mol Cell Biol.* **11**, 4189-95. Johnson, D. C. & Huber, M. T. (2002). Directed egress of animal viruses promotes cell-to-cell spread. *J Virol* **76**, 1-8.

Kamitani, T., Kito, K., Nguyen, H. P., Wada, H., Fukuda-Kamitani, T. & Yeh, E. T. H. (1998). Identification of three major sentrinization sites in PML. *J Biol Chem* **273**, 26675-26682.

Katan, M. A., Haigh, C. P., Verrijzer, C. P., van der Vliet, P. C. & O'Hare, P. (1990). Characterization of a cellular factor which interacts functionally with Oct-1 in the assembly of a multicomponent transcription complex. *Nucleic Acid Research* **18**, 6871-6880.

Kawaguchi, Y., Bruni, R. & Roizman, B. (1997a). Interaction of herpes simplex virus 1 α regulatory protein ICP0 with elongation factor 1 δ : ICP0 affects translational machinery. *J. Virol.* **71**, 1019-1024.

Kawaguchi, Y., Tanaka, M., Yokoymama, A., Matsuda, G., Kato, K., Kagawa, H., Hirai, K. & Roizman, B. (2001). Herpes simplex virus 1 alpha regulatory protein ICP0 functionally interacts with cellular transcription factor BMAL1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* **98**, 1877-82.

Kawaguchi, Y., Van Sant, C. & Roizman, B. (1997b). Herpes simplex virus 1 alpha regulatory protein ICP0 interacts with and stabilizes the cell cycle regulator cyclin D3. *J. Virol.* **71**, 7328-36.

Kerr, I. M. & Brown, R. E. (1978). pppA2' p5' A2' p5' A: an inhibitor of protein synthesis is synthesized with an enzyme fraction from interferon-treated cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **75**, 256-260.

Kieff, E. D., Bachenheimer, S. L. & Roizman, B. (1971). Size, composition, and structure of the deoxyribonucleic acid of herpes simplex virus subtypes 1 and 2. *J Virol.* **8**, 125-132.

Kit, S. & Dubbs, D. R. (1965). Properties of deoxythymidine kinase partially purified from noninfected and virus-infected mouse fibroblast cells. *Virology* **26**, 16-27.

Knipe, D. M., Senechek, D., Rice, S. A. & Smith, J. L. (1987). Stages in the nuclear association of the herpes simplex virus transcriptional activator protein ICP4. *J Virol.* **61**, 276-84.

Kochs, G. & Haller, O. (1999). Interferon-induced human MxA GTPase blocks nuclear import of Thogoto virus nucleocapsids. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* 96, 2082-2086.

Koffa, M. D., Clements, J. B., Izaurralde, E., Wadd, S., Wilson, S. A., Mattaj, I. W. & Kuersten, S. (2001). Herpes simplex virus ICP27 protein provides viral

mRNAs with access to the cellular mRNA export pathway. Embo J 20, 5769-78. Kohl, S., Adam, E., Matson, D. O., Kaufman, R. H. & Dreesman, G. R. (1982). Kinetics of human antibody responses to primary genital herpes simplex infection. Intervirology 18, 164-168. Kosz-Vnenchak, M., Coen, D. M. & Knipe, D. M. (1990). Restricted expression of herpes simplex virus lytic genes during establishment of latent infection by thymidine kinase-negative mutant viruses. J. Virol. 64, 5396-5402. Krause, P. R., Croen, K. D., Straus, S. E. & Ostrove, J. M. (1988). Detection and preliminary characterization of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts in latently infected human trigeminal ganglia. J. Virol. 62, 4819-4923. Kristie, T. M., Lebowitz, J. H. & Sharp, P. A. (1989). The octamer-binding proteins form multi-protein-DNA complexes with the HSV alpha TIF regulatory protein. EMBO Journal 8, 4229-4238. Kristie, T. M., Pmerantz, J. L., Twomey, T. C., Parent, S. A. & Sharp, P. A. (1995). The cellular C1 factor of the herpes simplex virus enhancer complex is a family of polypeptides. J. Biol. Chem 270, 4387-4394. Kristie, T. M. & Roizman, B. (1984). Separation of sequences defining basal expression from those conferring alpha gene recognition within the regulatory domains of herpes simplex virus alpha genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Science. USA 84, 71-75. Kristie, T. M. & Roizman, B. (1986). DNA-binding site of major regulatory protein alpha 4 specifically associated with promoter-regulatory domains of alpha genes of herpes simplex virus type 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 83. 4700-4704. Kristie, T. M. & Roizman, B. (1987). Host cell proteins binds to the cis-acting site required for virion-mediated induction of herpes simplex virus alpha genes. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 84, 71-75. Kristie, T. M. & Sharp, P. A. (1990). Interaction of the Oct-1 POU subdomains with specific DNA sequences and with the HSV alpha-trans-activator protein. Genes Dev. 4, 2383-2396. Kristie, T. M., Vogel, J. L. & Sears, A. E. (1999). Nuclear localisation of the C1 factor (host cell factor) in sensory neurons correlates with reactivation of

herpes simplex from latency. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 1229-1233. Kubat, N. J., Tran, R. K., McAnany, P. & Bloom, D. C. (2004). Specific histone tail modification and not DNA methylation is a determinant of herpes simplex virus type 1 latent gene expression. *J Virol.* **78**, 1139-49.

Kuddus, R., Gu, B. & DeLuca, N. A. (1995). Relationship between TATA-binding protein and herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP4 DNA-binding sites in complex formation and repression of transcription. *J. Virol.* **69**, 5568-5575.

Kwon, B. S., Gangarosa, L. P., Burch, K. D., deBack, J. & Hill, J. M. (1981). Induction of ocular herpes simplex virus shedding by iontophoresis of

epinephrine into rabbit cornea. Invest. Ophthalmol. Visual Sci. 21, 442-449.

Kwong, A. D. & Frenkel, N. (1987). Herpes simplex virus-infected cells contain a function(s) that destablizes both host and viral mRNAs. Proc Natl Acad Sci U SA84, 1926-1930. La Boissiere, S., Hughes, T. & O'Hare, P. (1999). HCF-dependent nuclear import of VP16. EMBO J. 18, 480-9. Lachmann, R. H., Browne, H. C. & Efstathiou, S. (1996). A murine RNA polymerase I promoter inserted into the herpes simplex virus type 1 genome is functional during lytic, but not latent, infection. J. Gen. Virol. 77, 2575-2582. Lam, Q., Smibert, C. A., Koop, K. E., Lavery, C., Capone, J. P., Weinheimer, S. P. & Smiley, J. R. (1996). Herpes simplex virus VP16 rescues viral mRNAs from destruction by the virion host shutoff function. EMBO J. 15, 2575-2581. Lees-Miller, S. P., Long, M. C., Kilvert, M. A., Lam, V., Rice, S. A. & Spencer, C. A. (1996). Attenuation of DNA-dependent protein kinase activity and its catalytic subunit by the herpes simplex virus type 1 transactivator ICP0. J Virol 70, 7471-7. Lehming, N., Le Saux, A., Schuller, J. & Ptashne, M. (1998). Chromatin components as part of a putative transcriptional repressing complex. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 7322-7326. Leib, D. A., Coen, D. M., Bogard, C. L., Hicks, K. A., Yager, D. R., Knipe, D. M., Tyler, K. L. & Schaffer, P. A. (1989). Immediate early regulatory gene mutants define different stages in the establishment and reactivation of herpes simplex virus latency. J Virol. 63, 759-768. Leib, D. A., Harrison, T. E., Laslo, K. M., Machalek, M. A., Moorman, N. J. &

Virgin, H. W. (1999). Interferons Regulate the Phenotype of Wild-type and Mutant Herpes Simplex Viruses In Vivo. *J. Exp. Med.* **189**, 663-672. Lekstrom-Himes, J. A., Pesnicak, L. & Straus, S. E. (1998). The quantity of latent viral DNA correlates with the relative rates at which herpes simplex viru

latent viral DNA correlates with the relative rates at which herpes simplex virus types 1 and 2 cause recurrent genital herpes outbreaks. *J Virol.* **72**, 2760-2764.

Lengyel, J., Guy, C., Leong, V., Borge, S. & Rice, S. A. (2002). Mapping of functional regions in the amino-terminal portion of the herpes simplex virus ICP27 regulatory protein: importance of the leucine-rich nuclear export signal and RGG Box RNA-binding domain. *J Virol* **76**, 11866-79.

Leopardi, R., Ward, P. L., Ogle, W. O. & Roizman, B. (1997). Association of herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP22 with transcriptional complexes containing EAP, ICP4, RNA polymerase II, and viral DNA requires

posttranslational modification by the U_L13 protein kinase. *J. Virol.* **71**, 1133-1139.

Li, X., Leung, S., Qureshi, S., Darnell, J. E. J. & Stark, G. R. (1996). Formation of STAT1-STAT2 heterodimers and their role in the activation of IRF-1 gene transcription by interferon-alpha. *J Biol Chem.* **271**, 5790-4.

Ligas, M. W. & Johnson, D. C. (1988). A herpes simplex virus mutant in which glycoprotein D sequences are replaced by β -galactosidase sequences binds to but is unable to penetrate into cells. *Journal of VIrology* **62**, 1486-1494.

Lin, B. T. (1991). Retinoblastome cancer suppressor gene product is a substrate of the cell cyle regulator cdc2 kinase. EMBO Journal 10, 857-864. Lin, R., Noyce, R. S., Collins, S. E., Everett, R. D. & Mossman, K. L. (2004). The herpes simplex virus ICP0 RING finger domain inhibits IRF3- and IRF7mediated activation of interferon-stimulated genes. Journal of Virology 78, 1675-1684. Lindberg, A. & Kreivi, J. P. (2002). Splicing inhibition at the level of spliceosome assembly in the presence of herpes simplex virus protein ICP27. Virology 294, 189-98. Lium, E. K. & Silverstein, S. (1997). Mutational analysis of the herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 C₃HC₄ zinc ring finger reveals a requirement for ICP0 in the expression of the essential $\alpha 27$ gene. J. Virol. 71, 8602-8614. Lomonte, P. & Everett, R. D. (1999). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein Vmw110 inhibits progression of cells through mitosis and from G1 into S phase of the cell cycle. J Virol 73, 9456-9467. Lomonte, P., Sullivan, K. F. & Everett, R. D. (2001). Degradation of nucleosome-associated centromeric histone H3-like protein CENP-A induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 protein ICP0. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 5829-35. Lomonte, P., Thomas, J., Texier, P., Caron, C., Khochbin, S. & Epstein, A. L. (2004). Functional interaction between class II histone deacetylases and ICPO of herpes simplex virus type 1. J Virol. 78, 6744-57. Long, M. C., Leong, V., Schaffer, P. A., Spencer, C. A. & Rice, S. A. (1999). ICP22 and the UL13 protein kinase are both required for herpes simplex virusinduced modification of the large subunit of RNA polymerase II. J Virol 73, 5593-604. Longnecker, R. & Roizman, B. (1986). Generation of an inverting herpes simplex virus 1 mutant lacking the L-S junction a sequences, an origin of DNA synthesis, and several genes including those specifying glyocoprotein E and the $\alpha 47$ gene. Journal of Virology 58, 583-591. Lopez, P., Jacob, R. J. & Roizman, B. (2002). Overexpression of promyelocytic leukemia protein precludes the dispersl of ND10 structures and has no effect on accumulation of infectious herpes simplex virus 1 or its proteins. J. Virol. 76, 9355-9367. Lopez, P., Van Sant, C. & Roizman, B. (2001). Requirements for the nuclearcytoplasmic translocation of infected-cell protein 0 of herpes simplex virus 1. J. Virol. 75, 3832-40. Lorick, K. L., Jensen, J. P., Fang, S., Ong, A. M., Hatakeyama, S. & Weissman, A. M. (1999). RING finger mediate ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme (E2)dependent ubiquitination. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 96, 11363-11369. Luby, J. P., Gnann, J. W. J., Alexander, W. J., Hatcher, V. A., Friedman-Kien, A. E., Klein, R. J., Keyserling, H., Nahmias, A., Mills, J. & Schachter, J. (1984). A collaborative study of patient-initiated treatment of recurrent genital herpes with topical acyclovir or placebo. J Infect Dis 150, 1-6.

Luo, M. J. & Reed, R. (1999). Splicing is required for rapid and efficient mRNA export in metazoans. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96, 14937-14942. Mackem, S. & Roizman, B. (1980). Regulation of herpesvirus macromolecular synthesis: transcription-initiation sites and domains of α genes. *Proc. Natl.* Acad. Sci., USA 77, 7122-7126. Mackem, S. & Roizman, B. (1982). Structural features of the herpes simplex virus alpha 4, 0, and 27 promoter-regulatory sequences which confer alpha regulation on chimeric thymidine kinase genes. Journal of Virology 44, 939-949. Maggioncalda, J., Mehta, A., Su, Y. H., Fraser, N. W. & Block, T. M. (1996). Correlation between herpes simplex virus type 1 rate of reactivation from latent infection and the number of infected neurons in trigeminal ganglia. Virology 225, 72-81. Maison, C., Bailly, D., Peters, A. H., Quivy, J. P., Roche, D., Taddei, A., Lachner, M., Jenuwein, T. & Almouzni, G. (2002). Higher-order structure in pericentric heterochromatin involves a distinct pattern of histone modification and an RNA component. Nat Genet. 30, 329-34. Markovitz, N. S. & Roizman, B. (2000). Small dense nuclear bodies are the site of localization of herpes simplex virus 1 U(L)3 and U(L)4 proteins and of ICP22 only when the latter protein is present. J Virol 74, 523-8. Marmorstein, R. & Roth, S. Y. (2001). Histone acetyltransferases: function, structure, and catalysis. Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev. 11, 155-161. Maul, G. G. (1998). DNA virus transcription and replication at specific nuclear domain 10. Bioessays 20, 660-667. Maul, G. G. & Everett, R. D. (1994). The nuclear location of PML, a cellular member of the C₃HC₄ zinc-binding domain protein family, is rearranged during herpes simplex virus infection by the C3HC4 viral protein ICP0. J. Gen. Viral. 75, 1223-1233. Maul, G. G., Guldner, H. H. & Spivack, J. G. (1993). Modification of discrete nuclear domains induced by herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early gene 1 product (ICP0). J. Gen. Virol. 74, 2679-2690. Maul, G. G., Ishov, A. M. & Everett, R. D. (1996). Nuclear domain 10 as preexisting potential replication start sites of herpes simplex virus type-1. Virology 217, 67-75. McCarthy, A. M., McMahan, L. & Schaffer, P. A. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 deletion mutant exhibits altered patterns of transcription and are DNA deficient. J. Virol. 63, 18-27. McGregor, F., Phelan, A., Dunlop, J. & Clements, J. B. (1996). Regulation of herpes simplex virus poly(A) site usage and the action of immediate-early protein IE63 in the early-late switch. J. Virol. 70, 1931-1940. McLauchlan, J., Phelan, A., Loney, C., Sandri-Goldin, R. M. & Clements, J. B. (1992). Herpes simplex virus IE63 acts at the posttranscriptional level to stimulate viral mRNA 3' processing. J. Virol. 66, 6939-6945.

McLauchlan, J., Simpson, S. & Clements, J. B. (1989). Herpes simplex virus induces a processing factor that stimulates poly(A) site usage. *Cell* **59**, 1093-1105.

McLean, C., Buckmaster, A., Hancock, D., Buchan, A., Fuller, A. & Minson, A. C. (1982). Monoclonal antibodies to three nonglycosylated antigens of herpes simplex virus type 2. *J. Gen. Virol.* **63**, 297-305.

McMahan, L. & Schaffer, P. A. (1990). The repressing and enhancing functions of the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP27 map to the C-terminal regions and are required to modulate viral gene expression very early in infection. *J. Virol.* **64**, 3471-3485.

McNamee, E. E., Taylor, T. J. & Knipe, D. M. (2000). A dominant-negative herpesvirus protein inhibits intranuclear targeting of viral proteins: Effects on DNA replication and late gene expression. *J. Virol.* **74**, 10122-10131. Mears, W. & Rice, S. A. (1996). The RGG box motif of the herpes simplex virus ICP27 protein mediates an RNA -binding activity and determines in vivo methylation. *J. Virol.* **70**, 7445-7453.

Mears, W. E., Lam, V. & Rice, S. A. (1995). Identification of nuclear and nucleolar localization signals in the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein ICP27. *J Virol* **69**, 935-47.

Mears, W. E. & Rice, S. A. (1998). The herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein ICP27 shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm. *Virology* **242**, 128-37.

Mellerick, D. M. & Fraser, N. W. (1987). Physical state of the latent herpes simplex virus genome in a mouse model system: evidence suggesting an episomal state. *Virology* **158**, 265-275.

Meredith, M., Orr, A., Elliott, M. & Everett, R. (1995). Separation of sequence requirements for HSV-1 Vmw110 multimerisation and interaction with a 135-kDa cellular protein. *Virology* **209**, 174-187.

Meredith, M., Orr, A. & Everett, R. (1994). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein Vmw110 binds strongly and specifically to a 135-kDa cellular protein. *Virology* **200**, 457-469.

Mertz, G. J., Coombs, R. W., Ashley, R., Jourden, J., Remington, M., Winter, C., Fahnlander, A., Guinan, M., Ducey, H. & Corey, L. (1988). Transmission of genital herpes in couples with one symptomatic and one asymptomatic partner: a prospective study. *J Infect Dis* **157**, 1169-77.

Mettenleiter, T. C. (2002). Herpesvirus assembly and egress. *J Virol* **76**, 1537-47.

Michael, N. & Roizman, B. (1989). Binding of herpes simplex virus major regulatory protein to viral DNA. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **86**, 9808-9812. Michael, N. & Roizman, B. (1993). Repression of the herpes simplex virus 1 α 4 gene by its gene product occurs within the context of the viral genome and is associated with all three cognate sites. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **90**, 2286-2290.

Michael, N., Spector, D., Mavromara-Nazos, P., Kristie, T. M. & Roizman, B. (1988). The DNA-binding properties of the major regulatory protein alpha 4 of herpes simplex viruses. Science 239, 1531-1534. Mitchell, C., Blaho, J. A., McCormick, A. L. & Roizman, B. (1997). The nucleotidylylation of herpes simplex virus 1 regulatory protein alpha22 by human casein kinase II. J Biol Chem 272, 25394-400. Mocarski, E.S. & Roizman, B. (1982). Herpesvirus-dependent amplification and inversion of cell-associated viral thymidine kinase gene flanked by viral a sequences and linked to an origin of viral DNA replication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences USA 79, 5626-5630. Montgomerie, J. Z., Becroft, D. M., Croxson, M. C., Doak, P. B. & North, J. D. (1969). Herpes simplex virus infection after renal transplantation. Lancet 2, 867-871. Montgomery, R. I., Warner, M. S., Lum, B. J. & Spear, P. G. (1996). Herpes simplex virus-1 entry into cells mediated by a novel member of the TNF/NGF receptor family. Cell 87, 427-436. Moolten, F. L. (1986). Tumor chemosensitivity conferred by inserted herpes thymidine kinase genes: paradigm for a prospective cancer control strategy. Cancer Res 46, 5276-81. Mossman, K. L., Macgregor, P. F., Rozmus, J. J., Goryachev, A. B., Edwards, A. M. & Smiley, J. R. (2001). Herpes simplex virus triggers and then disarms a host antiviral response. J Virol 75, 750-758. Mossman, K. L., Saffran, H. A. & Smiley, J. R. (2000). Herpes simplex virus ICP0 mutants are hypersensitive to interferon. J Virol 74, 2052-6. Mossman, K. L. & Smiley, J. R. (1999). Truncation of the C-terminal acidic transcriptional activation domain of herpes simplex virus VP16 renders expression of the immediate-early genes almost entirely dependent on ICP0. J *Virol.* **73**, 9726-33. Mossman, K. L. & Smiley, J. R. (2002). Herpes simplex virus ICP0 and ICP34.5 counteract distinct interferon-induced barriers to virus replication. J Virol 76, 1995-8. Muller, M. T. (1987). Binding of the herpes simplex virus immediate-early gene product ICP4 to its own transcription start site. J Virol. 61, 858-65. Muller, S., Matunis, M. J. & Dejean, A. (1998). Conjugation of the ubiquitinrelated modifier SUMO-1 regulates the partitioning of PML within the nucleus.

EMBO J 17, 61-70.

Nabel, G. J., Rice, S. A., Knipe, D. M. & Baltimore, D. (1988). Alternative mechanisms for activation of human immunodeficiency virus enhancer in T cells. *Science* **239**, 1299-302.

Nahmias, A. J. & Dowdle, W. R. (1968). Antigenic and biologic differences in herpesvirus hominis. *Prog Med Virol* **10**, 110-159.

Naib, Z. M., Nahmias, A. J., Josey, W. E. & Zaki, S. A. (1973). Relation of cytohistopathology of genital herpesvirus infection to cervical anaplasia. *Cancer* **33**, 1452-1463.

Negorev, D. & Maul, G. G. (2001). Celluiar proteins localized at and interacting within ND10/PML nuclear bodies/PODs suggest functions of a nuclear depot. *Oncogene* **20**, 7234-7242.

Newcomb, W. W., Homa, F. L., Thomsen, D. R., Ye, Z. & Brown, J. C. (1994). Cell-free assembly of the herpes simplex virus capsid. *J. Virol.* **68**, 6059-6063. Newcomb, W. W., Trus, B. L., Booy, F. P., Steven, A. C., Wall, J. S. & Brown, J. C. (1993). Structure of the herpes simplex virus capsid. Molecular composition of the pentons and the triplexes. *J Mol Biol.* **232**, 499-511.

Nicholl, M. J., Robinson, L. H. & Preston, C. M. (2000). Activation of cellular interferon-responsive genes after infection of human cells with herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Gen Virol* **81**, 2215-2218.

Nimonkar, A. V. & Boehmer, P. E. (2003). Reconstitution of recombinationdependent DNA synthesis in herpes simplex virus 1. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U S A* **100**, 10201-10206.

O'Hare, P. & Gooding, C. R. (1988). Herpes simplex virus regulatory elements and the immunoglobin octamer domain a binds a common factor and are both targets for virion transactivation. *Cell* **52**, 435-445.

O'Hare, P. & Hayward, G. S. (1985a). Evidence for a direct role for both the 175,000- and 110,000- molecular-weight immediate-early proteins of herpes simplex virus in the transcativation of delayed-early promoter. *J. Virol.* **53**, 751-760.

O'Hare, P. & Hayward, G. S. (1985b). Three trans-acting regulatory proteins of herpes simplex virus modulate immediate-early gene expression in a pathway involving positive and negative feedback regulation. *J Virol.* **56**, 723-33. Ogle, W. O., Ng, T. I., Carter, K. L. & Roizman, B. (1997). The U_I 13 protein

kinase and the infected cell type are determinants of posttranslational modification of ICP0. *Virology* **235**, 406-413.

Oroskar, A. A. & Read, G. S. (1987). A mutant of herpes simplex virus type 1 exhibits increased stability of immediate early (alpha) mRNAs. *J Virol.* **61**, 604-606.

Parkinson, J. & Everett, R. D. (2000). Alphaherpesvirus proteins related to herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 affect cellular structures and proteins. *J. Virol.* **74**, 10006-17.

Parkinson, J. & Everett, R. D. (2001). Alphaherpesvirus proteins related to herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP0 induce the formation of colocalizing, conjugated ubiquitin. *J Virol* **75**, 5357-5362.

Parkinson, J., Lees-Miller, S. P. & Everett, R. D. (1999). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein vmw110 induces the proteasome-dependent degradation of the catalytic subunit of DNA- dependent protein kinase. *J Virol* **73**, 650-7.

Patterson, J. B., Thomis, D. C., Hans, S. L. & Samuel, C. E. (1995). Mechanism of interferon action: double-stranded RNA-specific adenosine deaminase from human cells is inducible by alpha and gamma interferons. *Virology* **210**, 508-511.

Peng, W., Henderson, G., Perng, G. C., Nesburn, A. B., Wechsler, S. L. & Jones, C. (2003). The gene that encodes the herpes simplex virus type 1 latencyassociated transcript influences the accumulation of transcripts (Bcl-x(L) and Bcl-x(S)) that encode apoptotic regulatory proteins. J Virol. 77, 10714-8. Perng, G. C., Jones, C., Ciacci-Zanella, J., Stone, M., Henderson, G., Yukht, A., Slanina, S. M., Hofman, F. M., Ghiasi, H., Nesburn, A. B. & Wechsler, S. L. (2000). Virus-induced neuronal apoptosis blocked by the herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcript. Science 2000, 1500-1503. Peters, A. H., O'Carroll, D., Scherthan, H., Mechtler, K., Sauer, S., Schofer, C., Weipoltshammer, K., Pagani, M., Lachner, M., Kohlmaier, A., Opravil, S., Doyle, M., Sibilia, M. & Jenuwein, T. (2001). Loss of the Suv39h histone methyltransferases impairs mammalian heterochromatin and genome stability. Cell 107, 323-37. Peters, K. L., Smith, H. L., Stark, G. R. & Sen, G. C. (2002). IRF-3-dependent, NFkappa B- and JNK-independent activation of the 561 and IFN-beta genes in response to double-stranded RNA. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 99, 6322-7. Petrucco, O. M., Seamark, R. F., Holmes, K., Forbes, I. J. & Symons, R. G. (1976). Changes in lymphocyte function during pregnancy. Br J Obstet *Gynecol* **83**, 245-260. Phelan, A. & Clements, J. B. (1997). Herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate early protein IE63 shuttles between nuclear compartments and the cytoplasm. J. Gen. Virol. 78, 3327-3331. Phelan, A., Dunlop, J., Patel, A. H., Stow, N. D. & Clements, J. B. (1997). Nuclear sites of herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA replication and transcripton colocalize at early times postinfection and are largely distinct from RNA processing factors. J. Virol. 71, 1124-1132. Plummer, G., Goodheart, C. R., Henson, D. & Bowling, C. P. (1969). A

comparative study of the DNA density and behavior in tissue cultures of fourteen different herpesviruses. *Virolology* **39**, 134-137.

Poon, A. P. W., Liang, Y. & Roizman, B. (2003). Herpes simplex virus 1 gene expression is accelerated by inhibitiors of histone deacetylases in rabbit skin cells infected with a mutant carrying a cDNA copy of the infected-cell protein no. 0. *J. Virol.* **77**, 12671-12678.

Post, L. E. & Roizman, B. (1981). A generalized technique for deletion of specific genes in large genomes: α gene 22 of herpes simplex virus 1 is not essential for growth. *Cell* **25**, 27-232.

Preston, C. M. (1979). Control of herpes simplex virus type 1 mRNA synthesis in cells infected with wild-type virus or the temperature-sensitive mutant *tsK*. *J Virol.* **29**, 275-284.

Preston, C. M. (2000). Repression of viral transcription during herpes simplex virus latency. *J Gen Virol* **81**, 1-19.

Preston, C. M., Frame, M. C. & Campbell, M. E. M. (1988). A complex formed between cell components and an HSV structural polypeptide binds to a viral immediate-early gene regulatory DNA sequence. *Cell* **52**, 425-434.

Preston, C. M., Harman, A. N. & Nicholl, M. J. (2001). Activation of interferon response factor-3 in human cells infected with herpes simplex virus type 1 or human cytomegalovirus. Journal of Virology 75, 8909-8916. Preston, C. M. & Nicholl, M. J. (1997). Repression of gene expression upon infection of cells with herpes simplex virus type 1 mutants impaired for immediate-early protein synthesis. J. Virol. 71, 7807-7813. Prod'hon, C., Machuca, I., Berthomme, H., Epstein, A. & Jacquemont, B. (1996). Characterization of regulatory functions of the HSV-1 immediatelyearly protein ICP22. Virology 226, 393-402. Purifoy, D. J., Lewis, R. B. & Powell, K. L. (1977). Identification of herpes simplex virus DNA polymerase gene. Nature 269, 621-23. Purves, F. C., Ogle, W. O. & Roizman, B. (1993). Processing of the herpes simplex virus regulatory protein α 22 mediated by the UL13 protein kinase determines the accumulation of a subset of α and γ mRNAs and proteins in infected cells. Proc. Natl. Sci. USA 90, 6701-6705. Purves, F. C. & Roizman, B. (1992). The UL13 gene of herpes simplex virus 1 encodes the functions for the posttranslational processing associated with phosphorylation of the regulatory protein α22. Proc. Natl. Sci. USA 89, 7310-7314. Quinlan, M. P., Chen, L. B. & Kniipe, D. M. (1984). The intranuclear location of a herpes simplex virus DNA-binding protein is determined by the status of viral DNA replication. Cell 36. 857-868. Quinlan, M. P. & Knipe, D. M. (1985). Stimulation of expression of a herpes simplex virus DNA-binding protein by two viral functions. Mol. Cell. Biol. 5, 957-963. Radosevich, T. J., Seregina, T. & Link, C. J. (2003). Effective suppression of class I major histocompatibility complex expression by the US11 or ICP47 genes can be limited by cell type or interferon-gamma exposure. Hum Gene Ther 14, 1765-75. Ramakrishnan, R., Levine, M. & Fink, D. J. (1994). PCR-based analysis of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency in the rat trigeminal ganglion established with a ribonucleotide reductase-deficient mutant. J. Virol 68, 7083-7091. Randall, R. E. & Dinwoodie, N. (1986). Intranuclear localization of herpes simplex virus immediate-early and delayed-early proteins: evidence that ICP 4 is associated with progeny virus DNA. J. Gen. Virol. 67, 2163-2177. Rawls, W. E., Garfield, C. H., Seth, P. & Adam, E. (1976). Serological and epidemiological considerations of the role of herpes simplex virus type 2 in cerivical cancer. Cancer Res 36, 829-835. Reardon, J. E. & Spector, T. (1989). Herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA polymerase. Mechanism of inhibition by acyclovir triphosphate. J Biol Chem 264, 7405-11.

Regad, T. & Chelbi-Alix, M. K. (2001). Role and fate of PML nuclear bodies in response to interferon and viral infections. *Oncogene* **20**, 7274-7286.

Rice, S. A. & Knipe, D. M. (1990). Genetic evidence for two distinct transactivation functions of the herpes simplex virus α protein ICP27. *J. Virol.* 64, 1704-1715.

Rice, S. A., Long, M. C., Lam, V., Schaffer, P. A. & Spencer, C. A. (1995). Herpes simplex virus immediate-early protein ICP22 is required for viral modification of host RNA polymerase II and establishment of the normal viral transcription program. *J. Virol.* **69**, 5550-5559.

Rice, S. A., Long, M. C., Lam, V. & Spencer, C. A. (1994). RNA polymerase II is aberrantly phosophorylated and localized to viral replication compartments following herpes simplex virus infection. *J. Virol.* **68**, 988-1001.

Rock, D. L. & Fraser, N. W. (1983). Detection of HSV-1 genome in central nervous system of latently infected mice. *Nature* **302**, 523-525.

Rock, D. L. & Fraser, N. W. (1985). Latent herpes simplex virus type 1 DNA contains two copies of the virion DNA joint region. *Journal of Virology* **55**, 849-852.

Rock, D. L., Nesburn, A. B., Ghiasi, H., Ong, J., Lewis, T. L., Lokensgard, J. R. & Wechsler, S. M. (1987). Detection of latency-related viral RNAs in trigeminal ganglia of rabbits latently infected with herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Virol.* **61**, 3820-3826.

Roizman, B., Bartha, A., Biggs, P. M. & al., e. (1973). Provisional labels for herpesviruses. *J. Gen. Virol.* **20**, 417-419.

Roizman, B. & Knipe, D. M. (2001). Herpes simplex viruses and their replication. In *Fields Virology*, 4th edn, pp. 2399-2459. Edited by D. M. Knipe & P. H. Howley: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

Roizman, B. & Pellett, P. E. (2001). The family *Herpesviridae*: a brief introduction. In *Fields Virology*, pp. 2381-2397. Edited by D. M. Knipe & P. H. Howley: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

Roller, R. J. & Roizman, B. (1992). The herpes simplex virus 1 RNA binding protein US11 is a virion component and associates with ribosomal 60S subunits. *J Virol* 66, 3624-32.

Rosato, F. E., Rosato, E. F. & Plotkin, S. A. (1970). Herpetic-paronychia--an occupational hazard of medical personnel. *N Engl J Med* **283**, 804-805.

Rouse, B. T. (1985). Immunobiology and prophylaxis of human herpesvirus infections. In *The herpesviruses*, pp. 103. Edited by B. Roizman & C. Lopez. New York: Plenum Press.

Sacks, W. R., Greene, C. C., Aschman, D. P. & Schaffer, P. A. (1985). Herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP27 is an essential regulatory protein. *J. Virol.* **55**, 796-805.

Sacks, W. R. & Schaffer, P. A. (1987). Deletion mutants in the gene encoding the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early protein ICP0 exhibit impaired growth in cell culture. *J. Virol.* **61**, 829-839.

Sakamoto, K. M. (2002). Ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis: its role in human diseases and the design of therapeutic strategies. *Molecular Genetics and Metabolism* **77**, 44-56.

Samaniego, L. A., Neiderhiser, L. & DeLuca, N. A. (1998). Persistence and expression of the herpes simplex virus genome in the absence of immediateearly proteins. *J. Virol.* **69**, 5705-5715.

Samaniego, L. A., Webb, A. L. & DeLuca, N. A. (1995). Functional interactions between herpes simplex virus immediate-early proteins during infection: gene expression as a consequence of ICP27 and different domains of ICP4. *J. Virol.* **69**, 5705-5715.

Samuel, C. E. (1979). Mechanism of interferon action. Phosphorylation of protein synthesis initiation factor eIF-2 in interferon-treated human cells by a ribosome-associated protein kinase possessing site-specificity similar to hemin-regulated rabbit reticulocyte kinase. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **76**, 600-604.

Samuel, C. E. (1993). The eIF-2 α protein kinases, regulators of translation in eukaryotes from yeasts to humans. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**, 7603-7606.

Samuel, C. E. (2001). Antiviral actions of interferons. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* 14, 778-809.

Sandri-Goldin, R. M. (1998). ICP27 mediates HSV RNA export by shuttling through a leucine-rich nuclear export signal and binding viral intronless RNAs through an RGG motif. *Genes Dev.* **12**, 868-879.

Sandri-Goldin, R. M. & Mendoza, G. E. (1992). A herpesvirus regulatory protein appears to act post-transcriptionally by affecting mRNA processing. *Genes Dev.* **6**, 848-863.

Sarmiento, M., Haffey, M. & Spear, P. G. (1979). Membrane proteins specified by herpes simplex viruses. III. Role of glycoprotein VP7(B2) in virion infectivity. *J. Virol.* **29**, 1149-58.

Sawtell, N. M. (1997). Comprehensive quantification of herpes simplex virus latency at the single-cell level. *J Virol.* **71**, 5423-5431.

Sawtell, N. M. (1998). The probability of in vivo reactivation of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency increases with the number of latently infected neurons in the ganglia. *J Virol.* **72**, 6888-6892.

Sawtell, N. M., Poon, D. K., Tansky, C. S. & Thompson, R. L. (1998). The latent herpes simplex virus type 1 genome copy number in individual neurons is virus strain specific and correlates with reactivation. *J Virol* **72**, 5343-5350.

Sawtell, N. M. & Thompson, R. L. (1992). Rapid in vivo reactivation of herpes simplex virus in latently infected murine ganglionic neurons after transient hyperthermia. *J. Virol.* **66**, 2150-2156.

Schindler, C. & Darnell, J. E. J. (1995). Transcriptional responses to polypeptide ligands: the JAK-STAT pathway. *Annu Rev Biochem* **64**, 621-51. Schwartz, D. C. & Hochstrasser, M. (2003). A superfamily of protein tags: ubiquitin, SUMO and related modifiers. *TRENDS in Biochemical Sciences* **28**, 321-328.

Sciabica, K. S., Dai, Q. J. & Sandri-Goldin, R. M. (2003). ICP27 interacts with SRPK1 to mediate HSV splicing inhibition by altering SR protein phosphorylation. *Embo J* **22**, 1608-19.

Sears, A. E., Halliburton, I. W., Meignier, B., Silver, S. & Roizman, B. (1985). Herpes simplex virus 1 mutant deleted in the alpha 22 gene: growth and gene expression in permissive and restrictive cells and establishment of latency in mice. J Virol. 55, 338-46. Seeler, J. S., Marchio, A., Sitterlin, D., Transby, C. & Dejean, A. (1998). Interaction of sp100 with HP1 proteins: A link between the promyelocytic leukemia-associated nuclear bodies and the chromatin compartment. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 7316-7321. Severini, A., Scraba, D. G. & Tyrrell, D. L. J. (1996). Branched structures in the intracellular DNA of herpes simplex virus type 1. J. Virol. 70, 3169-3175. Sharma, S., tenOever, B. R., Grandvaux, N., Zhou, G.-P., Lin, R. & Hiscott, J. (2003). Triggering the interferon antiviral response through an IKK-related pathway. Science 300, 1145-1151. Shieh, M.-T., WuDunn, D., Montgomery, R. I., Esko, J. D. & Spear, P. G. (1992). Cell surface receptors for herpes simplex virus are heparan sulfate proteoglycans. J. Cell Biol. 116, 1273-1281. Shukla, D., Liu, J., Blaiklock, P., Shworak, N. W., Bai, X., Esko, J. D., Cohen, G. H., Eisenberg, R. J., Rosenberg, R. D. & Spear, P. G. (1999). A novel role for 3-O-sulfated heparan sulfate in herpes simplex virus 1 entry. Cell 99, 13-22. Skepper, J. N., Whiteley, A., Browne, H. & Minson, A. (2001). Herpes simplex virus nucleocapsids mature to progeny virions by an envelopment --> deenvelopment --> reenvelopment pathway. J Virol. 75, 5697-5702. Skowyra, D., Craig, K. L., Tyers, M., Elledge, S. J. & Harper, J. W. (1997). F-box proteins are receptors that recruit phosphorylated substrates to the SCF ubiquitin-ligase complex. Cell 91, 209-19. Smith, J. S. & Robinson, N. J. (2002). Age-specific prevalence of infection with herpes simplex virus types 2 and 1: a global review. J Infect Dis. 186 Suppl 1, S3-28. Smith, R. L., Escudero, J. M. & Wilcox, C. L. (1994). Regulation of the herpes simplex virus latency-associated transcripts during establishment of latency in sensory neurons in vitro. Virology 202, 49-60. Sodeik, B., Ebersold, M. W. & Helenius, A. (1997). Microtuble-mediated transport of incoming herpes simplex virus 1 capsids to the nucleus. J. Cell Biol. 136, 1007-1021. Soliman, T. M., Sandri-Goldin, R. M. & Silverstein, S. J. (1997). Shuttling of the herpes simplex virus type 1 regulatory protein ICP27 between the nucleus and cytoplasm mediates the expression of late proteins. J. Virol. 71, 9188-9197. Soliman, T. M. & Silverstein, S. J. (2000). Herpesvirus mRNAs are sorted for

export via Crm1-dependent and -independent pathways. *J Virol* **7 4**, 2814-25. Sourvinos, G. & Everett, R. D. (2002). Visualization of parental HSV-1 genomes and replication compartments in association with ND10 in live infected cells. *EMBO J* **21**, 4989-4997.

Spector, D., Purves, F. & Roizman, B. (1991). Role of α -transinducing factor (VP16) in the induction of α genes within the context of viral genomes. *J. Virol.* **65**, 3504-3513.

Spencer, C. A., Dahmus, M. E. & Rice, S. A. (1997). Repression of host RNA polymerase II transcription by herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Virol.* **71**, 2031-2040.

Spivack, J. G. & Fraser, N. W. (1987). Detection of herpes simplex virus type 1 transcripts during latent infection in mice. *J. Virol.* **61**, 3841-3847.

Spivack, J. G. & Fraser, N. W. (1988). Expression of herpes simplex virus type 1 latency-associated transcripts in the trigeminal ganglia of mice during acute infection and reactivation of latent infection. *J. Virol.* **62**, 1479-1485.

Spruance, S. L., Overall, J. C. J. & Kern, E. R. (1977). The natural history of recurrent herpes simplex labialis--Implications for antiviral therapy. *N Engl J Med* **297**, 69-75.

Stannard, L. M., Fuller, A. O. & Spear, P. G. (1987). Herpes simples virus glycoproteins associated with different morphological entities projecting from the virion envelope. *J Gen Virol* **68**, 715-725.

Stark, G. R., Kerr, I. M., Williams, B. R. G., Silverman, R. H. & Schreiber, R. D. (1998). How cells respond to interferons. *Annual Review of Biochemistry* 67, 227-264.

Stelz, G., Rucker, E., Rosorius, O., Meyer, G., Stauber, R. H., Spatz, M., Eibl, M. M. & Hauber, J. (2002). Identification of two nuclear import signals in the alpha-gene product ICP22 of herpes simplex virus 1. *Virology* **295**, 360-70. Stern, S. & Herr, W. (1991). The herpes simplex virus trans-activator VP16 recognized the Oct-1 homeo domain: evidence for a homeo domain recognition subdomain. *Genes. Dev.* **5**, 2555-2566.

Sternsdorf, T., Grotzinger, T., Jensen, K. & Will, H. (1997a). Nuclear dots: Actors on many stages. *Immunobiology* **198**, 307-331.

Sternsdorf, T., Jensen, K. & Will, H. (1997b). Evidence for covalent modification of the nuclear dot-associated proteins PML and Sp100 by PIC1/SUMO-1. *J Cell Biol* **139**, 1621-1634.

Steven, A. C. & Spear, P. G. (1996). Herpesvirus capsid assembly and envelopment. In *Structural biology of viruses*, pp. 312-351. Edited by R. Burnett, W. Chiu & R. Garcea. New York: Oxford University Press.

Stevens, J. G. & Cook, M. L. (1971). Latent herpes simplex virus in spinal ganglia of mice. *Science* **173**, 843-845.

Stow, E. C. & Stow, N. D. (1989). Complementation of a herpes simplex virus type 1 Vmw110 deletion mutant by human cytomegalovirus. *J. Gen. Virol.* **70**, 695-704.

Stow, N. D. & Stow, E. C. (1986). Isolation and characterization of a herpes simplex virus type 1 mutant containing a deletion within the gene encoding the immediate early polypeptide Vmw110. *J. Gen. Virol.* **67**, 2571-2585.
Stringer, K. F., Ingles, C. J. & Greenblatt, J. (1990). Direct and selective binding of an acidic transcriptional activation domain to the TATA-box factor TFIID. *Nature* **345**, 783-786.

Subak-Sharpe, J. H. & Dargan, D. J. (1998). HSV molecular biology: general aspects of herpes simplex virus molecular biology. *Virus Genes* **16**, 239-251. Taddei, A., Maison, C., Roche, D. & Almouzni, G. (2001). Reversible disruption of pericentric heterochromatin and centromere function by inhibiting deacetylases. *Nature Cell Biol.* **3**, 114-120.

Tang, Q. & Maul, G. G. (2003). Mouse cytomegalovirus immediate-early protein 1 binds with host cell repressors to relieve suppressive effects on viral transcription and replication during lytic infection. *J Virol.* **77**, 1357-67. Taylor, J. L., Unverrich, D., O'Brien, W. J. & Wilcox, K. W. (2000). Interferon coordinately inhibits the disruption of PML-positive ND10 and immediate-early gene expression by herpes simplex virus. *J Interferon Cytokine Res* **20**, 805-815.

Taylor, T. J., Brockman, M. A., McNamee, E. E. & Knipe, D. M. (2002). Herpes Simplex Virus. *Frontiers in Bioscience* **7**, D752-764.

Thong, Y. H., Steele, R. W., Vincent, M. M., Hensen, S. A. & Bellanti, J. A. (1973). Impaired *in vitro* cell mediated immunity to rubella virus during pregnancy. *N Engl J Med* **289**, 604-606.

Tiwari, R. K., Kusari, J. & Sen, G. C. (1987). Functional equivalents of interferon-mediated signals needed for induction of an mRNA can be generated by double-stranded RNA and growth factors. *EMBO J* **6**, 3373-3378.

Toshchakov, V., Jones, B. W., Perera, P. Y., Thomas, K., Cody, M. J., Zhang, S., Williams, B. R., Major, J., Hamilton, T. A., Fenton, M. J. & Vogel, S. N. (2002). TLR4, but not TLR2, mediates IFN-beta-induced STAT1alpha/beta-dependent gene expression in macrophages. *Nat Immunol* **3**, 392-8.

Triezenberg, S. J., Kingsbury, R. C. & McKnight, S. L. (1988). Functional dissection of VP16, the trans-activator of herpes simplex virus immediate early gene expression. *Genes Dev.* **2**, 718-729.

Uprichard, S. L. & Knipe, D. M. (1996). Herpes simplex ICP27 mutant viruses exhibit reduced expression of specific DNA replication genes. *J. Virol.* **70**, 1969-1980.

Valyi-Nagy, T., Deshmane, S. L., Dillner, A. & Fraser, N. W. (1991). Induction of cellular transcription factors in trigeminal ganglia of mice by corneal scarification, herpes simplex virus type 1 infection, and explantation of trigeminal ganglia. *J Virol.* **65**, 4142-4152.

van den Broek, M. F., Muller, U., Huang, S., Aguet, M. & Zinkernagel, R. M. (1995). Antiviral defense in mice lacking both alpha/beta and gamma interferon receptors. *J Virol.* **69**, 4792-6.

Van der Blick, A. M. (1999). Functional diversity in the dynamin family. *Trends Cell Biol.* **3**, 96-102.

Van Sant, C., Hagglund, R., Lopez, P. & Roizman, B. (2001a). The infected cell protein 0 of herpes simplex virus 1 dynamically interacts with proteasomes,

References

binds and activates the cdc34 E2 ubiquitin-conjugating enzyme, and possesses *in vitro* E3 ubiquitin ligase activity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **98**, 8815-20. Van Sant, C., Kawaguchi, Y. & Roizman, B. (1999). A single amino acid substitution in the cyclin D binding domain of the infected cell protein no. 0 abrogates the neuroinvasiveness of herpes simplex virus without affecting its ability to replicate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* **96**, 8184-8189. Van Sant, C., Lopez, P., Advani, S. J. & Roizman, B. (2001b). Role of cyclin D3

in the biology of herpes simplex virus 1 ICP0. *J Virol.* **75**, 1888-1898. van Steensel, B., Delrow, J. & Henikoff, S. (2001). Chromatin profiling using targeted DNA adenine methyltransferase. *Nature genetics* **27**, 304-308. van Steensel, B. & Henikoff, S. (2000). Identification of in vivo DNA targets of chromatin proteins using tethered Dam methyltransferase. *Nature*

Biotechnology **18**, 424-428.

Varmuza, S. L. & Smiley, J. R. (1985). Signals for site-specific cleavage of HSV DNA: maturation involves two separate cleavages events at sites distal to the recognition sequences. *Cell* **41**, 793-802.

Wadd, S., Bryant, H., Filhol, O., Scott, J. E., Hsieh, T. Y., Everett, R. D. & Clements, J. B. (1999). The multifunctional herpes simplex virus IE63 protein interacts with heterogeneous ribonucleoprotein K and with casein kinase 2. *J Biol Chem* **274**, 28991-8.

Wadsworth, S., Jacob, R. J. & Roizman, B. (1975). Anatomy of herpes simplex virus DNA. II. Size, composition, and arrangement of inverted terminal repetitions. *J Virol.* **15**, 1487-1497.

Wagner, E. K. & Bloom, D. C. (1997). Experimental investigation of herpes simplex virus latency. *Clin. Microbiol. Rev.* **10**, 419-443.

Wald, A., Zeh, J., Selke, S. & al., e. (2000). Reactivation of genital herpes simplex virus type 2 infection in asyptomatic seropositive persons. *N Engl J Med* **342**, 844-850.

Warner, M. S., Geraghty, R. J., Martinez, W. M., Montgomery, R. I., Whitbeck, J. C., Xu, R., Eisenberg, R. J., Cohen, G. H. & Spear, P. G. (1998). A cell surface protein with herpesvirus entry activity (HveB) confers susceptibility to infection by mutants of herpes simplex virus type 1, herpes simplex virus type 2, and pseudorabies virus. *Virology* **246**, 179-89.

Watson, R. J. & Clements, J. B. (1980). A herpes simplex virus type 1 function continuously required for early and late virus RNA synthesis. *Nature* **285**, 329-330.

Weinheimer, S. P., Boyd, B. A., Durham, S. K., Resnick, J. L. & O'Boyle, D. R. (1992). Deletion of the VP16 open reading frame of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J. Virol.* **66**, 258-69.

Whiteley, A., Bruun, B., Minson, T. & Browne, H. (1999). Effects of targeting herpes simplex virus type 1 gD to the endoplasmic reticulum and trans-Golgi network. *J Virol.* **73**, 9515-9520.

Whitley, R. J. (2001). Herpes simplex viruses. In *Fields Virology*, pp. 2461-2509. Edited by D. M. Knipe & P. H. Howley: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

167

- References

Wilcox, C. L. & Johnson, E. M. (1988). Characterization of nerve growth factordependent herpes simplex virus latency in neurons *in vitro*. *J Virol*. **62**, 393-399.

Wilcox, C. L. & Johnson, E. M. J. (1987). Nerve growth factor deprivation results in the reactivation of latent herpes simplex virus *in vitro*. *J Virol*. **61**, 2311-2315.

Wildly, P. (1973). Herpes: History and classification. In *The herpesviruses*. Edited by A. S. Kaplan. New York: Academic Press.

Wilkinson, K. D. (1995). Roles of ubiquitination in proteolysis and cellular regulation. *Ann Rev Nutr* **15**, 161-189.

Wu, T. T., Su, Y. H., Block, T. M. & Taylor, J. M. (1996). Evidence that two latency-associated transcripts of herpes simplex virus type 1 are nonlinear. *J. Virol.* **70**, 5962-5967.

Wu, W. S., Vallian, S., Seto, E., Yang, W. M., Edmondson, D., Roth, S. & Chang, K. S. (2001). The growth suppressor PML represses transcription by functionally and physically interacting with histone deacetylases. *Mol Cell Biol.* 21, 2259-68.

Xiao, P. & Capone, J. P. (1990). A cellular factor binds to the herpes simplex virus type 1 transactivator Vmw65 and is required for Vmw65-dependent protein-DNA complex assembly with Oct-1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **10**, 4974-4977. Yao, F. & Schaffer, P. (1994). Physical interaction between the herpes simplex virus type 1 immediate-early regulatory proteins ICP0 and ICP4. *J. Virol.* **68**, 8158-8168.

Yao, F. & Schaffer, P. A. (1995). An activity specified by the osteosarcoma line U2OS can substitute functionally for ICP0, a major regulatory protein of herpes simplex virus type 1. *J Virol.* **69**, 6249-58.

York, I., Roop, C., Andrews, D. W., Riddel, S. R., Graham, F. L. & Johnson, D. C. (1994). A cytosolic herpes simplex virus protein inhibits antigen presentation

to CD8⁻ T lymphocytes. *Cell* **77**, 525-535.

Yoshida, M., Kijima, M., Akita, M. & Beppu, T. (1990). Potent and specific inhibition of mammalian histone deacetylase both in vivo and in vitro by trichostatin A. J. Biol. Chem. 265, 17174-17179.

Zhang, Y. & Jones, C. (2001). The bovine herpesvirus 1 immediate-early protein (bICP0) associates with histone deacetylase 1 to activate transcription. *J Virol* **75**, 9571-8.

Zhong, S., Muller, S., Ronchetti, S., Freemont, P. S., Dejean, A. & Pandolfi, P. P. (2000). Role of SUMO-1-modified PML in nuclear body formation. *Blood* **95**, 2748-2752.

Zhou, C. & Knipe, D. M. (2002). Association of herpes simplex virus type 1 ICP8 and ICP27 proteins with cellular RNA polymerase II holoenzyme. *J Virol* **76**, 5893-904.